Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: November 6, 2013 ACCEPTED: May 3, 2014 PUBLISHED: June 3, 2014

# Topological strings and 5d $T_N$ partition functions

Hirotaka Hayashi,<sup>*a,d*</sup> Hee-Cheol Kim<sup>*b,d*</sup> and Takahiro Nishinaka<sup>*c*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Instituto de Física Teórica UAM/CSIS, Cantoblanco, 28049 Madrid, Spain
<sup>b</sup> Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics, Waterloo, Ontario, N2L 2Y5, Canada
<sup>c</sup> NHETC and Department of Physics and Astronomy, Rutgers University, Piscataway, NJ 08854, U.S.A.
<sup>d</sup> School of Physics, Korea Institute for Advanced Study, Seoul 130-722, Korea

*E-mail:* h.hayashi@csic.es, hkim@perimeterinstitute.ca, nishinaka@physics.rutgers.edu

ABSTRACT: We evaluate the Nekrasov partition function of 5d gauge theories engineered by webs of 5-branes, using the refined topological vertex on the dual Calabi-Yau threefolds. The theories include certain non-Lagrangian theories such as the  $T_N$  theory. The refined topological vertex computation generically contains contributions from decoupled M2-branes which are not charged under the 5d gauge symmetry engineered. We argue that, after eliminating them, the refined topological string partition function agrees with the 5d Nekrasov partition function. We explicitly check this for the  $T_3$  theory as well as Sp(1) gauge theories with  $N_f = 2, 3, 4$  flavors. In particular, our method leads to a new expression of the Sp(1) Nekrasov partition functions without any contour integrals. We also develop prescriptions to calculate the partition functions of theories obtained by Higgsing the  $T_N$  theory. We compute the partition function of the  $E_7$  theory via this prescription, and find the  $E_7$  global symmetry enhancement. We finally discuss a potential application of the refined topological vertex to non-toric web diagrams.

KEYWORDS: Supersymmetric gauge theory, Field Theories in Higher Dimensions, Topological Strings, Duality in Gauge Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1310.3854



# Contents

1	Introduction	2
<b>2</b>	Five-dimensional theories from M-theory	4
	2.1 SU(2) gauge theories with $N_f$ flavors	5
	2.2 $T_N$ theories	7
3	Topological strings and extra $U(1)$ factors	11
	3.1 Topological string amplitude	11
	3.2 Comparison to Nekrasov partition function	12
	3.3 Five-dimensional U(1)-factor from geometry	13
	3.4 Refined topological string	15
4	${ m Sp}(1)$ Nekrasov partition functions from topological string	18
	4.1 Refined topological vertex computation	18
	4.1.1 Local $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ with $2 \le N_f \le 4$ blow ups	18
	4.1.2 $(p,q)$ webs of $T_{N=2,3,4}$ theories	24
	4.2 $U(1)$ factors	30
	4.3 $Sp(1)$ Nekrasov partition functions	32
	4.3.1 $N_f = 2, 3, 4$	33
	4.3.2 $N_f = 5 \text{ from } T_3$	35
<b>5</b>	The 5d partition function of $T_N$ theory	37
6	Low energy partition functions on Higgs vacua	41
	6.1 Free theory from $T_3$ theory	43
	6.2 $E_7$ theory from $T_4$ theory	46
	6.3 Direct computation from web diagrams	50
7	Conclusion	53
$\mathbf{A}$	Instanton partition function	54
в	The topological string partition function on $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N  imes \mathbb{Z}_N)$	55
$\mathbf{C}$	${ m SU}(N)$ gauge theory with $N_f=2N$ flavors	59

#### 1 Introduction

 $\mathcal{N}=2$  supersymmetric gauge theories in four dimensions are particularly of interest since they exhibit interesting non-perturbative effects but still we can obtain their exact results. The low energy prepotentials were exactly determined in [1, 2] for SU(2) gauge theories with  $N_f \leq 4$  flavors, and the computation was generalized to SU(N) gauge theories with  $N_f \leq 2N$  flavors in [3–6]. The Seiberg-Witten formulation was further extended to class  $\mathcal{S}$ theories in [7] which include non-Lagrangian theories like so-called  $T_N$  theory. The exact prepotentials of SU(N) gauge theories were also determined by a microscopic approach in [8, 9] where exact instanton partition functions were directly evaluated by a localization technique. Note that the localization method is not applicable to theories which do not have Lagrangian descriptions.

The computation of the SU(N) instanton partition function usually involves the resolution of small instanton singularities in the instanton moduli space (see, for example, [10] for a review). The resolution introduces a non-commutative parameter in the ADHM equations,<sup>1</sup> and then we also have a U(1) instanton solution from the deformed equations [11]. Therefore, the resulting partition function is in fact the U(N) instanton partition function rather than the SU(N) instanton partition function. In fact, the SU(N) instanton partition function has not been known except for N=2. Even in the known case of SU(2)  $\cong$  Sp(1), the Nekrasov partition function involves complicated contour integrals, [12–14] which makes the computation technically difficult in particular for  $N_f = 6, 7$  [14].

The difference between the U(N) and SU(N) instanton partition functions is in fact important, for example, for the AGT correspondence originally proposed in [15]. The correspondence can be only seen after eliminating an extra factor, which realizes a correct flavor symmetry of an SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 4$  flavors. Another important example is the generation of the  $E_n$ -type flavor symmetry in the five-dimensional superconformal index [14, 16]. It is crucial to use the five-dimensional Sp(1) instanton partition function<sup>2</sup> in order to achieve the enhancement of the  $E_n$ -type global symmetry. Therefore, a systematic study of the difference between the U(N) and SU(N) instanton partition functions is clearly important for further applications.

String theory provides another way to get the Nekrasov partition functions, namely by using the topological vertex [17, 18] or its refinement [19, 20]. All genus amplitudes of topological string turn out to yield the five-dimensional Nekrasov partition functions due to the fact that five-dimensional gauge theories with eight supercharges may be geometrically engineered by M-theory compactifications on non-compact toric Calabi-Yau threefolds [21– 26]. In this case also, the (refined) topological vertex reproduces the U(N) instanton partition function [27–31] instead of the SU(N) instanton partition function although the low energy effective field theory is expected to yield an SU(N) gauge theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This can be interpreted as introducing a Fayet-Illiopoulos parameter in the D-term equation on D0branes in the D0-D4-brane system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>It is also important to use the correct dual gauge group O(k) instead of SO(k) for the k-instanton moduli space.

To understand the relation between U(N) and SU(N) partition functions, let us recall that the five-dimensional Nekrasov partition function is written as a trace over the space of BPS states. The 5d BPS states include W-bosons, massive hypermultiplets and instantons. In the geometric engineering, they are M2-branes wrapping compact two-cycles of the Calabi-Yau threefold. However, in general, the BPS spectrum contains M2-branes which are not charged under the SU(N) gauge symmetry engineered. They are only charged under decoupled U(1) gauge symmetries, but still contribute to the topological string amplitudes.<sup>3</sup> Now we expect that, by eliminating contributions from such decoupled M2-branes, we obtain the SU(N) partition function from the (refined) topological string amplitude. We explicitly check this for  $SU(2) \cong Sp(1)$  gauge group with  $N_f \leq 4$  flavors. Two-cycles which support decoupled M2-branes are easily identified in the toric web diagram of the Calabi-Yau threefold. The contribution from decoupled M2-branes is always a *prefactor* of the topological string partition function, which we call the "U(1)-factor." Therefore we argue that the U(N) and SU(N) partition functions are related just by multiplying/dividing the U(1)-factor. This particularly gives a closed formula for the five-dimensional Sp(1) instanton partition function which does not involve any integration. Although it would be hard to infer such a contribution from the view point of field theory in particular in four-dimensions, the web diagram naturally implies the decoupled factor in the instanton partition function.

An important application of our method is the computation of exact partition functions of certain non-Lagrangian theories. It has been known that the web diagram can realize not only conventional gauge theories but also non-Lagrangian theories such as a five-dimensional version of  $T_N$  theory [32]. Since  $T_N$  theory is an isolated superconformal field theory and does not have a Lagrangian description, we cannot obtain its exact partition function by the localization technique used in [8, 9]. However, there is no obstruction to use the refined topological vertex for the web diagram of  $T_N$  theory. By eliminating a U(1) factor for the  $T_N$  diagram, we obtain the exact partition function of the five-dimensional  $T_N$  theory. In particular, we will confirm that the partition function of  $T_3$  theory becomes the Sp(1) Nekrasov partition function with  $N_f = 5$  flavors as expected. This example is particularly interesting since it exhibits an enhanced  $E_6$  global symmetry at a special point in the moduli space [33].

One of the limitation of the refined topological vertex computation is that we cannot apply the technique to a non-toric variety.<sup>4</sup> For example, an SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 6$  flavors, which will realize an  $E_7$  global symmetry at a special point in the moduli space, is geometrically engineered by a non-compact Calabi-Yau threefold whose base is a  $dP_7$  surface, which is not toric [22, 23]. However, it has been also pointed out that the  $E_7$ theory may be realized by an infrared description in a Higgs branch vacuum of  $T_4$  theory [32] which is described by a web diagram which does not admit its dual toric fan. Motivated by this, we also develop prescriptions to evaluate partition functions of theories which are low energy descriptions of some Higgs branch vacua of the theories arising from non-toric

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The instanton in a five-dimensional gauge theory also carries a gauge charge due to a coupling between a current whose conserved charge is the instanton number and a dynamical gauge field.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>A vertex formalism for unrefined topological string partition functions which can be applied to local non-toric del Pezzo surfaces has been discussed in [34, 35].

web diagrams. The web diagram is powerful enough to visualize the Higgs branch, and it suggests a correct root of the Higgs branch. As for its consistency check, we compute the five-dimensional superconformal index of the  $E_7$  theory and show the  $E_7$  enhancement. Therefore, our approach can also evaluate partition functions of the theories arising from non-toric web diagrams. Putting this together, our technique can be applied to the computation of partition functions of theories from any web diagrams constructed in [32].

The organization of the paper is as follow. In section 2, we review how a certain class of gauge theories can be geometrically engineered by non-compact toric Calabi-Yau threefolds or their dual web diagrams. This includes non-Lagrangian theories such as  $T_N$ theory. We then describe how to compute the partition function of the theories by using the refined topological vertex in section 3. We point out that the refined topological vertex computation necessarily contains contributions from decoupled M2-branes which needs to be subtracted. In section 4, we explicitly compute partition functions of various examples such as SU(2) gauge theories with  $N_f = 2, 3, 4$  flavors as well as  $T_{N=2,3,4}$  theories. We then verify that we get the correct SU(2) partition functions after dividing by what we call U(1) factors. In section 5, we generalize our method to  $T_N$  theory and propose the five-dimensional partition function of  $T_N$  theory. Some technical details are relegated to appendices. We also comment on the SU(N) partition function with  $N_f = 2N$  flavors in appendix C. In section 6, we move on to the computation of the low energy partition functions in a Higgs vacuum of the  $T_N$  theories. It is known that the Higgs branch vacuum expectation value leads to different class  $\mathcal{S}$  theories in the far infrared. Although the corresponding web diagrams are no longer toric, we develop a method to compute such partition functions, and carry out non-trivial consistency checks.

**Note added.** We here note that the results in sections 4 and 5 have some overlap with [36] which appeared in arXiv on the same day.

#### 2 Five-dimensional theories from M-theory

Five-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories with eight supercharges can be obtained from M-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau threefolds  $\tilde{X}$  [21–26]. An *ADE* singularity fibered over a curve *B* inside  $\tilde{X}$  yields an *ADE* gauge group *G* in the five-dimensional low energy effective field theories. The genus of the curve *B* is related to the number of the adjoint hypermultiplets. We always consider  $B = \mathbb{P}_b^1$  so that there is no adjoint hypermultiplet. The massless hypermultiplets in some representation under the *ADE* gauge group are introduced when there are some singularity enhancement loci on *B*. The enhanced singularity type characterizes the representation of the hypermultiplets [37, 38].

After the resolution of the ADE singularity over B, the non-Abelian gauge theories will be in their Coulomb branch. Therefore, the resolution parameters associated with resolved divisors  $D_i$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, \operatorname{rank}(G)$  for the ADE singularity are related to the vevs  $a_i$  of the scalars in the vector multiplets. The resolution over B may also resolve the enhanced singularities, which generates the Coulomb branch dependent mass terms for the hypermultiplets. One may also introduce a blow up divisor H for resolving the enhanced singularity, maintaining the Calabi-Yau condition, which, on the other hand, corresponds to generating the classical mass term m for the hypermultiplets. The resolution of the singularities is not generically unique and different resolutions correspond to different phases of the five-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories [22, 25].

In five-dimensional gauge theories, there is in fact a peculiar global U(1) symmetry. One can consider a current

$$j = *(F \wedge F), \tag{2.1}$$

which is always conserved. The expression (2.1) implies that its charge is the instanton number. The mass parameter associated to the instanton flavor symmetry is related to the gauge coupling as  $\frac{1}{g^2}$ , which has dimension one in five-dimensional gauge theories. This global symmetry also plays an important role in five-dimensional gauge theories.

#### 2.1 SU(2) gauge theories with $N_f$ flavors

Let us consider five-dimensional SU(2) gauge theories with  $N_f$  hypermultiplets in the fundamental representation. When  $N_f < 8$ , the metric of the Coulomb branch moduli space is always positive. Hence, we may consider a strong coupling limit where  $\frac{1}{g^2} = 0$  of the theories. Then, the theories are supposed to be at a non-trivial fixed point with an enhanced global symmetry [33]. For a finite gauge coupling, we have a global symmetry  $SO(2N_f) \times U(1)$  where the Cartans of  $SO(2N_f)$  are associated with the mass parameters of the fundamental hypermultiplets. The other U(1) is the instanton flavor symmetry (2.1) and it is associated with the gauge coupling  $\frac{1}{g^2}$ . At the fixed point, this global symmetry is enhanced to  $E_{N_{f+1}}$ -type.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, this type of five-dimensional gauge theories is of particular interest and we will focus on  $N_f < 8$  hereafter.

Such a five-dimensional gauge theory can be realized when one considers an M-theory compactification on a Calabi-Yau threefold  $\tilde{X}_{N_f}$  with an  $A_1$  singularity over a  $\mathbb{P}_b^1$ . At  $N_f$  points in  $\mathbb{P}_b^1$ , the  $A_1$  singularity is enhanced to  $A_2$  singularities, which amounts to introducing the  $N_f$  fundamental hypermultiplets. As a resolution of such a Calabi-Yau threefold, we may consider a Calabi-Yau threefold which has a compact divisor  $D = \mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^{16}$  with  $N_f$  points blown up. The infinite coupling limit corresponds to the case where the entire D collapses [22, 23]. In fact, the geometry implies why the global symmetry may be enhanced to the  $E_{N_f+1}$ -type. The enhancement may come from the fact that the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^1$  at  $N_f$  points  $(1 \le N_f \le 7)$  is isomorphic to the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^2$  at  $N_f + 1$  points  $(2 \le N_f + 1 \le 8)$ . From the latter point of view, the Weyl group of  $E_{N_{f+1}}$  acts on the curves in  $H^{1,1}(D)$ , and the  $E_{N_{f+1}}$  group appears in a natural way.

Since we are interested in the field theory limit, we will always decouple gravity by considering a non-compact Calabi-Yau threefold X [24, 39]. Then, such a Calabi-Yau threefold X can be in general constructed by a line bundle  $\mathcal{O}(K_D)$  fibered over a compact surface D, where  $K_D$  denotes the canonical divisor of D. For SU(2) gauge theories with  $N_f$  flavors, D

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{{}^{5}\text{For }N_{f}+1 \leq 5, E_{N_{f}+1} \text{ is defined }E_{5}} = \text{Spin}(10), E_{4} = \text{SU}(5), E_{3} = \text{SU}(3) \times \text{SU}(2), E_{2} = \text{SU}(2) \times \text{U}(1), E_{1} = \text{SU}(2).$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In general, we may consider a compact divisor where  $\mathbb{P}_{f}^{1}$  is non-trivially fibered over  $\mathbb{P}_{b}^{1}$ . In the case of SU(N) gauge theories, the non-trivial fibration is related to non-zero five-dimensional Chern-Simons couplings [25, 28].



Figure 1. The black solid lines represent the toric fan on the two-dimensional hyperplane for a local  $\mathbb{P}_{f}^{1} \times \mathbb{P}_{b}^{1}$ . The red dotted lines denote the dual diagram which can be viewed as a (p, q) 5-brane web in type IIB string theory.



Figure 2. The toric fans on the two-dimensional hyperplane for toric Calabi-Yau threefolds whose bases are the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^1_f \times \mathbb{P}^1_b$  at  $(a) : N_f = 1, (b) : N_f = 2, (c) : N_f = 3, (d) : N_f = 4$  points.  $H_i, i = 1, 2, 3, 4$  are the blow up divisors. We chose a particular triangulation which will be used in the later computation of the partition functions. M2-branes wrapping  $\beta_{\nu_i}$  give fundamental hypermultiplets.

is the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^1$  at  $N_f$  points. In particular, when  $N_f \leq 4$ , the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^1$  at  $N_f$  points can be described by toric varieties. Since the dimension of the total space is three, the dimension of the corresponding toric fan is also three. However, due to the Calabi-Yau condition, all vectors of the toric fan lie on a two-dimensional hyperplane. Therefore, one can describe the toric fan of a toric Calabi-Yau threefold as a two-dimensional toric fan which is related to a fan of the compact base D. We illustrate the pictures of the toric fans of a toric Calabi-Yau threefold with  $D = \mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^1$  and also the cases when D is the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^1$  at  $1 \leq N_f \leq 4$  points on the two-dimensional hyperplane in figure 1, 2 respectively.

The black solid lines of figure 1 denote a two-dimensional slice of a three-dimensional polyhedral toric fan for the toric Calabi-Yau manifold. A one-dimensional cone denotes a divisor which becomes a point in the two-dimensional toric fan. There is only one compact divisor  $D = \mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^1$  which corresponds to an interior point. The other points represent non-compact divisors. A two-dimensional face generated by two one-dimensional cones corresponds to a curve as an intersection between the two divisors. Then, the curves corre-

spond to the internal lines on the two-dimensional hyperplane. We denote compact curves by  $\beta_{\nu_i}$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, 4$ . We choose  $\beta_{\nu_3}$  and  $\beta_{\nu_4}$  as the fiber  $\mathbb{P}^1_f$ , and  $\beta_{\nu_1}$  and  $\beta_{\nu_2}$  as the base  $\mathbb{P}^1_b$ .

The parameters and the Coulomb branch moduli of the five-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories are associated with the parameters of the geometry. Since we will use the toric Calabi-Yau threefolds  $X_{N_f}$ , we consider the Kähler parameters of the manifolds. We have  $N_f + 2$  divisors,  $H_0, D, H_i, i = 1, \dots, N_f$  where  $D = \mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_b^1$  and the other divisors are non-compact. The Kähler form may be expanded by the divisors, and the expansion parameters of compact divisors become moduli and the expansion parameters of non-compact divisors become parameters in the five-dimensional effective field theory.  $H_0$  is defined as a divisor which yields  $H_0 \cdot D = \mathbb{P}_f^1$ . In other words, its dual two-cycle is the base  $\mathbb{P}_b^1$ . Hence, the expansion parameter  $t_b$  of the divisor  $H_0$  is related to the classical gauge coupling  $\frac{1}{g_{clasical}^2}$ of the five-dimensional gauge theory. Then, the Kähler form can be parameterized by

$$J = t_b H_0 + aD + m_i H_i \,, \tag{2.2}$$

where a is the Coulomb branch parameter of the SU(2) and  $m_i$  is the classical mass parameter for the fundamental hypermultiplets. Therefore, the volume of a compact curve  $\beta$  inside  $X_{N_f}$  can be measured by

$$\int_{\beta} J = t_b(H_0 \cdot \beta) + a(D \cdot \beta) + m_i(H_i \cdot \beta).$$
(2.3)

Since M2-branes wrapping the curves  $\beta$  represent BPS particles in the five-dimensional gauge theory, the volume of the curves is related to the charges of the particles.

#### 2.2 $T_N$ theories

So far we have seen that M-theory compactifications on the particular types of non-compact Calabi-Yau manifolds realize supersymmetric five-dimensional gauge theories. In fact, there is a different way to see how the five-dimensional gauge theories are generated when the non-compact Calabi-Yau manifolds are toric varieties. This can be seen when one moves to a dual diagram of the toric fan. The dual diagram of a toric variety for a local  $\mathbb{P}_f^1 \times \mathbb{P}_f^1$ which is projected onto a two-dimensional hyperplane is depicted by the red dotted lines in figure 1. On the hyperplane, the two-dimensional faces are replaced with dots, and the onedimensional lines become the perpendicular lines. This diagram represents the degeneration of  $T^2$  on the two-dimensional space. One of the two one-cycles shrinks along the red dotted lines, and the whole  $T^2$  shrinks at the points on the two-dimensional hyperplane.

In fact, there is a corresponding physical picture for the dual toric diagram. Namely, the red dotted lines in figure 1 give a web of (p, q) 5-branes in type IIB string theory [40, 41]. Let us first start from type IIB string theory on  $S^1$ . We also assume that there are a D5brane and an NS5-brane which do not extend along the  $S^1$  direction. When one performs a T-duality along the  $S^1$ , the D5-brane becomes a wrapped D6-brane and an NS5-brane becomes a Kaluza-Klein monopole in type IIA string theory. The Kaluza-Klein monopole is located where the T-dualized  $S^1$  shrinks. When one promotes this setup to M-theory, both become Taub-NUT manifolds. The location of the Taub-NUT manifold coming from



**Figure 3**. The red dotted lines represent a web of (p,q) 5-branes for  $T_3$  theory. The black solid lines stand for the corresponding toric fan of a particular triangulation.

the wrapped D6-brane in type IIA string theory is then determined by the location where the M-theory  $S^1$  shrinks. Therefore the locations of the two Taub-NUT manifolds are specified by different  $S^1$ 's shrink. Namely, the degeneration of two one-cycles in  $T^2$  in M-theory represent the locations of the D5-brane and the NS5-brane respectively. One can also consider a situation where (p,q) one-cycle shrinks and this yields a (p,q) 5-brane which is a bound state of a D5-brane and NS5-brane. The degeneration of the  $T^2$  may be realized by the degeneration of  $T^2$  on the two-dimensional hyperplane in the dual toric diagram. Therefore, the dual toric diagram represents a web diagram of (p,q) 5-branes.

When one views a toric diagram from a web of (p,q) 5-branes, toric Calabi-Yau threefolds may yield interesting non-Lagrangian theories. For example, so-called  $T_N$  theory has been constructed from a web of (p,q) 5-brane in [32].  $T_N$  theory has been originally constructed in [7] by a compactification of M5-branes on a sphere with which three bunches of N semi-infinite M5-branes intersect. Such a configuration gives rise to a four-dimensional superconformal field theory with at least  $SU(N)^3$  flavor symmetry associated with the three bunches of the N semi-infinite M5-branes. Furthermore, the theory has no marginal coupling as three points on a sphere have no moduli. Hence,  $T_N$  theory represents an isolated SCFT.

Ref. [32] has proposed that a five-dimensional version of  $T_N$  theory can be realized by a web where N D5-branes, N NS5-branes and N (1,1) 5-branes meet together. An  $S^1$ compactification of the five-dimensional  $T_N$  theory realizes the original  $T_N$  theory in [7]. An example of a web for  $T_3$  theory is depicted in figure 3. From the toric point of view, the web diagram can be seen as the blow up of  $\mathbb{C}^3/\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ . In fact, the number of the Coulomb branch moduli and the number of the Higgs branch moduli, which can be read off from the web diagram, completely agree with those of  $T_N$  theory.

The dimension of the Coulomb branch moduli space can be computed by the number of local deformation of the web diagram which does not change the locations of the semiinfinite 5-branes, which turns out to be equal to the number of closed faces in the web



Figure 4. The deformation of pieces of 5-branes between 7-branes. One black solid line represents a 5-brane and one  $\otimes$  represents a 7-brane. The dotted line stands for the direction where 7-branes extend but the 5-brane does not extend.

diagram

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{Coulomb}}) = \frac{(N-1)(N-2)}{2}.$$
(2.4)

On the other hand, the Higgs branch of the  $T_N$  theory may be understood when we terminate the semi-infinite 5-branes on 7-branes which are points in the two-dimensional hyperplane and share the Minkowski five-dimensional space. Then, a global symmetry can be realized as a symmetry on the 7-branes. In general a (p,q) 5-brane can end on a orthogonal (p,q) 7-brane without breaking supersymmetry. Hence we terminate one 7-brane at each end of the semi-infinite 5-branes. When k 7-branes are attached to the parallel k semi-infinite 5-branes at a point on the two-dimensional hyperplane, we have an SU(k) global symmetry. The maximal Higgs branch can be seen when all parallel 5-branes are coincident. Then we have N separate simple junctions, which yields an N dimensional Higgs branch. When all the parallel 5-branes are overlapped, one can also strip off pieces of some of the 5-branes between the 7-branes into the direction where the 7-branes extend as in figure 4. In this case, some of the 7-branes are separated from the web diagram on the two-dimensional hyperplane and the global symmetry gets reduced. Therefore, the deformation of the piece of the 5-branes also contributes to the Higgs branch. In general, we can consider a situation where several 5-branes are put on the same 7-brane. Let  $k_i$ 5-branes be on a 7-brane where  $\sum_{i=1}^{J} k_i = N$ , and  $k_1 \ge k_2 \ge \cdots \ge k_J$ . We denote such a configuration by  $\{k_1, \dots, k_J\}$ . The number of the deformation of the pieces of the 5-branes in the configuration can be counted by [32]

$$\dim_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{Higgs}}^{\{k_1,\cdots,k_J\}}) = \sum_{i=1}^{J} (i-1)k_i = -N + \sum_{i=1}^{J} ik_i.$$
(2.5)

When each of the N parallel 5-branes is put on a 7-brane, the contribution becomes

$$\dim_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{Higgs}}^{\{1^N\}}) = -N + \sum_{i=1}^{N} i = \frac{1}{2}N(N-1).$$
(2.6)



**Figure 5.** The toric fan of  $T_3$  under a particular triangulation. On the two-dimensional hyperplane, the original toric fan can be thought as a two-dimensional toric fan for the base manifold D. Then, the two-dimensional toric fan stands for the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  at five points. The five blow up divisors are depicted by five blue dashed arrows.

Therefore, putting these two contributions together and subtracting the overall center of mass motion, the dimension of the Higgs branch of  $T_N$  theory is

$$\dim_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{Higgs}}) = N - 1 + \frac{3}{2}N(N - 1) = \frac{3N^2 - N - 2}{2}.$$
 (2.7)

Note that, when some 5-branes are put on one 7-brane, we need to take care of the generalized s-rule in [32] in order to preserve the supersymmetry, which is an application of the original s-rule of [42] to a web of (p,q) 5-brane. In fact, there is a case where one 5-brane needs to jump over other 5-brane. Then, the diagram does not remain toric and becomes a so-called dot diagram by including a new white dot in the toric diagram. The white dot represents that the 5-branes on both sides of the white dot are on the same 7-brane. Furthermore, the s-rule in fact can propagate inside the web diagram due the property of a junction, and then a white dot can be an interior point.

Let us look at  $T_3$  theory more closely.  $T_3$  theory has at least SU(3)<sup>3</sup> global symmetries and the dimensions of the moduli spaces are dim<sub> $\mathbb{C}$ </sub>( $\mathcal{M}_{\text{Coulomb}}$ ) = 1 and dim<sub> $\mathbb{H}$ </sub>( $\mathcal{M}_{\text{Higgs}}$ ) = 11 from (2.4) and (2.7). In a particular triangulation of the toric fan, the toric diagram on the two-dimensional hyperplane can be seen as  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  with 5 points blown up as in figure 5. The M-theory compactification on the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  at 5 points gives rise to an SU(2) gauge theory with five fundamental hypermultiplets as discussed in section 2.1. Since this theory yields the  $E_6$  global symmetry at the fixed point,  $T_3$  theory is also supposed to exhibit an enhanced  $E_6$  global symmetry. Indeed, the quaternionic dimension of the Higgs branch of  $T_3$  theory agrees with the quaternionic dimension of the one-instanton moduli space of  $E_6$ .

It has been also suggested that a theory realized as a vacuum in a Higgs branch of  $T_4$  theory generates an  $E_7$  global symmetry [32]. When we put the two 5-branes and the other two 5-branes from one bunch of the four parallel 5-branes on two 7-branes as in figure 6, then the global symmetry reduces to  $SU(4)^2 \times SU(2)$ . In this case, the dimension of the Coulomb branch moduli space is dim<sub>C</sub>( $\mathcal{M}_{Coulomb}$ ) = 1 as there is only on interior point in



**Figure 6.** The dot diagram (left) and the web diagram (right) of the  $E_7$  theory.  $\otimes$  in the right figure again represents a 7-brane.

the left figure of figure 6. As for the dimension of the Higgs branch, the contribution from the 5-branes in the left part of the web diagram in the right figure of figure 6 is

$$\dim_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{Higgs}}^{\{2,2\}}) = -4 + \sum_{i=1}^{2} 2i = 2, \qquad (2.8)$$

from (2.5). The contributions from the other two bunches of the parallel 5-branes are 6+6=12. Hence, the total quaternionic dimension of the Higgs branch is  $\dim_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{Higgs}}) = 4-1+2+6+6=17$ . The quaternionic dimension of the Higgs branch then agrees with the quaternionic dimension of the one-instanton moduli space of  $E_7$ . Now the diagram is no longer toric and we need to introduce white dots in the dot diagram as in figure 6.

# 3 Topological strings and extra U(1) factors

As discussed in section 2, a class of five dimensional gauge theories are geometrically engineered by toric Calabi-Yau threefolds X. We are particularly interested in the theories on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^4$ , which are regarded as the strong coupling limit of type IIA string theory on X. This relates the Nekrasov partition function of the 5d theory on  $S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^4$  with the topological string amplitude on X.

#### 3.1 Topological string amplitude

We first review how the topological string amplitude appears in this context. Although our X is non-compact, we regard it as a non-compact limit of some compact Calabi-Yau threefold  $\tilde{X}$ . When dimensionally reducing on  $\tilde{X} \times S^1$ , we have a 4d,  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity. The BPS states in the 4d theory come from D*p*-branes wrapped on holomorphic compact *p*-cycles of  $\tilde{X}$ . Among others, D2-branes on compact two-cycles are regarded as "electric" BPS-states (such as W-bosons) and D4-branes on compact four-cycles are "magnetic" BPS states (such as monopoles). The 4d effective action contains various F-terms. In particular, a class of F-terms is calculated in the topological string theory on the same Calabi-Yau threefold  $\tilde{X}$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be the topological string amplitude on  $\tilde{X}$ , and  $\lambda$  be the topological string coupling. When  $\lambda$  is small,  $\mathcal{F}$  is expanded as

$$\mathcal{F} = \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_g \lambda^{2g-2} \,. \tag{3.1}$$

Then the effective action of the supergravity contains F-terms of the form  $\mathcal{F}_g R^2_+ (g_s F_+)^{2g-2}$ for g > 0, where  $R_+$  and  $F_+$  are the self-dual part of the curvature and gravi-photon field strength, respectively.<sup>7</sup> In other words, by identifying  $\lambda = g_s F_+$ , the topological string amplitude evaluates the gravi-photon corrected F-terms in the 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity [43, 44].

Since we are interested in 5d theories, we take the strong coupling limit  $g_s \to \infty$ . Since  $g_s$  belongs to a 4d hypermultiplet, the F-term is independent of  $g_s$ . However, the same quantity  $\mathcal{F}$  now has a different interpretation. Since in the strong coupling limit BPS D2-D0 states become very light, the low-energy theory is described by quantum fields associated with them. Then  $\mathcal{F}$  can be evaluated as a sum of their one-loop amplitudes [45, 46]. Since the quantum fields are off-shell 4d short multiplets, they correspond to on-shell 5d BPS states, namely M2-branes wrapping holomorphic two-cycles in  $\tilde{X}$ . Let  $\mathfrak{t}$  be the Kähler two-form of the Calabi-Yau threefold, and  $\beta$  be the two-cycle wrapped by the M2-brane. The central charge of the M2-brane is given by  $2\pi\mathfrak{t}\cdot\beta$ . The M2-brane also carries spin  $(j_L, j_R)$  with respect to SO(4)  $\simeq$  SU(2)<sub>L</sub> × SU(2)<sub>R</sub> acting on  $\mathbb{R}^4$ . Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be the moduli space of deformations of the curve  $\beta$  in  $\tilde{X}$ . Then SU(2)<sub>R</sub> is identified with the SL(2) Lefschetz actions on the moduli space of deformations of  $\beta$  in  $\tilde{X}$  [46]. On the other hand, SU(2)<sub>L</sub> is identified with the Lefschetz action on the moduli space of flat bundles over  $\beta$ , which is generically  $T^{2g}$  if  $\beta$  has genus g. Now, let  $N_{jL,jR}^{(\beta)}$  be the BPS degeneracy of M2-branes wrapping  $\beta$  which have spin  $(j_L, j_R)$ . The one-loop amplitudes are then written in terms of  $n_{jL}^{(\beta)} = \sum_{jR} (-1)^{2j_R} (2j_R + 1) N_{jL,jR}^{(\beta)}$  as [45, 46]

$$\mathcal{F} = -\sum_{\beta, j_L, k>0} \sum_{\ell=-j_L}^{j_L} (-1)^{2j_L} \frac{n_{j_L}^{(\beta)}}{k} \frac{q^{2\ell k}}{(q^{k/2} - q^{-k/2})^2} e^{-2\pi k \mathfrak{t} \cdot \beta}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where  $q = e^{i\lambda}$ . Note that  $n_{j_L}^{(\beta)}$  depends only on the left spin  $j_L$  of M2-branes because  $\mathcal{F}$  couples to the self-dual gravi-photon field strength  $F_+$ .

# 3.2 Comparison to Nekrasov partition function

Since X engineers a gauge theory, the gravi-photon corrected F-term is also evaluated as the (logarithm of) Nekrasov partition function [8]. This leads to the idea that, in the noncompact limit  $\tilde{X} \to X$ , the topological string partition function  $\exp \mathcal{F}$  is identified with the Nekrasov partition function for  $\epsilon_1 = -\epsilon_2 = \lambda$ . The special choice of  $\epsilon_{1,2}$  comes from the fact that  $\mathcal{F}_g$  couples to the self-dual part of the gravi-photon field strength. This relation between the topological string amplitude and Nekrasov partition function was checked in various examples [27–30]. The expression (3.2) particularly implies that the logarithm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The constant map contribution  $\mathcal{F}_0$  gives rise to  $(\partial_j \partial_i \mathcal{F}_0) F^i \wedge F^j$ .

of the Nekrasov partition function is written as a sum over M2-branes on holomorphic two-cycles  $\beta$ .

Note here that some of the two-cycles  $\beta$  become non-compact in the limit  $\tilde{X} \to X$ . Then we should eliminate M2-branes on such  $\beta$  from the 5d BPS spectrum because their masses are divergent. There is another class of M2-branes which are decoupled in the rigid limit  $\tilde{X} \to X$ . To see this, suppose that X has k compact four-cycles, which we denote by  $D_i$  for  $i = 1, \dots, k$ . Then, the 5d gauge theory engineered by X has a non-trivial U(1)<sup>k</sup> gauge symmetry. The 5d gauge fields  $A^{(i)}$  come from the M-theory three-form potential of the form

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{k} A^{(i)} \wedge \omega^{(i)} , \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $\omega^{(i)}$  is the harmonic two-form which is Poincaré dual to  $D_i$ . Now, an M2-brane on  $\beta$  has the following coupling to the gauge fields:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} A^{(i)} \int_{\beta} \omega^{(i)} \,. \tag{3.4}$$

Namely the *i*-th electric charge of the M2-brane is identified with  $\int_{\beta} \omega^i = D_i \cdot \beta$ . If the intersection number  $\beta \cdot D_i$  vanishes for all the compact four-cycles  $D_i$ , M2-branes wrapping  $\beta$  has no electric charge of the 5d gauge theory engineered. This is the case if  $\beta$  can be continuously moved to infinity. Such M2-branes are charged only under decoupled U(1) gauge symmetries in the limit  $\tilde{X} \to X$ .

In the study of the 5d gauge theory we should eliminate such M2-branes from the 5d BPS spectrum because they are decoupled. This means that, when comparing the topological string partition function with the Nekrasov partition function, we have to omit in (3.2) all the contributions from such M2-branes; they do not contribute to the one-loop amplitude of the gauge theory. The contribution to be eliminated is a prefactor of exp  $\mathcal{F}$  of the form

$$\prod_{k=1}^{j_L} \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - q^{2\ell + k} Q_\beta\right)^{(-1)^{2j_L k} n_{j_L}^{(\beta)}}.$$
(3.5)

We should eliminate this for any  $j_L$  and  $\beta$  such that  $D_i \cdot \beta = 0$  for all  $D_i$ . Here we used the shorthand notation  $Q_\beta = e^{-2\pi i t \cdot \beta}$ .

# 3.3 Five-dimensional U(1)-factor from geometry

ſ

One subtlety here is that, when X engineers an SU(N) gauge theory, the topological string partition function  $\exp \mathcal{F}$  is known to reproduce the Nekrasov partition function of a U(N) gauge theory rather than SU(N) [27–30]. In this subsection, we explain the physical reason for this using the above argument of decoupled M2-branes.

For example, suppose that X is the four-point blowup of local  $\mathbb{P}_b^1 \times \mathbb{P}_f^1$ , whose toric web-diagram is shown in figure 7. Let  $\beta_i$  be the *i*-th blowup two-cycle. There are six independent Kähler parameters;  $\mathfrak{t}_b, \mathfrak{t}_f$  for  $\mathbb{P}_b$  and  $\mathbb{P}_f$  respectively, and  $\mathfrak{t}_i$  for  $\beta_i$ . This X engineers an SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 4$  flavors. The Coulomb branch parameter a,



**Figure 7.** Left: the toric web-diagram of the four-point blowup of local  $\mathbb{P}_b^1 \times \mathbb{P}_f^1$ . In our notation,  $\mathbb{P}_f^1 = \beta_2 + \beta_4 + \tilde{\beta}_2 = \beta_1 + \beta_3 + \tilde{\beta}_1$  and  $\mathbb{P}_b^1 = \beta_1 + \beta_2 + \tilde{\beta}_3 = \beta_3 + \beta_4 + \tilde{\beta}_4$ . We have a single compact four-cycle D. Right: two non-compact four-cycles  $\tilde{D}_1$  and  $\tilde{D}_2$  are depicted.

masses of matter hypermultiplets  $m_i$  and the gauge coupling  $g^2$  are related to the Kähler parameters by  $\mathfrak{t}_f = 2a$ ,  $\mathfrak{t}_i = a - m_i$  and  $\mathfrak{t}_b = 1/g^2 + 2a$ . The topological string partition function on X is evaluated in terms of  $Q_i = e^{-2\pi\mathfrak{t}_i}$ ,  $Q_f = e^{-2\pi\mathfrak{t}_f}$  and  $Q_b = e^{-2\pi\mathfrak{t}_b}$  as [47]

$$\exp \mathcal{F} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1-q^n \tilde{Q}_1)^n (1-q^n \tilde{Q}_2)^n} \times \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{1-q^n}\right)^{\frac{n\chi(X)}{2}} \times \frac{\prod_{i=1}^4 \prod_{n=1}^\infty (1-q^n Q_i)^n (1-q^n Q_f Q_i^{-1})^n}{\prod_{n=1}^\infty (1-q^n Q_f)^{2n}} \times Z_{\text{inst}}^{\mathrm{U}(2)}(Q_b, Q_f, Q_i), \quad (3.6)$$

where we used the short-hand notations  $\tilde{Q}_1 = Q_f Q_1^{-1} Q_3^{-1}$ ,  $\tilde{Q}_2 = Q_f Q_2^{-1} Q_4^{-1}$ . Here  $\chi(X)$  is the Euler characteristic of X, which cannot be determined unambiguously because X is non-compact. The moral is that we set  $\chi(X)$  to be twice the number of U(1) vector multiplets. When we write  $\tilde{Q}_i = \exp(-2\pi \mathfrak{t} \cdot \tilde{\beta}_i)$ , the two-cycles  $\tilde{\beta}_1$  and  $\tilde{\beta}_2$  have vanishing intersections with D. This means that the first factor

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1-q^n \tilde{Q}_1)^n (1-q^n \tilde{Q}_2)^n}$$
(3.7)

is a contribution from decoupled M2-branes as discussed near (3.5). In the study of 5d gauge theory we should omit this factor. The remaining part of exp  $\mathcal{F}$  turns out to coincide with the Nekrasov partition function of U(2) gauge theory with four flavors [30]. In particular,  $Z_{\text{inst}}^{\text{U}(2)}$  agrees with the instanton partition function.<sup>8</sup>

While X engineers SU(2) gauge theory, we have obtained U(2) Nekrasov partition function. The reason for this is that we did not eliminate all the contributions from decoupled M2-branes. To see this, note first that there are two more independent two-cycles  $\tilde{\beta}_3, \tilde{\beta}_4$  whose intersections with D vanish. In terms of  $\mathbb{P}^1_b, \mathbb{P}^1_f$  and  $\beta_i$ , they are expressed as

$$\tilde{\beta}_3 = \mathbb{P}_b^1 - \beta_1 - \beta_2, \qquad \tilde{\beta}_4 = \mathbb{P}_b^1 - \beta_3 - \beta_4.$$
(3.8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The second and third factors of (3.6) coincide with the perturbative part of the Nekrasov partition. Whether the perturbative part describes U(2) or SU(2) gauge symmetry depends on  $\chi(X)$  which cannot be determined unambiguously.

M2-branes wrapping these two-cycles are not charged under SU(2) gauge symmetry engineered, and therefore to be decoupled. From the symmetry of the toric diagram,<sup>9</sup> we find that exp  $\mathcal{F}$  contains the factor

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1-q^n \tilde{Q}_3)^n (1-q^n \tilde{Q}_4)^n},$$
(3.9)

coming from M2-branes on  $\tilde{\beta}_3$  or  $\tilde{\beta}_4$ . Since both  $\tilde{Q}_3$  and  $\tilde{Q}_4$  involve  $Q_b$ , this factor is included in  $Z_{\text{inst}}^{\mathrm{U}(2)}(Q_b, Q_f, Q_i)$ . We interpret that the inclusion of (3.9) is the reason why we have obtained the U(2) Nekrasov partition function rather than SU(2).

One way to verify this interpretation is to identify an additional U(1) gauge field which couples to M2-branes on  $\tilde{\beta}_3, \tilde{\beta}_4$ . Let us consider two non-compact four-cycles  $\tilde{D}_1$  and  $\tilde{D}_2$ shown in figure 7. There is a U(1) gauge symmetry associated with

$$D' = \tilde{D}_1 - \tilde{D}_2 \,, \tag{3.10}$$

which we denote by  $U(1)_{D'}$ . Since  $\tilde{D}_1$  and  $\tilde{D}_2$  are non-compact,  $U(1)_{D'}$  is decoupled in the rigid limit  $\tilde{X} \to X$ . The intersections  $D' \cdot \tilde{\beta}_1 = D' \cdot \tilde{\beta}_2 = 0$  and  $D' \cdot \tilde{\beta}_3 = -D' \cdot \tilde{\beta}_4 = 2$  imply that M2-branes on  $\tilde{\beta}_3$ ,  $\tilde{\beta}_4$  are charged under  $U(1)_{D'}$  but those on  $\tilde{\beta}_1$ ,  $\tilde{\beta}_2$  are not. Therefore, eliminating (3.7) from exp  $\mathcal{F}$  while keeping (3.9) is equivalent to keeping  $U(1)_{D'}$  in addition to the SU(2) gauge symmetry in five dimensions. What is this additional  $U(1)_{D'}$  gauge symmetry? Since  $D' \cdot \mathbb{P}_f^1 = 0$ , the W-boson is neutral under  $U(1)_{D'}$ . On the other hand,  $D' \cdot \beta_1 = D' \cdot \beta_2 = -D' \cdot \beta_3 = -D' \cdot \beta_4 = -1$  imply that  $U(1)_{D'}$  couples to the four matter hypermultiplets with the same magnitude of electric charge.<sup>10</sup> This means that  $U(1)_{D'}$  is identified with the center U(1) of the U(2) gauge symmetry, which verifies our interpretation of the difference between U(2) and SU(2).

From this argument we expect that, by eliminating both (3.7) and (3.9) from  $\exp \mathcal{F}$ , we obtain the Nekrasov partition function of SU(2) gauge theory rather than U(2). We will explicitly check this in section 4.3. The latter factor (3.9) describes the difference between the U(2) and SU(2) gauge theories. Recently, such a difference has attracted much attention in the study of the AGT relation [15]. In particular, it was proposed in [15] that the 4d Nekrasov partition functions of U(2) and SU(2) gauge theories are generally related by multiplying a so-called "U(1)-factor."<sup>11</sup> Here, we have found the *fivedimensional* counterpart of the U(1)-factor, and given its interpretation in the geometric engineering. Note that our interpretation is applicable to any toric Calabi-Yau threefold X which engineers a 5d gauge theory.

#### **3.4** Refined topological string

So far we have discussed the un-refined topological string and its relation to the Nekrasov partition function with  $\epsilon_1 = -\epsilon_2$ . In this paper, we are interested in the Nekrasov partition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>When we consider the refined topological string, this symmetry does not exist.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>To be more precise, an M2 on  $\beta_i$  and an  $\overline{M2}$  on  $\mathbb{P}_f^1 - \beta_i$ , which form a (anti-) fundamental representation of SU(2), have the same electric charge of U(1)<sub>D'</sub>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>For further studies on the U(1)-factor in four dimensions, see [48].



Figure 8. Left: we assign  $C_{\lambda\mu\nu}(t,q)$  to this vertex. The preferred direction is indicated by ||. The vertex factor also depends on the positions of q- and t-directions. Middle: near the two-cycle  $\beta$ , the toric Calabi-Yau X is identified with the total space of  $\mathcal{O}(m_{\beta}-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}(-m_{\beta}-1) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ . This picture indicates the case of  $m_{\beta} = 1$ . When the toric web-diagram near  $\beta$  is as in the picture, the framing factor is given by  $f_{\nu}(t,q)^{m_{\beta}}$ . Here the dark and light gray regions indicate the line bundles  $\mathcal{O}(m_{\beta}-1) \to \mathbb{P}^1$  and  $\mathcal{O}(-m_{\beta}-1) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ , respectively. Right: when the web-diagram near  $\beta$  is as in the picture, the framing factor is given by  $\tilde{f}_{\nu}(t,q)^{m_{\beta}}$ .

function for a general  $\Omega$ -background  $\epsilon_1 \neq -\epsilon_2$ . It was argued in [30] that, when the gauge theory is engineered by some toric Calabi-Yau threefold X, the logarithm of the Nekrasov partition function is written as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm ref} = -\sum_{\beta, j_L, j_R} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=-j_L}^{j_L} \sum_{r=-j_R}^{j_R} (-1)^{2j_L + 2j_R} \frac{N_{j_L, j_R}^{(\beta)}}{k} \frac{(tq)^{k\ell} (t/q)^{kr}}{(q^{k/2} - q^{-k/2})(t^{k/2} - t^{-k/2})} e^{-2\pi k t \cdot \beta},$$
(3.11)

where  $q = e^{-i\epsilon_2}$ ,  $t = e^{i\epsilon_1}$ . Here  $\mathcal{F}_{ref}$  depends on the full spin spectrum  $N_{j_L,j_R}^{(\beta)}$  of M2branes on  $\beta$ . Since (3.11) reduces to  $\mathcal{F}$  if t = q,  $\mathcal{F}_{ref}$  is regarded as a generalization of the topological string amplitude. In this paper, we call  $\exp \mathcal{F}_{ref}$  the "refined topological partition function," following the literature.

Although the world-sheet definition of the refined topological string is still mysterious (see [49–52] for recent progress), it was proposed that  $\exp \mathcal{F}_{ref}$  is evaluated via the refinement [19, 20] of the topological vertex [18]. In this paper, we use the so-called "refined topological vertex" proposed in [20]. We first draw the toric web-diagram of the toric Calabi-Yau threefold X, which is decomposed into trivalent vertices and (internal and external) edges. Each internal edge is associated with a Young diagram, and  $\exp \mathcal{F}_{ref}$  is written as a sum over all possible combinations of the Young diagrams up to a prefactor.<sup>12</sup> What we sum up is the multiplication of factors from every edge and vertex. The vertex factor is given by

$$C_{\lambda\mu\nu}(t,q) = t^{-\frac{||\mu^t||^2}{2}} q^{\frac{||\mu||^2 + ||\nu||^2}{2}} \widetilde{Z}_{\nu}(t,q) \sum_{\eta} \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{\frac{|\eta| + |\lambda| - |\mu|}{2}} s_{\lambda^t/\eta}(t^{-\rho}q^{-\nu}) s_{\mu/\eta}(t^{-\nu^t}q^{-\rho}),$$
(3.12)

where  $\lambda, \mu$  and  $\nu$  are the Young diagrams of the edges attached to the vertex. Here we assign  $\emptyset$  to external edges. The function  $\tilde{Z}_{\nu}(t,q)$  is written in terms of  $\ell_{\nu}(i,j) = \nu_i - j$  and  $a_{\nu}(i,j) = \nu_j^t - i$  as

$$\tilde{Z}_{\nu}(t,q) = \prod_{s \in \nu} (1 - q^{\ell_{\nu}(s)} t^{a_{\nu}(s)+1})^{-1}, \qquad (3.13)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Here the prefactor is given by the refinement of the constant map contribution:  $(M(t,q)M(q,t))^{-\chi(X)/4}$ , where  $M(t,q) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1-q^i t^{j-1})^{-1}$  is the refined MacMahon function and  $\chi(X)$  is the Euler characteristic of X.

and  $s_{\nu}(\mathbf{x})$  is the Schur function. Since  $C_{\lambda\mu\nu}(t,q)$  is not symmetric under permutations of the Young diagrams, we have to specify their ordering. For every vertex, we choose a "preferred direction" and call the other two directions q- and t-directions, respectively. We do this so that every internal edge connects two preferred directions or two un-preferred directions. We also impose that all the preferred directions are parallel in the toric web-diagram. Moreover, when connecting two un-preferred directions, we impose that one should be a q-direction and the other should be a t-direction. With this rule, we assign  $C_{\lambda\mu\nu}(t,q)$  to a vertex in figure 8. Note that for a general toric web-diagram this assignment might be impossible. In that case we should also use another vertex factor [53, 54], but we will not discuss such examples in this paper.

To describe the edge factor, we first define

$$f_{\nu}(t,q) = (-1)^{|\nu|} t^{\frac{||\nu^t||^2}{2}} q^{-\frac{||\nu||^2}{2}}, \qquad \tilde{f}_{\nu}(t,q) = (-1)^{|\nu|} t^{\frac{||\nu^t||^2}{2}} q^{-\frac{||\nu||^2}{2}} (t/q)^{\frac{|\nu|}{2}}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where  $|\nu|$  is the number of boxes in  $\nu$ . Let us consider an edge associated with a two-cycle  $\beta$  and a Young diagram  $\nu$ . The edge factor for the edge is given by

$$e^{-2\pi \mathfrak{t} \cdot \beta|\nu|} f(\beta, \nu, t, q), \qquad (3.15)$$

where  $f(\beta, \nu, t, q)$  is the so-called "framing factor." Note that, near the two-cycle  $\beta$ , X is locally identified with the total space of  $\mathcal{O}(m_{\beta}-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}(-m_{\beta}-1) \to \mathbb{P}^1$  for some  $m_{\beta} \in \mathbb{N}$ . The framing factor depends on  $m_{\beta}$ , the positions of q- and t-edges, and whether the edge is a preferred or un-preferred direction. If the edge is a *preferred direction* as in the middle of figure 8, the framing factor is given by

$$f(\beta,\nu,t,q) = f_{\nu}(t,q)^{m_{\beta}}.$$
(3.16)

If the edge is an *un-preferred direction* as in the right of figure 8, we set

$$f(\beta,\nu,t,q) = f_{\nu}(t,q)^{m_{\beta}}.$$
(3.17)

Note that the framing factor (3.17) for un-preferred directions is slightly different from that in [20, 54], but we will see that (3.17) leads to the correct 5d Nekrasov partition function with no ambiguity.

We finally note that the refinement of (3.5) is given by

$$\prod_{\ell=-j_L}^{j_L} \prod_{r=-j_R}^{j_R} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - q^{\ell-r+i-1/2} t^{\ell+r+j-1/2} Q_\beta \right)^{(-1)^{2j_L+2j_R} N_{j_L,j_R}^{(\beta)}} .$$
(3.18)

We interpret that, when comparing  $\exp \mathcal{F}_{ref}$  with the Nekrasov partition function, we have to divide out  $\exp \mathcal{F}_{ref}$  by this factor for all  $(j_L, j_R)$  and  $\beta$  such that  $\beta \cdot D_i = 0$  for every compact four-cycle  $D_i$  of X. One subtlety here is that the refined topological vertex does not capture the whole  $SU(2)_R$  spin multiplet of M2-branes on such  $\beta$ . To see this, let us again regard X as a local limit of some compact Calabi-Yau threefold  $\tilde{X}$ . Before taking the limit  $\tilde{X} \to X$ , the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}$  of the curve  $\beta$  in the Calabi-Yau threefold is compact and Kähler. Then  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R$  is identified with the  $\mathrm{SL}(2)$  Lefschetz action on  $\mathcal{M}$  [46], which means that the  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R$  spin multiplet is formed by elements of  $H^*(\mathcal{M})$ . In the local limit  $\tilde{X} \to X$ , however,  $\mathcal{M}$  becomes non-compact and the full  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R$  multiplet needs contributions from infinity of  $\mathcal{M}$ . On the other hand, the refined topological vertex only captures the local property of the Calabi-Yau threefold. Therefore we expect that, in calculations with refined topological vertex, the factor to be eliminated is

$$\prod_{\ell=-j_L}^{j_L} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - q^{\ell - r + i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{\ell + r + j - \frac{1}{2}} Q_\beta\right)^{(-1)^{2j_L + 2j_R} N_{j_L, j_R}^{(\beta)}}, \qquad (3.19)$$

for some r such that  $-j_R \leq r \leq j_R$ . The value of r depends on  $\beta$ , and the choices of the preferred, q- and t-directions. In the rest of this paper, we encounter the cases of  $r = \pm 1/2$  for  $j_R = 1/2$ .<sup>13</sup>

#### 4 Sp(1) Nekrasov partition functions from topological string

### 4.1 Refined topological vertex computation

In this section, we consider the refined topological string partition function on the blow-ups of local  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  and  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N)$  for N = 2, 3, 4. As reviewed in section 2, the former engineers 5d SU(2) gauge theories with fundamental hypermutiplets while the latter is expected to engineer the 5d version of  $T_N$ -theory. Since the Calabi-Yau threefolds are toric, the partition functions are evaluated via the refined topological vertex.

# 4.1.1 Local $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ with $2 \leq N_f \leq 4$ blow ups

For the SU(2) gauge theories with  $N_f = 0$  and 1, two partition functions are already shown to be equivalent<sup>14</sup> [55, 56]. Thus, we here focus on the partition functions of the SU(2) gauge theories with  $2 \leq N_f \leq 4$  fundamental hypermultiplets.

We shall calculate the topological string partition function for  $2 \leq N_f \leq 4$  points blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  whose toric fans are depicted in figure 2. One expects that the result agrees with the SU(2) gauge theory partition function with  $N_f$  fundamental hypermultiplet since M-theory compactifications on the toric varieties lead to the SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f$ flavors as discussed in section 2.1. However we find that the topological vertex calculation yields the U(2) gauge theory partition function instead of that of SU(2).

 $N_f = 2$ . For  $N_f = 2$ , we consider two types of toric web diagrams as in figure 9. The refined topological partition function for the first diagram of figure 9 can be written as

$$Z_{N_f=2}^{(1)} = (M(t,q)M(q,t))^{1/2} Z^{(1)}(t,q,Q), \qquad (4.1)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>On the other hand, the SU(2)<sub>L</sub> multiplet is identified with the Lefschetz decompositions of the cohomology of the moduli space of flat bundles over  $\beta$ . Since this is insensitive to the non-compactness of  $\mathcal{M}$ , the topological vertex realizes the whole SU(2)<sub>L</sub> spin multiplet even if the M2-brane is wrapping  $\beta$  with a non-compact moduli space.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The relation between the instanton partition functions of two SU(2) gauge theories with  $N_f = 0$  at different Chern-Simons levels,  $\kappa = 0$  and  $\kappa = 2$ , is discussed in [55]. Their result agrees with our prescription in section 4.2.



**Figure 9**. Toric diagrams of two points blow up of local  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ . The preferred direction is indicated by the double line.

$$Z^{(1)}(t,q,Q) = \sum_{\vec{\nu},\vec{\mu}} (-Q_b)^{|\nu_1|} (-Q_1)^{|\mu_1|} (-Q_2)^{|\mu_2|} (-Q_f Q_1^{-1})^{|\nu_4|} (-Q_f Q_2^{-1})^{|\nu_3|} (-Q_b Q_1 Q_2)^{|\nu_2|} f_{\nu_1^t}(q,t) f_{\nu_2}(q,t) \\ \times C_{\emptyset\mu_1\nu_1^t}(q,t) C_{\nu_4\mu_1^t\emptyset}(t,q) C_{\nu_4^t\emptyset\nu_2}(q,t) \times C_{\mu_2^t\emptyset\nu_1}(t,q) C_{\mu_2\nu_3^t\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\emptyset\nu_3\nu_2^t}(t,q) \,.$$

Here  $Q_b, Q_f, Q_a$  are related to the Kähler parameters of the base  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , the fiber  $\mathbb{P}^1$  and two exceptional curves from blowup, respectively.

By explicit calculation, one obtains

$$Z_{N_{f}=2}^{(1)} = \left[ \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{2} (1 - Q_{a}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1 - Q_{f}Q_{a}^{-1}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^{i}t^{j-1})^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 - q^{i-1}t^{j})^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 - Q_{f}q^{i}t^{j-1})(1 - Q_{f}q^{i-1}t^{j})} \right]$$

$$\times \sum_{\nu_{1},\nu_{2}} (-Q_{b})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{b}Q_{1}Q_{2})^{|\nu_{2}|}q^{||\nu_{1}^{t}||^{2} + ||\nu_{2}^{t}||^{2}}$$

$$\times \prod_{s \in \nu_{1}} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{2} (1 - Q_{a}q^{-i+\frac{1}{2}}t^{l}\nu_{1}(s) + \frac{1}{2})}{(1 - q^{a\nu_{1}}(s) + 1t^{l}\nu_{1}(s))(1 - q^{a\nu_{1}}(s)t^{l}\nu_{1}(s) + 1)(1 - Q_{f}q^{a\nu_{2}}(s) + 1t^{l}\nu_{1}(s))(1 - Q_{f}q^{a\nu_{2}}(s)t^{l}\nu_{1}(s) + 1)}$$

$$\times \prod_{s \in \nu_{2}} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{2} (1 - Q_{f}Q_{a}^{-1}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{-l}\nu_{2}(s) - \frac{1}{2})}{(1 - q^{a\nu_{2}}(s) + 1t^{l}\nu_{2}(s))(1 - q^{a\nu_{2}}(s)t^{l}\nu_{2}(s) + 1)(1 - Q_{f}q^{-a\nu_{1}}(s) - 1t^{-l}\nu_{2}(s))(1 - Q_{f}q^{-a\nu_{1}}(s)t^{-l}\nu_{2}(s) - 1)}$$

$$(4.2)$$

In order to compare this with the Nekrasov partition function, we reformulate this in terms of the gauge theory parameters

$$q = e^{-\gamma_1 + \gamma_2}, \quad t = e^{\gamma_1 + \gamma_2}, \quad u = Q_b Q_1^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_2^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_f^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad Q_f = e^{-2i\lambda}, \quad Q_{a=1,2} = e^{-i\lambda + im_a},$$
(4.3)

where  $\lambda$  is the Coulomb branch parameter, u is the instanton fugacity,  $m_{a=1,2}$  are the mass parameters of the hypermultiplets and  $i\epsilon_1 = \gamma_1 + \gamma_2$ ,  $i\epsilon_2 = \gamma_1 - \gamma_2$  denote the Omega deformation parameters for  $\mathbb{R}^4$ . In terms of these parameters, the partition function is written as

$$Z_{N_f=2}^{(1)} \equiv Z_0^{(1)} Z_{\text{inst}}^{(1)} ,$$

$$Z_0^{(1)} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^2 (1 - e^{-i\lambda + m_a} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda - m_a} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^i t^{j - 1})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - q^{i - 1} t^j)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^i t^{j - 1}) (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i - 1} t^j)} ,$$

$$Z_{\text{inst}}^{(1)} = \sum_{\vec{\nu}} u^{|\nu_1| + |\nu_2|} \prod_{\alpha=1}^2 \prod_{s \in \nu_{\alpha}} \frac{e^{i(E_{\alpha \emptyset} + i\gamma_1)} \prod_{a=1}^2 2i \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \emptyset} + i\gamma_1 - m_a}{2}}{\prod_{\beta=1}^2 (2i)^2 \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \beta}}{2} \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \beta} + 2i\gamma_1}{2}} ,$$

$$(4.4)$$

where

$$E_{\alpha\beta} = \lambda_{\alpha} - \lambda_{\beta} + i(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2)\ell_{\nu_{\alpha}}(s) - i(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2)(a_{\nu_{\beta}}(s) + 1), \qquad (4.5)$$

and  $\lambda_1 = -\lambda_2 = \lambda$ ,  $\lambda_{\emptyset} = 0$ .

Now the partition function (4.4), which consists of two factors  $Z_0^{(1)}$  and  $Z_{\text{inst}}^{(1)}$ , can be identified with the Nekrasov partition function. Firstly, the  $Z_{\text{inst}}^{(1)}$  factor perfectly agrees with the instanton contribution of the U(2) gauge theory at Chern-Simons theory level  $\kappa = +1$  with  $N_f = 2$  flavors obtained in [57] after the identification (4.3) of parameters in both gauge theory and string theory. The product of sine factors in the numerator is exactly the contribution from two U(2) fundamental hypermultiplets, while the product in the denominator is the vector multiplet contribution. The phase factor in the numerator, i.e.  $e^{\kappa i (E_{\alpha \emptyset} + i \gamma_1)}$ , encodes the classical Chern-Simons level and it implies that the Chern-Simons level of the gauge theory at hand is  $\kappa = +1$ . On the other hand, the  $Z_0^{(1)}$  factor corresponds to the perturbative contribution of the SU(2) gauge theory partition function with 2 fundamental flavors, rather than U(2) gauge group. To identify this with that of the U(2) gauge theory, an additional U(1) vector multiplet contribution

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^i t^{j-1})^{-\frac{1}{2}} (1 - q^{i-1} t^j)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(4.6)

should be included in the string theory partition function. This is achieved by shifting  $\chi(X)$  by two.<sup>15</sup> For this case therefore the partition function  $Z_{N_f=2}^{(1)}$  agrees with the 5d Nekrasov partition function of U(2) gauge theory at CS-level +1 with two fundamental hypermultiplets.

Note here that  $Z_{N_f=2}^{(1)}$  contains contributions from M2-branes with no SU(2) electric charge. Such M2-branes are wrapping the two-cycle associated with  $Q_b = u e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1+m_2)}$ . The general argument in section 3 implies that such M2-branes contribute

$$\prod_{\ell=-j_L}^{j_L} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - Q_b q^{\ell - r + i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{\ell + r + j - \frac{1}{2}})^{(-1)^{2j_L + 2j_R} N_{j_L, j_R}^{(\beta)}}$$
(4.7)

to  $Z_{N_f=2}^{(1)}$  for some  $r, j_L, j_R$  such that  $-j_R \leq r \leq j_R$ . We find  $j_L = 0$  because the two-cycle associated with  $Q_b$  is genus zero. Moreover, the moduli space of deformations of the twocycle is  $\mathbb{C}$ , which is regarded as a local limit of  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . This suggests that  $j_R = 1/2$ . We can verify these by looking at the refined topological vertex calculation (4.2). Since we are only interested in the factor (4.7), we set all the fugacities to be zero except for  $Q_b$ . Then (4.2) reduces to

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} \equiv \sum_{\nu_1} \frac{Q_b^{|\nu_1|} q^{||\nu_1||^2}}{\prod_{s \in \nu_1} (1 - q^{\ell_{\nu_1}(s)} t^{a_{\nu_1}(s)+1}) (1 - q^{\ell_{\nu_1}(s)+1} t^{a_{\nu_1}(s)})}, \qquad (4.8)$$

which is the amplitude associated with the diagram in figure 10. Using the identity (6.5) of [58], we can rewrite this as

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} = \prod_{k,\ell=1}^{\infty} (1 - ue^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2)} q^k t^{\ell-1})^{-1}.$$
(4.9)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Recall that the Euler characteristic  $\chi(X)$  of the non-compact Calabi-Yau X is not unambiguously determined. Our moral is that we set  $\chi(X)$  to be twice the number of vector multiplets.



**Figure 10**. The diagram giving rise to  $Z_{U(1)}^{||}$ .

This factor is of the form (4.7) with  $N_{j_L,j_R}^{(\beta)} = \delta_{j_L,0} \, \delta_{j_R,\frac{1}{2}}$  and r = -1/2 for  $j_R = 1/2$ . Note that  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}$  contains the fugacity u for instantons, which implies that it comes from  $Z_{\mathrm{inst}}^{(1)}$  in (4.4).

Let us now turn to the second diagram of figure 9. The refined topological string partition function is now evaluated as

$$Z_{N_{f}=2}^{(2)} = (M(t,q)M(q,t))^{1/2} Z^{(2)}(t,q,Q),$$

$$Z^{(2)}(t,q,Q) = \sum_{\vec{\nu},\vec{\mu}} (-Q_{b})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{1})^{|\mu_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\mu_{2}|} (-Q_{f}Q_{1}^{-1}Q_{2}^{-1})^{|\nu_{4}|} (-Q_{f})^{|\nu_{3}|} (-Q_{b}Q_{1}Q_{2}^{-1})^{|\nu_{2}|} \tilde{f}_{\nu_{3}}(t,q) \tilde{f}_{\nu_{4}^{t}}(t,q)$$

$$\times C_{\emptyset\mu_{1}\nu_{1}^{t}}(q,t) C_{\nu_{4}\mu_{1}^{t}\emptyset}(t,q) C_{\mu_{2}\nu_{4}^{t}\emptyset}(t,q) C_{\mu_{2}^{t}\emptyset\nu_{2}}(q,t) \times C_{\nu_{3}^{t}\emptyset\nu_{1}}(t,q) C_{\emptyset\nu_{3}\nu_{2}^{t}}(t,q).$$

$$(4.10)$$

A short calculation shows that

$$\begin{split} Z_{N_{f}=2}^{(2)} &= Z_{0}^{(2)} Z_{\text{inst}}^{(2)} \,, \\ Z_{0}^{(2)} &= \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{2} (1 - e^{-i\lambda + m_{a}} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda - m_{a}} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^{i} t^{j - 1})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - q^{i - 1} t^{j})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i} t^{j - 1}) (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i - 1} t^{j}) (1 - e^{-i(m_{1} + m_{2})} q^{i - 1} t^{j})} \,, \\ Z_{\text{inst}}^{(2)} &= \sum_{\nu_{1}, \nu_{2}} u^{|\nu_{1}| + |\nu_{2}|} \prod_{\alpha = 1}^{2} \prod_{s \in \nu_{\alpha}} \frac{\left(2i \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \emptyset} + i\gamma_{1} - m_{1}}{2}\right) \left(2i \sin \frac{-E_{\alpha \emptyset} - i\gamma_{1} - m_{2}}{2}\right)}{\prod_{\beta = 1}^{2} (2i)^{2} \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \beta} + 2i\gamma_{1}}{2}} \,. \end{split}$$

$$\tag{4.11}$$

Here we introduce another identification of the Kähler parameters different from the previous case.

$$u = -Q_b Q_1^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_2^{-\frac{1}{2}} Q_f^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad Q_f = e^{-2i\lambda}, \quad Q_{a=1,2} = e^{-i\lambda + im_a}.$$
(4.12)

This result is rather different from the previous result for the first diagram of figure 9. Firstly, there is an extra contribution to the perturbative part  $Z_0^{(2)}$ :

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \equiv \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i(m_1 + m_2)} q^{i-1} t^j)^{-1}.$$
(4.13)

Also the instanton part  $Z_{\text{inst}}^{(2)}$  is different. The numerator of the instanton part for this case implies that the U(2) gauge theory now has zero Chern-Simons level and couples to two hypermultiplets, one in the fundamental and the other one in the anti-fundamental representation, which is very different from the previous interpretation. Therefore  $Z^{(2)}/Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=}$ gives the Nekrasov partition function of U(2) gauge theory with a fundamental and an anti-fundamental matter fields, and the vanishing Chern-Simons level. Thus the topological vertex computations of the two toric diagrams yield the two different Nekrasov partition functions. Note here that (4.13) is precisely the contribution from M2-branes



**Figure 11**. Toric diagram of three points blow up of local  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ .

on the two-cycle associated with  $Q_f Q_1^{-1} Q_2^{-1}$ . Such M2-branes are not charged under the SU(2) gauge symmetry, and to be decoupled. This gives a physical interpretation of the ratio  $Z_{N_f=2}^{(2)}/Z_{U(1)}^{=}$ . Note also that there is no other contributions from decoupled M2-branes in the second diagram of figure 9.

Despite the above difference between  $Z_{N_f=2}^{(1)}$  and  $Z_{N_f=2}^{(2)}$ , we find that they are in fact the same apart from decoupled factors which are independent of the Coulomb branch parameter. Two partition functions are related by

$$Z_{N_f=2}^{(1)}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} = Z_{N_f=2}^{(2)}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}.$$
 (4.14)

The physical reason for this relation will be clear in the next subsection.

 $N_f = 3$ . The toric diagram for the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  at  $N_f = 3$  points is shown in figure 11. The corresponding topological string partition function is given by

$$Z_{N_{f}=3}=(M(t,q)M(q,t))^{1/2}Z(t,q,Q),$$

$$Z(t,q,Q)=\sum_{\vec{\nu},\vec{\mu}}(-Q_{b})^{|\nu_{1}|}(-Q_{1})^{|\mu_{1}|}(-Q_{2})^{|\mu_{2}|}(-Q_{3})^{|\mu_{3}|}(-Q_{f}Q_{1}^{-1}Q_{3}^{-1})^{|\nu_{4}|}(-Q_{f}Q_{2}^{-1})^{|\nu_{3}|}(-Q_{b}Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{3}^{-1})^{|\nu_{2}|}$$

$$\times f_{\nu_{1}^{t}}(q,t)\tilde{f}_{\nu_{4}^{t}}(t,q)C_{\emptyset\mu_{1}\nu_{1}^{t}}(q,t)C_{\nu_{4}\mu_{1}^{t}\emptyset}(t,q)C_{\mu_{3}\nu_{4}^{t}\emptyset}(t,q)C_{\mu_{3}^{t}\emptyset\nu_{2}}(q,t)C_{\mu_{2}^{t}\emptyset\nu_{1}}(t,q)C_{\mu_{2}\nu_{3}^{t}\emptyset}(q,t)C_{\emptyset\nu_{3}\nu_{2}^{t}}(t,q).$$
(4.15)

The final expression we obtain is

$$Z_{N_{f}=3} = Z_{0}Z_{\text{inst}},$$

$$Z_{0} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{3} (1 - e^{-i\lambda + m_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1 - e^{-i\lambda - m_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^{i}t^{j-1})^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 - q^{i-1}t^{j})^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 - e^{-2i\lambda}q^{i}t^{j-1})(1 - e^{-2i\lambda}q^{i-1}t^{j})(1 - e^{-i(m_{1}+m_{3})}q^{i-1}t^{j})},$$

$$Z_{\text{inst}} = \sum_{\nu_{1},\nu_{2}} u^{|\nu_{1}|+|\nu_{2}|} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} \prod_{s \in \nu_{\alpha}} \frac{e^{\frac{i}{2}(E_{\alpha\emptyset} + i\gamma_{1})} \left(\prod_{a=1}^{2} 2i\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\emptyset} + i\gamma_{1} - m_{a}}{2}\right) \left(2i\sin\frac{-E_{\alpha\emptyset} - i\gamma_{1} - m_{3}}{2}\right)}{\prod_{\beta=1}^{2}(2i)^{2}\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\beta} + 2i\gamma_{1}}{2}}.$$
(4.16)

We again relate the Kähler parameters of the string theory with the gauge theory parameters such that

$$u = Q_b Q_1^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_2^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_3^{-\frac{1}{2}} Q_f^{-\frac{1}{4}}, \quad Q_f = e^{-2i\lambda}, \quad Q_{a=1,2,3} = e^{-i\lambda + im_a}$$
(4.17)

This partition function can be also identified with the Nekrasov partition function. The factor  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  is precisely the 5d instanton partition function of the U(2) gauge theory at Chern-Simons level  $\kappa = +\frac{1}{2}$ , which is deduced from the phase factor  $e^{\frac{i}{2}(E_{\alpha\emptyset}+i\gamma_1)}$  in the numerator, with two fundamental and one anti-fundamental hypermultiplets with masses  $m_{a=1,2,3}$ . The factor  $Z_0$  divided by the following factor

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \equiv \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i(m_1 + m_3)} q^{i-1} t^j)^{-1} \,. \tag{4.18}$$



**Figure 12**. Toric diagram of four points blow up of local  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ .

gives the perturbative contribution to the U(2) gauge theory partition function with three fundamental flavors. Therefore  $Z_{N_f=3}/Z_{U(1)}^{=}$  coincides with the full Nekrasov partition function of U(2) gauge theory with three flavors and Chern-Simons level 1/2.

Note here that  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is the contribution from M2-branes on the two-cycle associated with  $Q_f Q_1^{-1} Q_3^{-1}$ . Since such M2-branes are not charged under the SU(2) gauge symmetry, it is reasonable to take the ratio  $Z_{N_f=3}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$ . However, there is still a contribution from decoupled M2-branes wrapping the two-cycle associated with  $Q_b = ue^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1+m_2-m_3)}$ . In the same way as in the  $N_f = 2$  case, such contribution is evaluated by setting all the fugacities to be zero except for  $Q_b$ . The result is

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} \equiv \prod_{k,\ell=1}^{\infty} (1 - ue^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2 - m_3)} q^k t^{\ell-1})^{-1}.$$
(4.19)

This contribution is still included in  $Z_{N_f=3}/Z_{U(1)}^{=}$ .

 $N_f = 4$ . Let us study the final example of this subsection. The toric diagram for the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  at  $N_f = 4$  points is shown in figure 12. The corresponding topological string partition function is given by

$$Z_{N_{f}=4} = (M(t,q)M(q,t))^{1/2}Z(t,q,Q),$$

$$Z(t,q,Q) = \sum_{\vec{\nu},\vec{\mu}} (-Q_{b})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{1})^{|\mu_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\mu_{2}|} (-Q_{3})^{|\mu_{3}|} (-Q_{4})^{|\mu_{4}|} (-Q_{f}Q_{1}^{-1}Q_{3}^{-1})^{|\nu_{4}|} (-Q_{f}Q_{2}^{-1}Q_{4}^{-1})^{|\nu_{3}|} \times (-Q_{b}Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{3}^{-1}Q_{4}^{-1})^{|\nu_{2}|} f_{\nu_{1}^{t}}(q,t) f_{\nu_{2}^{t}}(t,q) \tilde{f}_{\nu_{3}^{t}}(q,t) \tilde{f}_{\nu_{4}^{t}}(t,q) \times C_{\emptyset\mu_{1}\nu_{1}^{t}}(q,t) C_{\nu_{4}\mu_{1}^{t}\emptyset}(t,q) C_{\mu_{3}\nu_{4}^{t}\emptyset}(t,q) C_{\mu_{3}\nu_{4}^{t}\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\mu_{2}^{t}\vartheta\nu_{2}}(q,t) C_{\mu_{2}\nu_{3}^{t}\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\psi\mu_{4}\nu_{2}^{t}}(t,q) C_{\nu_{3}\mu_{4}^{t}\emptyset}(q,t).$$

$$(4.20)$$

An explicit computation shows that the the partition function reduces to

$$Z_{N_{f}=4} = Z_{0} Z_{\text{inst}}, \qquad (4.21)$$

$$Z_{0} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{4} (1 - e^{-i\lambda + im_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda - im_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^{i} t^{j-1})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - q^{i-1} t^{j})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i} t^{j-1}) (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i-1} t^{j})}, \qquad \times \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i(m_{1}+m_{3})} q^{i-1} t^{j})^{-1} (1 - e^{-i(m_{2}+m_{4})} q^{i} t^{j-1})^{-1}, \qquad X_{\text{inst}} = \sum_{\nu_{1},\nu_{2}} u^{|\nu_{1}|+|\nu_{2}|} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} \prod_{s\in\nu_{\alpha}} \frac{\left(\prod_{a=1}^{2} 2i\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\emptyset} + i\gamma_{1} - m_{a}}{2}\right) \left(\prod_{a=3}^{4} 2i\sin\frac{-E_{\alpha\emptyset} - i\gamma_{1} - m_{a}}{2}\right)}{\prod_{\beta=1}^{2} (2i)^{2}\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\beta}}{2}\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\beta} + 2i\gamma_{1}}{2}}, \qquad (4.21)$$

in terms of the gauge theory parameters

$$u = Q_b Q_1^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_2^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_3^{-\frac{1}{2}} Q_4^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad Q_f = e^{-2i\lambda}, \quad Q_{a=1,2,3,4} = e^{-i\lambda + im_a}.$$
(4.22)

When we define

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \equiv \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i(m_1 + m_3)} q^{i-1} t^j)^{-1} (1 - e^{-i(m_2 + m_4)} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1}, \qquad (4.23)$$

 $Z_{N_f=4}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  turns out to coincide with the Nekrasov partition function of the U(2) gauge theory with two fundamental and two anti-fundamental hypermultiplets without a classical Chern-Simons term.

Note here that  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is the contribution from M2-branes on the two-cycles associated with  $Q_f Q_1^{-1} Q_3^{-1}$  and  $Q_f Q_2^{-1} Q_4^{-1}$ . Since such M2-branes have no electric charge of SU(2) gauge symmetry, it is reasonable to consider the ratio  $Z_{N_f=4}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$ . However, there is still a contribution from decoupled M2-branes on the two-cycles associated with  $Q_b =$  $ue^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1+m_2-m_3-m_4)}$  and  $Q_b Q_1 Q_2 Q_3^{-1} Q_4^{-1} = ue^{+\frac{i}{2}(m_1+m_2-m_3-m_4)}$ . Such a contribution is evaluated by setting all the other fugacities to be zero, which leads to

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} \equiv \prod_{k,\ell=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - u e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2 - m_3 - m_4)} q^k t^{\ell-1} \right)^{-1} \left( 1 - u e^{+\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2 - m_3 - m_4)} q^{k-1} t^\ell \right)^{-1}.$$
(4.24)

This factor is still included in  $Z_{N_f=4}/Z_{U(1)}^{=}$ .

### 4.1.2 (p,q) webs of $T_{N=2,3,4}$ theories

For 5d Sp(1) gauge theories with  $N_f \geq 5$  flavors, the relevant Calabi-Yau threefold is not toric. However, as we will see later, they are closely related to the 5d  $T_N$ -theory which is engineered by a toric Calabi-Yau threefold. Therefore we now evaluate the refined topological string partition function associated with the 5d  $T_N$  theory, especially for N =2,3,4. The results then show their relations to the Nekrasov partition functions of certain linear quiver theories.

Warm up:  $T_2$  theory. The toric Calabi-Yau threefold engineering  $T_2$  theory is the resolved  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2)$ , whose toric diagram is shown in figure 13. This multi-junction system has SU(2)<sup>3</sup> flavor symmetry realized by two external lines in each of the left, bottom and upper-right directions. The corresponding 5d theory is given by eight free chiral superfields transforming under the flavor symmetry. The Higgs branch of the theory is complex eight dimensional. The Kähler parameters  $Q_1, Q_2, Q_3$  of the geometry are associated to the mass parameter of those chirals. The Coulomb branch of this theory is absent since we have no compact four-cycle.

Given the web diagram, the topological string partition function is simply given by [59–61]

$$\tilde{Z}_{T_2} = \sum_{\mu_1,\mu_2,\mu_3} (-Q_1)^{|\mu_1|} (-Q_2)^{|\mu_2|} (-Q_3)^{|\mu_3|} C_{\emptyset \emptyset \mu_1^t}(q,t) C_{\emptyset \mu_2 \emptyset}(q,t) C_{\mu_3 \emptyset \emptyset}(q,t) C_{\mu_3^t \mu_2^t \mu_1}(t,q)$$



Figure 13. Toric diagram of  $T_2$  theory.

$$=\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-e^{-im_2}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-e^{im_3}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{1-e^{-im_2+im_3}q^it^{j-1}} \sum_{\mu_1} u^{|\mu_1|} \prod_{s\in\mu_1} \frac{\sin\frac{E_{1\emptyset}-m_2+i\gamma_1}{2}\sin\frac{E_{1\emptyset}-m_3+i\gamma_1}{2}}{\sin\frac{E_{11}}{2}\sin\frac{E_{11}+2i\gamma_1}{2}}, (4.25)$$

where

$$\lambda_1 = \lambda_{\emptyset} = 0, \quad Q_1 Q_2^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_3^{\frac{1}{2}} = -u, \quad Q_2 = e^{-im_2}, \quad Q_3 = e^{im_3}.$$
 (4.26)

One can easily check that the partition function  $Z_{T_2}$  is the Nekrasov partition function of the U(1) gauge theory with 2 fundamental flavors whose mass parameters are  $m_1, m_2$ , up to the extra free factor in the denominator of the first infinite product. We can also use the identity [61]

$$\sum_{\mu} (-Q_1)^{|\mu|} q^{\frac{||\mu_t||^2}{2}} t^{\frac{||\mu||^2}{2}} \prod_{s \in \mu} \frac{(1 - Q_2 q^{a_\emptyset(s) + \frac{1}{2}} t^{l_\mu(s) + \frac{1}{2}})(1 - Q_3 q^{-a_\emptyset(s) - \frac{1}{2}} t^{-l_\mu(s) - \frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^{a_\mu(s) + 1} t^{l_\mu(s)})(1 - q^{a_\mu(s)} t^{l_\mu(s) + 1})}$$
  
= 
$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - Q_1 q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})(1 - Q_1 Q_2 Q_3 q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - Q_1 Q_2 q^{i - 1} t^j)(1 - Q_1 Q_3 q^{i t^{j - 1}})}$$
(4.27)

to simplify the partition function as

$$\tilde{Z}_{T_2} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - Q_1 q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1 - Q_2 q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1 - Q_3 q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1 - Q_1 Q_2 Q_3 q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - Q_1 Q_2 q^{i-1} t^j)(1 - Q_2 Q_3 q^{i} t^{j-1})(1 - Q_1 Q_3 q^{i} t^{j-1})}.$$
(4.28)

The numerator of this formulation shows the contribution of the 4 free hypermultiplets of the  $T_2$  theory as expected.

Let us define

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \equiv \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - Q_2 Q_3 q^i t^{j-1})^{-1}, \qquad Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} \equiv \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - Q_3 Q_1 q^i t^{j-1})^{-1},$$
  

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{//} \equiv \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - Q_1 Q_2 q^{i-1} t^j)^{-1}. \qquad (4.29)$$

Then  $\tilde{Z}_{T_2}/(Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||})$  coincides with the partition function of the  $T_2$ -theory. According to the argument in section 3, the factors  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}, Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}$  and  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}$  are identified with the contribution from decoupled M2-branes on two-cycles associated with  $Q_2Q_3, Q_3Q_1$  and  $Q_1Q_2$ , respectively. All the two-cycles can be continuously moved to infinity, and therefore



Figure 14. Toric diagram of  $T_3$  theory.

it is reasonable to eliminate them. Now let us consider  $\tilde{Z}_{T_2}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$ . From (4.25), it follows that  $\tilde{Z}_{T_2}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  coincides with the Nekrasov partition function of the U(1) gauge theory with two fundamental matters. This strongly suggests that the  $T_N$ -theory partition function is related to the partition function of some simpler gauge theory with Lagrangian description.

 $T_3$  theory. We now consider the  $T_3$  theory engineered by  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_3)$ . The relevant toric web diagram is shown in figure 14. The theory has a global symmetry  $\mathrm{SU}(3)^3$ , which is visible from the diagram, and in fact the symmetry is enhanced to  $E_6$  [7]. The Coulomb branch of this theory is one dimensional corresponding to the size of the hexagon in the center of the diagram. The theory also has a Higgs branch of complex dimension 22, which is the same dimension as the dimension of the one instanton moduli space of  $E_6$  gauge theory. These properties of the  $T_3$  theory allow us to relate it with  $\mathrm{SU}(2)$  gauge theory with  $N_f = 5$  fundamental hypermultiplets in 5d.<sup>16</sup> We will compare the partition functions of two theories in the next section, which provides a strong evidence for the relation.

The diagram leads to the  $T_3$  partition function

$$\tilde{Z}_{T_{3}} = (M(t,q)M(q,t))^{1/2}Z(t,q,Q),$$

$$Z(t,q,Q) = \sum_{\vec{\nu},\vec{\mu}} (-Q_{1})^{|\mu_{1}|} (-Q_{2})^{|\mu_{2}|} (-Q_{3})^{|\mu_{3}|} (-Q_{4})^{|\mu_{4}|} (-Q_{5})^{|\mu_{5}|} (-Q_{b})^{|\nu_{1}|} (-Q_{b}Q_{1}Q_{2}^{-1}Q_{4}^{-1})^{|\nu_{2}|} \\
\times (-Q_{f}Q_{1}^{-1}Q_{2}^{-1})^{|\nu_{3}|} (-Q_{f}Q_{4}^{-1})^{|\nu_{4}|} f_{\nu_{2}^{t}}(t,q) \tilde{f}_{\nu_{3}^{t}}(q,t) C_{\emptyset\nu_{4}\nu_{1}^{t}}(q,t) C_{\mu_{4}\nu_{4}^{t}\mu_{5}^{t}}(t,q) C_{\emptyset\emptyset\mu_{5}}(q,t) C_{\mu_{4}^{t}\psi_{2}}(q,t) \\
\times C_{\mu_{1}^{t}\mu_{3}^{t}\nu_{1}}(t,q) C_{\emptyset\mu_{3}\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\mu_{1}\nu_{3}^{t}\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\nu_{3}\mu_{2}^{t}\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\emptyset\mu_{2}\nu_{2}^{t}}(t,q).$$
(4.30)

A short calculation gives the simple result

$$\begin{split} Z_{T_3} &= Z_0 \cdot Z_{\text{inst}} ,\\ Z_0 &= \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - e^{i\lambda - im_3} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})(1 - e^{-i\lambda - im_3} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^{i t j - 1})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - q^{i - 1} t^j)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i t j - 1})(1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i - 1} t^j)} \\ &\qquad \times \prod_{a=1,2,4}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i\lambda + im_a} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})(1 - e^{-i\lambda - im_a} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) \\ &\qquad \times \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-im_1 + im_2} q^i t^{j - 1})^{-1} (1 - e^{im_1 - im_3} q^i t^{j - 1})^{-1} (1 - e^{im_2 - im_3} q^i t^{j - 1})^{-1} ,\\ Z_{\text{inst}} &= \sum_{\nu_1, \nu_2, \mu_5} u_2^{|\nu_1| + |\nu_2|} u_1^{|\mu_5|} \left[ \prod_{\alpha=1}^2 \prod_{s \in \nu_{\alpha}} \frac{\left( \prod_{a=1}^3 2i \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \emptyset} - m_a + i\gamma_1}{2} \right)}{\prod_{\beta=1}^2 (2i)^2 \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \beta}}{2} \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \beta} + 2i\gamma_1}{2}} \right] \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>As mentioned already, for a 5d Sp(1) gauge theory with  $N_f \ge 5$ , the relevant Calabi-Yau threefold is *not* toric with a generic complex structure. However, in the case of  $N_f = 5$ , there is a special choice of complex structure with which the Calabi-Yau threefold becomes toric.

$$\times \prod_{s \in \mu_5} \frac{\prod_{\alpha=1}^2 2i \sin \frac{E_{5\alpha} + m_4 + i\gamma_1}{2}}{(2i)^2 \sin \frac{E_{55}}{2} \sin \frac{E_{55} + 2i\gamma_1}{2}} \right],\tag{4.31}$$

where we used the parametrization

$$Q_b Q_1^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_2^{-\frac{1}{2}} Q_3^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_4^{-\frac{1}{2}} = -u_2, \quad Q_f = e^{-2i\lambda}, \quad Q_5 = -e^{i\lambda} u_1, \\ Q_1 = e^{-i\lambda + im_1}, \quad Q_2 = e^{-i\lambda - im_2}, \quad Q_3 = e^{i\lambda - im_3}, \quad Q_4 = e^{-i\lambda - im_4}, \quad (4.32)$$

and  $\lambda_{\emptyset} = \lambda_5 = 0$ . Let us define

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \equiv \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-im_1 + im_2} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - e^{im_1 - im_3} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - e^{im_2 - im_3} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} .$$
(4.33)

Then it is easy to see that  $\tilde{Z}_{T_3}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is precisely the U(2) × U(1) gauge theory partition function with three hypermultiplets in the fundamental representation of U(2) and one bi-fundamental hypermultiplet. The instanton part  $Z_{\mathrm{inst}}$  takes the form of a instanton summation for two gauge groups with instanton fugacities  $u_1$  and  $u_2$ .

Note here that  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is the contribution from M2-branes on the two-cycles associated with  $Q_f Q_1^{-1} Q_2^{-1}$ ,  $Q_1 Q_3$  and  $Q_f Q_2^{-1} Q_3$ . Since such M2-branes are decoupled in the 5d gauge theory, it is reasonable to take the ratio  $\tilde{Z}_{T_3}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$ . The three two-cycles are associated with the pairs of *horizontal* parallel external lines in figure 14. There are also two-cycles associated with pairs of *bottom* or *upper-right* parallel external lines. Since they have vanishing intersections with the compact four-cycle, they also support decoupled M2-branes. We denote by  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}$  and  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}$  the contributions from such M2-branes associated with the bottom and upper-right external lines, respectively. Their explicit expressions are obtained in section 5.

 $T_4$  theory. The computation of the partition function of the  $T_4$  theory can be done in the same manner. The relevant Calabi-Yau threefold is  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_4 \times \mathbb{Z}_4)$ , whose toric web-diagram is depicted in figure 15.

The topological string partition function is evaluated as

$$\tilde{Z}_{T_4} = (M(t,q)M(q,t))^{\frac{3}{2}}Z(t,q,Q), \qquad (4.34)$$

where

$$Z(t,q,Q) = \sum_{\nu,\mu} (-Q_1)^{|\mu_1|} (-Q_2)^{|\mu_2|} (-Q_3)^{|\mu_3|} (-Q_4)^{|\mu_4|} (-Q_5)^{|\mu_5|} (-Q_6)^{|\mu_6|} (-Q_7)^{|\mu_7|} (-Q_8)^{|\mu_8|} 
(-Q_{b_1})^{|\nu_1|} (-Q_{b_1}Q_2)^{|\nu_2|} (-Q_{b_1}Q_2Q_3Q_4^{-1}Q_5Q_6^{-1})^{|\nu_3|} (-Q_{f_1})^{|\nu_4|} (-Q_{f_1}Q_2^{-1})^{|\nu_5|} 
(-Q_{f_2}Q_5^{-1}Q_6^{-1})^{|\nu_6|} (-Q_{f_2}Q_{\mu_3}^{-1}Q_{\mu_4}^{-1})^{|\nu_7|} (-Q_{b_2})^{|\nu_8|} (-Q_{b_2}Q_7^{-1})^{|\nu_9|} (-Q_{f_2}Q_5^{-1}Q_6^{-1}Q_7^{-1})^{|\nu_{10}|} 
f_{\nu_2^t}(q,t)f_{\nu_3^t}(t,q)\tilde{f}_{\nu_4^t}(q,t)\tilde{f}_{\nu_6^t}(t,q)\tilde{f}_{\nu_7^t}(q,t)f_{\nu_8^t}(t,q) 
C_{\emptyset\mu_1^t\emptyset}(q,t)C_{\mu_2\mu_1\nu_1^t}(t,q)C_{\mu_2^t\nu_5\emptyset}(q,t)C_{\mu_3^t\nu_5^{t\nu_2}}(t,q)C_{\mu_3\nu_7^{t\emptyset}}(q,t)C_{\nu_7\mu_4^t\emptyset}(q,t)C_{\emptyset\mu_4\nu_3^t}(t,q) 
C_{\emptyset\nu_4^t\nu_1}(q,t)C_{\nu_4\mu_5\nu_2^t}(q,t)C_{\nu_6\mu_5^t\nu_8^t}(t,q)C_{\mu_6\nu_6^t\nu_9}(t,q)C_{\mu_6^t\emptyset\nu_3}(q,t) 
C_{\emptyset\nu_{10}^t\nu_8}(q,t)C_{\mu_7^t\nu_{10}\mu_8^t}(t,q)C_{\mu_7\emptyset\nu_9^t}(q,t)C_{\emptyset\emptyset\emptyset_8}(q,t).$$
(4.35)

There are three compact divisors  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  and D' corresponding to the three loops in figure 15. The expansion parameters of the Kähler form J by the three compact divisors are the Coulomb branch parameters and we take

$$J \supset a_1 D_1 + a_2 D_2 + a' D' \,. \tag{4.36}$$



**Figure 15**. A toric diagram of  $T_4$  theory of a particular triangulation.  $D_1, D_2$  and D' stand for the compact divisors corresponding to the three closed loops in the web diagram.

The intersection between the two-cycles in figure 15 and (4.36) gives the Coulomb branch parameter dependence of the particles which arise from M2-branes wrapping on the twocycles. With this information, we choose the parameters in the low energy effective theory in the following way.

$$Q_1 = e^{ia_1 - im_1}, Q_2 = e^{-ia_1 + im_2}, Q_3 = e^{i(a_1 - a_2) + im_3}, Q_4 = e^{-ia_2 - im_4},$$
(4.37)

$$Q_5 = e^{i(a_1 - a_2 + a') + i\tilde{m}_1}, Q_6 = e^{i(-a_2 + a') - i\tilde{m}_1}, Q_7 = e^{-ia' - i\tilde{m}_2}, Q_8 = -u_3 e^{ia'}, \quad (4.38)$$

$$Q_{f_1} = e^{i(-2a_1 + a_2)}, Q_{f_2} = e^{i(a_1 - 2a_2)},$$
(4.39)

$$Q_{\nu_1}Q_1^{\frac{1}{2}}Q_2^{\frac{1}{2}}Q_3^{\frac{1}{2}}Q_4^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q_5^{\frac{1}{2}}Q_6^{-\frac{1}{2}} = -u_1, \quad Q_{\nu_8}Q_5Q_6^{\frac{1}{2}}Q_7^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q_{f_1}^{\frac{1}{2}} = u_2.$$
(4.40)

Under the parameterization (4.37)–(4.40), the straightforward calculation shows that eq. (4.35) yields

$$\tilde{Z}_{T_4} = Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \cdot Z_0 \cdot Z_{\mathrm{inst}} \,. \tag{4.41}$$

where

$$Z_{0} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{Z_{0}^{\text{numerator}}}{(1-q^{i}t^{j-1})^{3/2}(1-q^{i-1}t^{j})^{3/2}[\prod_{\alpha<\beta}^{3}(1-e^{-i(\lambda_{\alpha}-\lambda_{\beta})}q^{i}t^{j-1})(1-e^{-i(\lambda_{\alpha}-\lambda_{\beta})}q^{i-1}t^{j})]} \times \frac{1}{(1-e^{-2i\lambda'}q^{i}t^{j-1})(1-e^{-2i\lambda'}q^{i-1}t^{j})} \right\}.$$

$$(4.42)$$

Here,  $Z_0^{\text{numerator}}$  is

$$(1 - e^{i(\lambda_3 - \lambda'_{\alpha'}) - i\tilde{m}_1} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) \Big] (1 - e^{-i\lambda' + i\tilde{m}_2} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda' - i\tilde{m}_2} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) .$$
(4.43)

This corresponds to the perturbative contribution. The numerator of (4.43) can be recast into a simpler form

$$\left[\prod_{\alpha=1}^{3}\prod_{a=1}^{4}(1-e^{-i\lambda_{\alpha}+im_{a}}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})\right]\left[\prod_{\alpha=1}^{3}\prod_{\alpha'=1}^{2}(1-e^{-i(\lambda_{\alpha}-i\lambda'_{\alpha'})+i\tilde{m}_{1}}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})\right]\left[\prod_{\alpha'=1}^{2}(1-e^{-i\lambda'_{\alpha'}+i\tilde{m}_{2}}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})\right],$$

$$(4.44)$$

if we ignore divergent terms. The factor  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is given by

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i(m_1 - m_2)} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - e^{-i(m_1 - m_3)} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - e^{-i(m_1 - m_4)} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - e^{-i(m_2 - m_3)} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - e^{-i(m_2 - m_4)} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - e^{-i(m_3 - m_4)} q^i t^{j-1})^{-1}, \quad (4.45)$$

and finally  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  is the instanton partition function

$$Z_{\text{inst}} = \sum_{\nu_{1},\nu_{2},\nu_{3},\tilde{\nu}_{1},\tilde{\nu}_{2},\mu_{8}} u_{1}^{|\nu_{1}|+|\nu_{2}|+|\nu_{3}|} u_{2}^{|\tilde{\nu}_{1}|+|\tilde{\nu}_{2}|} u_{3}^{|\mu_{8}|} \\ \left[ \prod_{\alpha=1}^{3} \prod_{s\in\nu_{\alpha}} \frac{\left( \prod_{a=1}^{4} 2i\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\emptyset}-m_{a}+i\gamma_{1}}{2} \right) \left( \prod_{\alpha'=1}^{2} 2i\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\alpha'}-\tilde{m}_{1}+i\gamma_{1}}{2} \right)}{\prod_{\beta=1}^{3} (2i)^{2}\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\beta}}{2}\sin\frac{E_{\alpha\beta}+2i\gamma_{1}}{2}} \right] \\ \prod_{\alpha'=1}^{2} \prod_{s\in\tilde{\nu}_{\alpha'}} \frac{\left( \prod_{\alpha=1}^{3} 2i\sin\frac{E_{\alpha'\alpha}+\tilde{m}_{1}+i\gamma_{1}}{2} \right) \left( 2i\sin\frac{E_{\alpha'}+\tilde{m}_{2}+i\gamma_{1}}{2} \right)}{\prod_{\beta'=1}^{2} (2i)^{2}\sin\frac{E_{\alpha'\beta'}+\tilde{m}_{2}+i\gamma_{1}}{2}} \\ \prod_{s\in\mu_{8}} \frac{\prod_{\alpha'=1}^{2} 2i\sin\frac{E_{\mu_{8}\mu_{8}}}{2}\sin\frac{E_{\mu_{8}\mu_{8}}+2i\gamma_{1}}{2}}{\left( 2i \right)^{2}\sin\frac{E_{\mu_{8}\mu_{8}}+2i\gamma_{1}}{2}} \right].$$

$$(4.46)$$

The Coulomb branch parameters  $\lambda_{\alpha}$  and  $\lambda'_{\alpha'}$  are

$$\lambda_1 = a_1, \qquad \lambda_2 = -a_1 + a_2, \qquad \lambda_3 = -a_2, \qquad (4.47)$$

$$\lambda_1' = \lambda' = a', \qquad \lambda_2' = -\lambda' = -a', \qquad \lambda_{\mu_8} = 0, \qquad (4.48)$$

and we also defined  $\tilde{\nu}_1 := \nu_8$  and  $\tilde{\nu}_2 := \nu_9$ .

Here the ratio  $\tilde{Z}_{T_4}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is nothing but the Nekrasov partition function of U(3) × U(2) × U(1) gauge theory with four hypermultiplets in the fundamental representation of U(3), a bi-fundamental hypermultiplet of U(3) × U(2) and a bi-fundamental hypermultiplet of U(2) × U(1) except for the perturbative U(1) Cartan contribution.<sup>17</sup> Note that  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is the contribution from decoupled M2-branes on the two-cycles associated with pairs of horizontal parallel external lines in figure 15. We similarly define  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}$  and  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||}$  for the bottom and upper-right parallel external lines, respectively. The explicit expression for them are obtained in section 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>The lack of some perturbative U(1) parts is not a contradiction because our Euler characteristic  $\chi(X)$  originally has an ambiguity. We can shift  $\chi(X)$  by six to recover them.



Figure 16. When the two external lines are preferred directions,  $r_{\beta} = +1/2$  or  $r_{\beta} = -1/2$ , depending on the relative positions of the q- and t-directions. In each picture, the red lines are two parallel external lines associated with the two-cycle  $\beta$ , and the gray region is arbitrary. The left and right situations give  $r_{\beta} = +1/2$  and  $r_{\beta} = -1/2$ , respectively.

#### 4.2 U(1) factors

In the previous subsection, we evaluated the refined topological string partition function  $Z_{\text{top}}$  on various toric Calabi-Yau threefolds X. We have particularly found that if X engineers Sp(1) gauge theories then  $Z_{\text{top}}/Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=}$  reproduces the Nekrasov partition functions of U(2) gauge theories rather than Sp(1). Moreover, if X engineers the  $T_N$ -theory for  $N = 2, 3, 4, Z_{\text{top}}/Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=}$  gives the Nekrasov partition function of  $U(N-1) \times U(N-2) \times \cdots U(1)$  linear quiver gauge theory, rather than the  $T_N$ -theory. The reason for this is that we have not eliminated all the decoupled M2-branes from  $Z_{\text{top}}$ .

As discussed in subsection 3.2,  $Z_{\text{top}}$  contains various contributions from M2-branes which are not charged under the 5d gauge symmetry engineered. The factor  $Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=}$  is a part of such contributions, but there are still contributions from decoupled M2-branes which are *not* included in  $Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=}$ . Such M2-branes give a further prefactor  $Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{\text{others}}$  of  $Z_{\text{top}}$ . To be specific, in 4.1.1 we have

$$Z_{\rm U(1)}^{\rm others} = Z_{\rm U(1)}^{||} \tag{4.49}$$

and in 4.1.2

$$Z_{\rm U(1)}^{\rm others} = Z_{\rm U(1)}^{||} Z_{\rm U(1)}^{//}.$$
(4.50)

Then the total factor to be eliminated is

$$Z_{\rm U(1)} = Z_{\rm U(1)}^{=} Z_{\rm U(1)}^{\rm others}.$$
(4.51)

We call the total  $Z_{U(1)}$  the "U(1)-factor."

Now we claim that  $Z_{top}/Z_{U(1)}$  correctly reproduces the Nekrasov partition function of Sp(1) gauge theories and  $T_N$ -theories. In the next subsection, we will explicitly show this for the Sp(1) gauge theory with  $N_f = 2, 3, 4$  flavors as well as the  $T_3$ -theory. Note that this claim naturally explains the relation (4.14) in the case of two-point blowup of the local  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ . Namely the both sides of (4.14) give the same Nekrasov partition function of the SU(2) gauge theory with two fundamental matters; for SU(2) there is no distinction between **2** and  $\overline{\mathbf{2}}$ .

The detail of the U(1)-factor depends on the toric Calabi-Yau three-fold X, but there is a general expression:

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)} = \prod_{\beta \mid \beta \cdot D_i = 0} \prod_{m,n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{m - (1/2 + r_\beta)} t^{n - (1/2 - r_\beta)} Q_\beta)^{-1}.$$
 (4.52)

Here  $\beta$  runs over compact two-cycles whose intersection number with every compact fourcycle vanishes. Therefore  $Q_{\beta} = \exp(-2\pi t \cdot \beta)$  is independent of the Coulomb branch parameters of the 5d gauge theory, while it could contain fugacities for gauge theory instantons. In the bracket of (4.52), we set  $r_{\beta} = +1/2$  or  $r_{\beta} = -1/2$ . The sign of  $r_{\beta}$  is determined as follows. Suppose that  $\beta$  is a two-cycle whose intersection vanishes with every compact four-cycle. In the toric web-diagram, such  $\beta$  is associated with a pair of parallel external lines.<sup>18</sup> Now, if the parallel external lines are t-directions, we set  $r_{\beta} = +1/2$ . If they are q-directions then we set  $r_{\beta} = -1/2$ . If they are preferred directions, it depends on the relative positions of the neighboring q- and t-directions. Namely  $r_{\beta} = +1/2$  or  $r_{\beta} = -1/2$ if we have the left or right situation in figure 16, respectively. Note that, in all our examples in subsection 4.1,  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is a part of (4.52) coming from  $\beta$  for *horizontal* parallel external lines. On the other hand,  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\text{others}}$  comes from  $\beta$  for *non-horizontal* parallel external lines.

We can explain the expression (4.52) from the viewpoint of the moduli space of M2branes. Recall that the U(1)-factor is the contribution of decoupled M2-branes which are neutral under the 5d gauge symmetry engineered. As discussed in section 3, such a contribution is written as

$$\prod_{\beta \mid \beta \cdot D_i = 0} \prod_{(j_L, j_R)} \prod_{\ell = -j_L}^{j_L} \prod_{r = -j_R}^{j_R} \prod_{m, n = 1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{\ell - r + m - 1/2} t^{\ell + r + n - 1/2} Q_\beta)^{(-1)^{2j_L + 2j_R} N_{j_L, j_R}^{(\beta)}}, \quad (4.53)$$

where the integer  $N_{j_L,j_R}^{(\beta)}$  is the BPS degeneracy of M2-branes wrapping on  $\beta$  with spins  $(j_L, j_R)$ . The BPS degeneracy  $N_{j_L,j_R}^{(\beta)}$  has a nice interpretation in the moduli space of M2-branes [46]. To see this, let  $\mathcal{M}$  be the moduli space of the deformations of  $\beta$  in the Calabi-Yau three-fold X. Let us also denote by  $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}$  the moduli space of deformations of  $\beta$  with a flat U(1) bundle on it. There is a fiber structure

$$\widehat{\mathcal{M}} \to \mathcal{M} \tag{4.54}$$

where the fiber is the moduli space of flat bundles over  $\beta$ . In physical language,  $\mathcal{M}$  is the moduli space of a single D2-brane on  $\beta$  while  $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}$  is that of a single M2-brane on  $\beta$ .<sup>19</sup> Recall that the left and right spins  $(j_L, j_R)$  are charges associated with  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R$ . In terms of the moduli space of the M2-brane, the actions of  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R$  and  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$  are identified with  $\mathrm{SL}(2)$  Lefschetz actions in the base and fiber directions of (4.54), respectively [46]. Then the cohomology  $H^*(\widehat{\mathcal{M}})$  has the following decomposition [46, 62]:

$$H^*(\widehat{\mathcal{M}}) = \bigoplus_{j_L, j_R} N_{j_L, j_R}^{(\beta)}[j_L, j_R], \qquad (4.55)$$

where  $[j_L, j_R]$  is a subspace of  $H^*(\mathcal{M})$  corresponding to the spin multiplet  $(j_L, j_R)$ . Although  $H^*(\widehat{\mathcal{M}})$  is highly non-trivial for general  $\beta$ , it is quite simple for our  $\beta$  whose intersection number with every compact four-cycle vanishes. Recall that our  $\beta$  is associated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>In other words, the "north" and "south" poles of  $\beta$  are attached to the two parallel external lines.

 $<sup>^{19}</sup>$ When regarding an M2-brane as a bound state of a D2-brane and D0-branes, the U(1) flux is identified with the D0-charge.

with two parallel external lines in the web-diagram. To be more precise,  $\beta$  is a genus zero curve whose area is given by the distance between the two external lines. Since the moduli space of flat bundles over a genus zero curve is a single point, the fiber of (4.54) is a single point for our  $\beta$ . Therefore only  $j_L = 0$  is allowed. On the other hand, we can continuously move our  $\beta$  along the parallel external lines in the web-diagram. This means that the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}$  of our  $\beta$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}$ ; the boundary at infinity in  $\mathbb{C}$ corresponds to moving  $\beta$  to infinity in X. Since  $\mathcal{M}$  is non-compact,  $H^*(\mathcal{M})$  does not have a Lefschetz decomposition. To overcome this difficulty, let us compactify  $\mathcal{M}$  by adding a point at infinity. The compactified moduli space is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , whose cohomologies have a Lefschetz decomposition corresponding to a single  $j_R = 1/2$  multiplet. Hence, if the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}$  is compactified, we have

$$H^*(\widehat{\mathcal{M}}) = \left[0, \frac{1}{2}\right]. \tag{4.56}$$

This implies that the BPS degeneracy of M2-branes wrapping on our  $\beta$  is given by  $N_{j_L,j_R}^{(\beta)} = \delta_{j_L,0} \delta_{j_R,\frac{1}{2}}$ . Then the U(1) factor (4.53) turns out to be

$$\prod_{\beta \mid \beta \cdot D_i = 0} \prod_{r = -\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \prod_{m,n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{m - (1/2 + r)} t^{n - (1/2 - r)} Q_{\beta})^{-1}.$$
(4.57)

Note here that, to obtain this result, we have compactified  $\mathcal{M}$  by adding a point at infinity. The point at infinity in  $\mathcal{M}$  corresponds to an M2-brane at infinity in the Calabi-Yau three-fold X. However, when  $Z_{\text{top}}$  is computed via the refined topological vertex, all such contributions from infinity are omitted. Then r in (4.57) does not run over the whole *right* spin components. We should rather fix r to be +1/2 or -1/2.<sup>20</sup> Hence, in the computation via the refined topological vertex, the U(1)-factor is given by (4.52). The sign of  $r_{\beta}$  depends on which *right* spin component of the M2-brane on  $\beta$  is captured by the refined topological vertex. This explains the expression (4.52).

#### 4.3 Sp(1) Nekrasov partition functions

In this section, we will compare the topological string partition functions evaluated in the previous subsection with the field theory partition functions of  $\text{Sp}(1) \cong \text{SU}(2)$  gauge theories and show how two partition functions can be identified. The Nekrasov partition functions for Sp(N) gauge theories are evaluated using localization in four-dimensions in [12, 13] and in five-dimensions in [14].

In [14],<sup>21</sup> the Nekrasov partition function is used to compute the superconformal index of 5d superconformal field theories including the SU(2) theories we are interested in this section. The 5d superconformal index (or the partition function on  $S^1 \times S^4$ ) is defined by

$$I = \operatorname{tr}\left[(-1)^{F} e^{-2(j_{1}+R)\gamma_{1}} e^{-2j_{2}} e^{-i\sum_{i}H_{i}m_{i}} u^{k}\right], \qquad (4.58)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Here the *right* spin components for  $r = \pm 1/2$  correspond to  $H^0(\mathbb{P}^1)$  and  $H^2(\mathbb{P}^1)$ . When we decompactify  $\mathbb{P}^1$  to recover  $\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathbb{C}$ , the second cohomology becomes trivial. This means that, if we omit the contribution from the point at infinity in  $\mathcal{M}$ , we lose one *right* spin component.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The same index computation is done in [56, 63] using the refined topological vertex method.

where  $j_1, j_2$  are the two Cartan generators of  $SU(2)_1 \times SU(2)_2 \subset SO(5)$  isometry on  $S^4$ , R is the Cartan generator of the SU(2) R-symmetry,  $H_i$  are the flavor charges and k is the instanton number. The corresponding fugacities are  $e^{-\gamma_1}, e^{-\gamma_2}, e^{-im_i}$  and u, respectively. In the localization computation of the index, the Nekrasov partition function corresponds to the contribution localized at the north (or south) pole of  $S^4$  and the full superconformal index is given by product of the contributions from the north and south poles.

$$I = \int [d\lambda] Z_{\text{Nekra}}(\lambda, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, m_i, u) \cdot Z_{\text{Nekra}}(-\lambda, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, -m_i, u^{-1}).$$
(4.59)

The index has the integration over the holonomy  $\lambda$  which corresponds to the Coulomb branch parameter in the Nekrasov partition function. The measure  $[d\lambda]$  includes the Haar measure and the Weyl factor of the gauge group G.

The perturbative contribution from the vector multiplet at the north pole is given by

$$Z_{\text{pert}}^{\text{vm}} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left[ (1 - q^i t^{j-1})^r (1 - q^{i-1} t^j)^r \prod_{\alpha \in \text{root}} (1 - e^{i\alpha \cdot \lambda} q^i t^{j-1}) (1 - e^{i\alpha \cdot \lambda} q^{i-1} t^j) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad (4.60)$$

where r is the rank of the gauge group, and the hypermultiplet contribution is

$$Z_{\text{pert}}^{\text{hm}} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \prod_{\alpha \in R} \left( 1 - e^{i\alpha \cdot \lambda - im} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}} \right), \tag{4.61}$$

where m denotes the chemical potential for the flavor symmetry and R denotes the weight vector of the gauge group in the representation R. To get the instanton contribution we can use the contour integral formulae (3.58), (3.61) and (3.62) in [14].

Note that, when we compare the perturbative partition functions, we often ignore divergent prefactors  $\mathcal{N}_1, \mathcal{N}_2$  given by

$$\mathcal{N}_{1} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - Qq^{i - \frac{1}{2}}t^{i - \frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - Q^{-1}q^{i - \frac{1}{2}}t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (-Qq^{-i + \frac{1}{2}}t^{-j + \frac{1}{2}}),$$
  
$$\mathcal{N}_{2} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - Qq^{i}t^{i - 1})}{(1 - Q^{-1}q^{i - 1}t^{i})} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (-Qq^{-i + 1}t^{-j}).$$
 (4.62)

Two Nekrasov partition functions can be different up to the multiplication of the divergent factors. It seems that there is an ambiguity on how to factorize the perturbative contribution of the superconformal index. However we expect that such prefactors cancels when we multiply two factorized partition functions and no ambiguity remains in the superconformal index.

# 4.3.1 $N_f = 2, 3, 4$

We can now compare the results in subsection 4.1 with the SU(2) gauge theory partition functions. It turns out that, after stripping off the "U(1) factors", the topological string partition functions  $Z^{\text{top}}$  for  $N_f = 2, 3, 4$  are exactly the same as the SU(2) Nekrasov partition function with  $N_f = 2, 3, 4$  fundamental hypermultiplets.

$$Z_{N_f}^{\text{top}} \equiv \tilde{Z}_{N_f}^{\text{top}} / Z_{\text{U}(1)} = Z_{\text{Nekra}}^{\text{SU}(2)}.$$
 (4.63)

Here,  $\tilde{Z}^{\text{top}}$  is the original partition function from the topological vertex computation and  $Z_{U(1)}$  is the U(1) factor which we can read off from the web diagram following the rule in the previous subsection.

Let us first check this equivalence for the perturbative contribution. The perturbative contributions  $Z_0^{N_f}$  of the topological string partition functions are given in (4.4), (4.16), (4.21) for the  $N_f = 2, 3, 4$  cases, respectively. As explained earlier, the perturbative contribution of the SU(2) gauge theory partition function with  $N_f$  fundamental hypermultiplets is given by

$$Z_{\text{pert}}^{N_f} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N_f} (1 - e^{i\lambda - im_a} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{\left[ (1 - q^i t^{j-1})(1 - q^{i-1} t^j)(1 - e^{2i\lambda} q^i t^{j-1})(1 - e^{2i\lambda} q^{i-1} t^j)(1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^i t^{j-1})(1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^j t^{j-1})(1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^j t^{j-1})(1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^j t^{j-1})(1 - e^{-2i\lambda$$

with mass parameters  $m_{a=1,2,\dots,N_f}$ . If we ignore the divergent factor mentioned in eqn (4.62) and remove the U(1) factor  $Z_{U(1)}^{=}$  for the *horizontal* parallel external lines, one can easily check that the  $Z_0^{N_f}$ 's are the same as the gauge theory results:

$$Z_{\text{pert}}^{N_f=2,3,4} = Z_0^{N_f=2,3,4} / Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=}, \quad (N_f=2,3,4), \qquad (4.65)$$

where the horizontal U(1) factors are given by

$$N_{f} = 2 : Z_{U(1)}^{=} = 1,$$

$$N_{f} = 3 : Z_{U(1)}^{=} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i(m_{1} + m_{3})}q^{i-1}t^{j})^{-1},$$

$$N_{f} = 4 : Z_{U(1)}^{=} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-i(m_{1} + m_{3})}q^{i-1}t^{j})^{-1}(1 - e^{-i(m_{2} + m_{4})}q^{i}t^{j-1})^{-1}.$$
(4.66)

We then turn to the instanton partition functions. We expand both partition functions by the instanton fugacity u and compare them up to several orders. The instanton parts also contain the extra factors and they can be identified from one instanton calculation. At k = 1, the field theory partition function of [14] takes the simply form of

$$Z_{k=1}^{SU(2)} = \frac{1}{32} \left[ \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N_f} 2i\sin\frac{m_a}{2}}{i^2\sinh\frac{\gamma_1\pm\gamma_2}{2}\sin\frac{i\gamma_1\pm\lambda}{2}} + \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N_f} 2\cos\frac{m_a}{2}}{\sinh\frac{\gamma_1\pm\gamma_2}{2}\cos\frac{i\gamma_1\pm\lambda}{2}} \right],$$
(4.67)

where we used a succinct notation,  $\sin(a\pm b) = \sin(a+b)\sin(a-b)$ . One can then easily take the difference of two partition functions at 1-instanton and the result simply becomes

$$N_{f} = 2 : \tilde{Z}_{k=1}^{\text{top}} - Z_{k=1}^{\text{SU}(2)} = \frac{q e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_{1}+m_{2})}}{(1-q)(1-t)}, \qquad (4.68)$$

$$N_{f} = 3 : \tilde{Z}_{k=1}^{\text{top}} - Z_{k=1}^{\text{SU}(2)} = \frac{q e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_{1}+m_{2}-m_{3})}}{(1-q)(1-t)}, \qquad (4.68)$$

$$N_{f} = 4 : \tilde{Z}_{k=1}^{\text{top}} - Z_{k=1}^{\text{SU}(2)} = \frac{q e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_{1}+m_{2}-m_{3}-m_{4})}}{(1-q)(1-t)}, \qquad (1-q)(1-t)$$

where  $\tilde{Z}_k^{\text{top}}$  denotes the k-instanton contribution of the topological string partition function computed in subsection 4.1. We note that the differences are all independent of the Coulomb branch parameter  $\lambda$ . In fact, the Plethystic exponentials of these differences are precisely equal to the U(1) factors for the *non-horizontal* parallel external lines discussed above.<sup>22</sup> They are given by<sup>23</sup>

$$N_{f} = 2 : Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - ue^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_{1} + m_{2})}q^{i}t^{j-1})^{-1}, \qquad (4.69)$$

$$N_{f} = 3 : Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - ue^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_{1} + m_{2} - m_{3})}q^{i}t^{j-1})^{-1}, \qquad (4.69)$$

$$N_{f} = 4 : Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left[ (1 - ue^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_{1} + m_{2} - m_{3} - m_{4})}q^{i}t^{j-1})(1 - ue^{\frac{i}{2}(m_{1} + m_{2} - m_{3} - m_{4})}q^{i-1}t^{j}) \right]^{-1}.$$

We find that the instanton partition functions are related by  $Z_{\text{inst}}^{\text{SU}(2)} = \tilde{Z}_{\text{inst}}^{\text{top}}/Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{\parallel}$ . We verified this relation so far up to 4-instantons.<sup>24</sup>

Thus, all in all, we have checked the relation (4.63) for  $N_f = 2, 3, 4$  cases and also identified the total U(1) factors,  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)} = Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \cdot Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel}$ .

# 4.3.2 $N_f = 5 \text{ from } T_3$

As explained in section 2.2, the web diagram of  $T_3$  theory in figure 14 can be seen as  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$  at 5 points blow up and thus the resulting 5d theory can be identified with an SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 5$  fundamental hypermultiplets. In particular, the  $E_6$  global symmetry enhancement of  $T_3$  theory is realized in the SU(2) gauge theory as the global symmetry enhancement from SO(10) to  $E_6$  at the conformal fixed point. This  $E_6$  symmetry enhancement in the gauge theory is confirmed perturbatively using the superconformal index in [14, 16]. We will here check that the partition function of  $T_3$  theory is in fact the same as that of the SU(2) gauge theory. This automatically implies that the superconformal index of  $T_3$  theory has  $E_6$  global symmetry and thus provides a highly non-trivial check of our suggestion of the  $T_3$  partition function.

It follows from the topological vertex computation (4.31) and the U(1) factor prescription that the  $T_3$  theory partition function is

$$Z_{T_3} = \tilde{Z}_{T_3} / Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)} \,, \tag{4.70}$$

where  $Z_{T_3}$  is given in (4.31) and  $Z_{U(1)}$  is the corresponding U(1) factor given by

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \prod_{a=1}^{3} (1 - Q_a q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - \tilde{Q}_a q^i t^{j-1})^{-1} (1 - \hat{Q}_a q^{i-1} t^j)^{-1}, \qquad (4.71)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>The Plethystic (or multi-particle) exponential of a single-particle partition function f(x) is defined as  $PE[f(x)] = exp\left[\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n}f(x^n)\right]$  where x represents all the fugacities of f. The difference at k = 1 is interpreted as the partition function of a single-particle from the decoupled U(1) contribution and thus the full partition function of the U(1) factor is given by the Plethystic exponential of it. Note that the single-particle states of the U(1) factor carry the instanton charge +1 and therefore are captured by 1-instanton computation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>The five-dimensional U(1) factor in the case of  $N_f = 2$  was also independently obtained from the field theory analysis by Christoph A. Keller and Jaewon Song. We thank their correspondence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>To see this relation, it is crucial to use O(k) dual gauge group for the instanton moduli space integral instead of SO(k) dual gauge group.

with

$$Q_{1,2,3} \equiv (e^{-im_1 + im_2}, e^{im_1 - im_3}, e^{im_2 - im_3}),$$
  

$$\tilde{Q}_{1,2,3} \equiv (u_1 e^{im_4}, u_2 e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2 + m_3 + m_4)}, u_1 u_2 e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2 + m_3 - m_4)}),$$
  

$$\hat{Q}_{1,2,3} \equiv (u_1 e^{-im_4}, u_2 e^{\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2 + m_3 + m_4)}, u_1 u_2 e^{\frac{i}{2}(m_1 + m_2 + m_3 - m_4)}).$$
(4.72)

The Kähler parameters  $Q_a$ ,  $\tilde{Q}_a$  and  $\hat{Q}_a$  correspond to the U(1) factors from the parallel 5branes along the horizontal, diagonal and vertical direction, respectively. Indeed, as noticed in section 4.1, the  $T_3$  partition function takes the same form of a U(2) × U(1) quiver gauge theory partition function, up to the U(1) factors:

$$Z_{T_3} = Z_{\text{Nekra}}^{\text{U}(2) \times \text{U}(1)} / (Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{\parallel} Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{//}), \qquad (4.73)$$

where

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \prod_{a=1}^{3} (1 - \tilde{Q}_a q^i t^{j-1})^{-1}, \qquad Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{//} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \prod_{a=1}^{3} (1 - \hat{Q}_a q^i t^{j-1})^{-1}.$$
(4.74)

The explicit comparison with the SU(2) partition function is rather subtle. In particular, the  $T_3$  partition function comes with a summation over 3 Young diagrams  $\nu_1, \nu_2, \nu_5$  with 2 instanton fugacities  $u_1, u_2$ , while the SU(2) partition function comes with a summation over 2 Young diagrams corresponding to  $\nu_1, \nu_2$  with an instanton fugacity u. To compare two partition functions, we first identify an instanton fugacity  $u_2$  of  $T_3$ theory with the instanton fugacity u in the field theory such as  $u = u_2 e^{-\frac{i}{2}m_5}$ . Then the instanton expansion by u in the field theory is realized by the expansion of  $u_2$  in the  $T_3$ theory. The remaining fugacity  $u_1$  is identified with the 5-th flavor fugacity,  $u_1 = e^{-im_5}$ . With the identification of the fugacities, one can easily see that the  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  in (4.31) involves non-trivial contribution from zero instanton sector at  $\mathcal{O}(u^0)$ . We take  $|\nu_1| = |\nu_2| = 0$  and read the zero instanton contribution

$$\sum_{\nu_{5}} u_{1}^{|\mu_{5}|} \prod_{s \in \mu_{5}} \frac{\prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} 2i \sin \frac{E_{5\emptyset} - \lambda_{\alpha} + m_{4} + i\gamma_{1}}{2}}{(2i)^{2} \sin \frac{E_{55}}{2} \sin \frac{E_{55} + 2i\gamma_{1}}{2}} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - u_{1}e^{i\lambda}q^{i - \frac{1}{2}}t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})(1 - u_{1}e^{-i\lambda}q^{i - \frac{1}{2}}t^{j - \frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - u_{1}e^{im_{4}}q^{i}t^{j - 1})(1 - u_{1}e^{-im_{4}}q^{i - 1}t^{j})}.$$

$$(4.75)$$

Here, we used the identity (4.27). The numerator becomes the perturbative part of the 5-th fundamental hyper and the denominator becomes the extra U(1) factor of the Kähler parameters  $\tilde{Q}_1, \hat{Q}_1$ . To see the agreement with the field theory results, we should define the instanton partition function of  $T_3$  theory without this zero instanton contribution and also without the U(1) factors.

$$Z_{T_{3}} = Z_{\text{pert}} \cdot Z_{\text{inst}}, \qquad (4.76)$$

$$Z_{\text{pert}} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{\prod_{b=1,2,4} (1 - e^{-i\lambda + im_{b}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda - im_{b}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1 - q^{i} t^{j-1})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - q^{i-1} t^{j})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i} t^{j-1}) (1 - e^{-2i\lambda} q^{i-1} t^{j})} \\ \times \prod_{a=3,5} (1 - e^{i\lambda - im_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda - im_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) \right\}, \qquad (4.76)$$

$$Z_{\text{inst}} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{\prod_{a=2,3} (1 - \tilde{Q}_{a} q^{i} t^{j-1}) (1 - \hat{Q}_{a} q^{i-1} t^{j})}{(1 - e^{i\lambda - im_{5}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda - im_{5}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})} \right\} \times \sum_{\nu_{1},\nu_{2},\mu_{5}} (ue^{\frac{i}{2}m_{5}})^{|\nu_{1}| + |\nu_{2}|} (e^{-im_{5}})^{|\mu_{5}|}$$

$$\times \prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} \prod_{s \in \nu_{\alpha}} \left[ \frac{\left( \prod_{a=1}^{3} 2i \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \emptyset} - m_{a} + i\gamma_{1}}{2} \right) (2i \sin \frac{E_{\alpha 5} - m_{4} + i\gamma_{1}}{2})}{\prod_{\beta=1}^{2} (2i)^{2} \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \beta}}{2} \sin \frac{E_{\alpha \beta} + 2i\gamma_{1}}{2}} \right] \prod_{s \in \mu_{5}} \frac{\prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} 2i \sin \frac{E_{5\alpha} + m_{4} + i\gamma_{1}}{2}}{(2i)^{2} \sin \frac{E_{55}}{2} \sin \frac{E_{55} + 2i\gamma_{1}}{2}}$$

Here, the instanton part  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  is normalized so that  $Z_{\text{inst}} = 1$  at order  $\mathcal{O}(u^0)$ . The perturbative part is precisely that of the SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 5$  flavors.

For the instanton part, we expand both instanton contributions by the instanton fugacity u and compare them in order. In the field theory computation, it is obvious that, at each instanton order, the expansion terminates at finite order of  $e^{-im_5}$  because the contributions involving  $e^{-im_5}$  come from the fermionic zero modes and they only appear in the numerator of the instanton partition function. On the other hand, the instanton contribution  $Z_{inst}$  is the summation over all possible Young diagram configurations labeled by  $\mu_5$  and thus its expansion by  $e^{-im_5}$  in general does not end. We however find that the Young diagram summation terminates at finite order of  $e^{-im_5}$  and higher order contributions become zero.<sup>25</sup> With this observation, the  $Z_{inst}$  of  $T_3$  theory precisely agrees with the field theory instanton partition function given in [14], which is checked up to 3 instantons.

The superconformal index of the  $T_3$  theory is given by

$$I_{T_3} = \int [d\lambda] |Z_{T_3}|^2 \,. \tag{4.77}$$

By expanding this index by the fugacity  $x \equiv e^{-\gamma_1}$ , which is related to the conformal dimensions of BPS states, one can check that the flaver fugacities form characters of  $E_6$ global symmetry implying the  $E_6$  global symmetry enhancement of  $T_3$  theory. See [14] for the details.

#### 5 The 5d partition function of $T_N$ theory

In 4.1.2, we have evaluated the topological string partition function associated with the  $T_N$ -theory for N = 2, 3, 4, and seen their relation to linear quiver gauge theories. In this section, we generalize this to arbitrary N and conjecture the Nekrasov partition function of the 5d  $T_N$ -theory for general N.

The relevant toric Calabi-Yau threefold is the blow-up of  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N)$ , whose toric web-diagram is shown in figure 17. We associate the fugacities  $P_k^{(n)}, Q_k^{(n)}$  and  $R_k^{(n)}$ with the two-cycles as in figure 17. Due to the relations  $P_k^{(n)}Q_k^{(n)} = Q_k^{(n+1)}P_{k+1}^{(n+1)}$  and  $R_k^{(n)} = R_1^{(n)}(P_1^{(n-1)}P_2^{(n-1)}\cdots P_{k-1}^{(n-1)})(P_2^{(n)}\cdots P_k^{(n)})^{-1}$ , there are  $\frac{(N+4)(N-1)}{2}$  independent Kähler parameters.

The refined topological string partition function on this Calabi-Yau threefold is evaluated by using the refined topological vertex. We describe the detail of the calculation in appendix **B**, and here simply write the result as

$$\tilde{Z}_{T_N} = (M(t,q)M(q,t))^{\chi(X)/4} \cdot Z_0 \cdot Z_{\text{inst}} \cdot Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\equiv}$$
(5.1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>At k-instanton sector, it appears that the sum over  $|\mu_5|$  terminates at order  $(e^{-im_5})^k$  and higher order terms vanish. We checked this up to k = 3 for several orders in  $e^{-im_5}$  with a computer.



Figure 17. The toric web-diagram of the blow-up of  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N)$ . We take the horizontal directions as the preferred directions. The fugacity  $R_k^{(n)}$  are associated with the horizontal (and therefore preferred) internal edges. The other internal edges are associated with fugacities  $P_k^{(n)}$  and  $Q_k^{(n)}$ . There are  $\frac{(N+4)(N-1)}{2}$  independent Kähler parameters.

with

$$Z_{0} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{\left[ \prod_{a \leq b} (1 - e^{-i\lambda_{N-1;b} + i\tilde{m}_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) \prod_{b < a} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{N-1;b} - i\tilde{m}_{a}} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) \right]}{\prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \prod_{a < b} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n;b}} q^{itj-1}) (1 - e^{i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n;b}} q^{i-1}t^{j})} \\ \times \prod_{n=2}^{N-1} \prod_{a \leq b} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n-1;b} + im_{n}} q^{i-1/2} t^{j-1/2}) \prod_{b < a} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{n-1;b} - i\lambda_{n;a} - im_{n}} q^{i-1/2} t^{j-1/2}) \right\},$$

$$Z_{\text{inst}} = \sum_{\vec{Y}_{1}, \vec{Y}_{2}, \cdots, \vec{Y}_{N-1}} \left[ \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} u_{n}^{|\vec{Y}_{n}|} z_{\text{vec}}(n) \right] \times \left[ \prod_{a=1}^{N} z_{\text{fund}}(N-1, \tilde{m}_{a}) \right] \times \left[ \prod_{n=2}^{N-1} z_{\text{bifund}}(n-1, n, m_{n}) \right],$$

$$Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=} = \prod_{1 \leq a < b \leq N} \prod_{k,\ell=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{i\tilde{m}_{a} - i\tilde{m}_{b}} q^{k} t^{\ell-1})^{-1}.$$
(5.2)

The definitions of  $z_{\text{vec}}$ ,  $z_{\text{fund}}$  and  $z_{\text{bifund}}$  are given in appendix A, in which the ranks of the gauge group are set to be  $N_n = n$ . Here  $\lambda_{n;k}$  for  $n = 2, \dots, N-1$  and  $k = 1, \dots, n$  are defined by

$$P_k^{(n-1)}Q_k^{(n-1)} = \exp(-i\lambda_{n;k+1} + i\lambda_{n;k})$$
(5.3)

and  $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_{n;k} = 0$ . The parameters  $m_n$  for  $n = 2, \dots, N-1$  are defined by

$$P_k^{(n-1)} = \exp(i\lambda_{n;k} - i\lambda_{n-1;k} + im_n),$$
(5.4)

where we set  $\lambda_{1,k} = 0$ . We also define  $\tilde{m}_k$  for  $k = 1, \dots, N$  so that

$$P_k^{(N-1)}Q_k^{(N-1)} = \exp(-i\tilde{m}_{k+1} + i\tilde{m}_k), \qquad P_k^{(N-1)} = \exp(i\tilde{m}_k - i\lambda_{N-1;k}).$$
(5.5)



Figure 18. The tree diagram which includes the contribution from M2-branes on  $\beta_{ab}$ .

The above relations reparameterize  $P_k^{(n)}$  and  $Q_k^{(n)}$  in terms of  $\lambda_{n;k}, m_n$  and  $\tilde{m}_k$ . The remaining parameters  $u_n$  are defined by

$$u_n = R_1^{(n)} Q_n^{(n)\frac{1}{2}} P_1^{(n)\frac{1}{2}} (P_2^{(n)} P_3^{(n)} \cdots P_n^{(n)})^{-\frac{1}{2}} (P_1^{(n-1)} P_2^{(n-1)} \cdots P_{n-1}^{(n-1)})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (5.6)

Note that  $\tilde{Z}_{T_N}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  is regarded as the Nekrasov partition function of a gauge theory described by the quiver diagram



where the circle nodes denote gauge groups and the square node denotes a global symmetry group. We have bi-fundamental hypermultiplets between two nodes and N fundamental hypermultiplets for the leftmost U(N-1) gauge group. Here  $\lambda_{k,\alpha}$  are identified with the Coulomb branch parameters for the  $U(N-1) \times \cdots \times U(1)$  gauge group,  $\tilde{m}_{a=1,\dots,N}$  are the mass parameters of the fundamental hypermultiplets for U(N-1), and  $m_{k=2,\dots,N-1}$  are the masses of the N-2 bi-fundamental hypermultiplets. The  $Z_0$  is the perturbative part where the numerator comes from the N fundamental and N-2 bi-fundamental matter contributions while the denominator comes from the N-1 vector multiplet contributions. The instanton part  $Z_{inst}$  is the summation over all possible instanton contributions labeled by Young diagrams. The explicit expressions for  $z_{vect}$ ,  $z_{fund}$  and  $z_{bifund}$  are given in appendix.

While  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N)$  is expected to engineer the  $T_N$ -theory, we have obtained the Nekrasov partition function of the linear quiver gauge theory. The reason for this is that  $\tilde{Z}_{T_N}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$  still includes "U(1)-factors" coming from decoupled M2-branes. As discussed in 4.2, a decoupled M2-brane is wrapping two-cycle associated with a pair of parallel external lines of the toric web-diagram. In our web-diagram in figure 17, there are Nparallel external lines in each of the left, bottom and upper-right directions. Let  $\beta_{ab}$  be the two-cycle associated with the *a*-th and *b*-th external lines extending in the *left* of figure 17. We similarly define  $\tilde{\beta}_{ab}$  and  $\hat{\beta}_{ab}$  for the *bottom* and *upper-right* directions, respectively. Then we find that the contribution from M2-branes on  $\beta_{ab}$  is precisely given by  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}$ . On



Figure 19. A different choice of the preferred direction.

the other hand, contributions from M2-branes on  $\tilde{\beta}_{ab}$  or  $\hat{\beta}_{ab}$  are not included in  $Z_{\text{U}(1)}^{=}$ . Since the central charges of such M2-branes depend on  $R_k^{(n)}$ , they are included in  $Z_{\text{inst}}$ . In order to obtain the partition function of the  $T_N$ -theory, we have to eliminate all such contributions.

Let us first consider the U(1)-factor coming from M2-branes on  $\beta_{ab}$ . From the general argument in subsections 3.2 and 3.4, we know that it is of the form

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - Q_{\tilde{\beta}_{ab}} q^{i+n_1/2} t^{j+n_2/2})^m$$
(5.7)

for some  $n_1, n_2, m \in \mathbb{Z}^{26}$  Here  $Q_{\tilde{\beta}_{ab}}$  is the fugacity for M2-branes on  $\tilde{\beta}_{ab}$ , and given by

$$Q_{\tilde{\beta}_{ab}} = \prod_{n=a}^{b-1} (R_1^{(n)} P_1^{(n)}).$$
(5.8)

To determine the values of  $n_1, n_2$  and m, we have to look at the topological vertex calculation (B.2), which is essentially an infinite sum of monomials of fugacities  $P_k^{(n)}, Q_k^{(n)}$  and  $R_k^{(n)}$ . Since we are only interested in the factor (5.7), we can set any fugacity to be zero except for  $Q_{\tilde{\beta}_{ab}}$ . In particular, we can set  $Q_k^{(n)} = 0$  for all k and n. Then the relevant amplitude comes from the tree diagram shown in figure 18.

Since some of the internal edges are preferred directions in figure 18, it is not straightforward to evaluate the amplitude of this diagram. However, it was conjectured in [20] that the refined topological string amplitude is independent of the choice of the preferred direction.<sup>27</sup> In particular, the diagram in figure 18 is expected to give the same amplitude as that in figure 19. We here assume that this conjecture is true, and evaluate the amplitude of the diagram in figure 19. This diagram is essentially equivalent to that in figure 26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Since  $\tilde{\beta}_{ab}$  is genus zero, it is sufficient to consider  $j_L = 0$ .

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$ In terms of a different refinement of topological vertex studied in [19, 64], it is expected that this invariance is related to the conjecture given in [65].

if we set  $Y_{n;k} = Y_{n-1;k} = \emptyset$  and exchange q and t. Then, by the same argument as in appendix **B**, we can easily evaluate the amplitude as

$$\prod_{1 \le a < b \le N} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - \left( \prod_{n=a}^{b-2} R_1^{(n)} P_1^{(n)} \right) R_1^{(b-1)} t^{i-1/2} q^{j-1/2} \right) \left( 1 - \left( \prod_{n=a}^{b-2} P_1^{(n)} R_1^{(n+1)} \right) P_1^{(b-1)} t^{i-1/2} q^{j-1/2} \right) \\ \times \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N-1} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - \left( \prod_{n=a}^{b-1} P_1^{(n)} R_1^{(n+1)} \right) t^{i-1} q^j \right)^{-1} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - \left( \prod_{n=a}^{b-1} R_1^{(n)} P_1^{(n)} \right) t^i q^{j-1} \right)^{-1}.$$

$$(5.9)$$

Here only the final product

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} \equiv \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - \left( \prod_{n=a}^{b-1} R_1^{(n)} P_1^{(n)} \right) t^i q^{j-1} \right)^{-1}$$
(5.10)

is of the form of (5.7). The other products are contributions from M2-branes which have some electric charge in 5d gauge theory. We therefore identify (5.10) with the U(1)-factor from M2-branes on  $\tilde{\beta}_{ab}$ .

In the same way, we can also identify the U(1)-factor from M2-branes on  $\hat{\beta}_{ab}$  with

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{/\!/} \equiv \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - \left( \prod_{n=a}^{b-1} R_n^{(n)} Q_n^{(n)} \right) q^i t^{j-1} \right)^{-1}.$$
 (5.11)

Therefore the total U(1)-factor is written as

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)} = Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel} Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel}.$$
 (5.12)

Now, we conjecture that the 5d Nekrasov partition function of the  $T_N$ -theory is given by

$$\tilde{Z}_{T_N}/Z_{\rm U(1)}.$$
 (5.13)

Note here that  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}, Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel}$  and  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{//}$  satisfy the rule described in 4.2.

# 6 Low energy partition functions on Higgs vacua

As discussed in section 2.2, the Higgs branch of the  $T_N$ -theory is also understood in terms of the 5-brane web-diagrams. An infinite (p,q) 5-brane in the web diagram can be considered as a semi-infinite 5-brane ending on a orthogonal (p,q) 7-brane, which we denoted by  $\otimes$  in the web diagram, and thus the web diagram has N 7-branes at each end of the trivalent legs. The Higgs branch opens up when some of the parallel external 5-branes are coincident, which requires some of the mass parameters of the  $T_N$ -theory to be tuned. In particular, the positions of the 5-branes suspended between 7-branes, together with a part of the gauge field on the 5-branes, parameterize the Higgs branch moduli space. Now let us consider a far infrared region in the Higgs branch, by taking the vev's of the hypermultiples to be very large. We end up with 5-brane diagrams in which some of the 5-branes terminate at the same 7-brane, as in figure 6. The resulting diagram describes another isolated theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$ .<sup>28</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>We denote by  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  the infrared theory living on a Higgs vacuum.



**Figure 20**. Two step description to move along the Higgs branch in web diagram.  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  represent the Kähler parameters for the 2 two-cycles.

We note that the web diagrams are in general non-toric, as drawn in figure 4 and 6. Therefore we cannot expect that the computations of the partition functions using the topological vertex method give rise to correct results. However, since the topological string amplitude is independent of the complex structure of the Calabi-Yau threefold, it is expected to be evaluated at the intersection of the Coulomb and Higgs branch. The only subtlety is that there is an extra contribution from hypermultiplets associated with the 5-branes between 7-branes.

In this section, we shall show a prescription to evaluate the partition function of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  by taking certain limit of the  $T_N$  theory partition function. The general Higgs branch in web diagram is generated by repeating the two steps as drawn in the figure 20.

The step (a) is related to the geometric transition from closed string geometry on the resolved conifold to open string geometry for Lagrangian branes at the external leg [66–70]. The figure 19 in [66] illustrates the geometric transition of the resolved conifold with a Kähler parameter  $Q_1 = q^{\frac{1}{2}}t^{-\frac{3}{2}29}$  to the one Lagrangian brane in the open string geometry. More generally, one can choose the Kähler parameter such as

$$Q_1 = q^{r - \frac{1}{2}} t^{\frac{1}{2} - s}, (6.1)$$

where  $r, s \ge 1$  and then it corresponds to a general Lagrangian brane on the bottom leg after the transition. This setting can be interpreted in the field theory as the insertion of a surface operator which has support on the surface

$$w_1^{r-1}w_2^{s-1} = 0 \quad \subset \mathbb{R}^4 \,, \tag{6.2}$$

where  $w_1$  and  $w_2$  are the complex coordinates for  $\mathbb{R}^{1,2}$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{3,4}$ , respectively. We note that the case in step (a) of figure 20 is the open string geometry with no Lagrangian brane, and it corresponds to taking (r, s) = (1, 1), namely  $Q_1 = q^{\frac{1}{2}}t^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . It would be also interesting to study the surface defects with general choice of (r, s).

The step (b) is achieved by a certain limit of the Kähler parameter  $Q_2$  as the final diagram has no 2-cycle. It turns out that we need to choose  $Q_2 = q^{\frac{1}{2}}t^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

We can understand the above prescription in terms of superconformal index. In fourdimensions, the index of a class S theory endowed with a surface operator can be obtained by residue calculation of the superconformal index of a larger UV theory in which the IR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>The Omega deformation parameters in their paper [66] are related as  $(p_1, p_2) = (q, t)$ .



Figure 21. A Higgs vacuum of  $T_3$  theory.

class S theory is embedded [71, 72]. The same method turns out to be applicable to our 5d examples, though we only consider the trivial surface operator in this paper. To obtain the the index of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$ , we first start with embedding  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  to a UV theory. The index of the UV theory has simple poles in flavor fugacities which arise from bosonic zero modes of the hypermultiplets. The residue at a simple pole is related to the index of the infrared theory which lives at the end of the RG flow triggered by non-zero vev of the scalar zero mode. The examples in this section correspond to the low energy indices of residues at the pole

$$Q_1 Q_2 = q/t \,, \tag{6.3}$$

in the UV superconformal indices. The result usually contains the index of extra free hypermultiplets. We should strip it off to get the correct IR index as the free hypermultiplets are decoupled. After dividing the extra index from the residue calculation, we can compute the superconformal index of the theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$ . We will relate this IR limit of a superconformal index with that of a Nekrasov partition function below with explicit examples.

# 6.1 Free theory from $T_3$ theory

The first example is the Higgs vacuum of  $T_3$  theory which breaks the  $E_6$  global symmetry to  $SU(3) \times SU(3) \times U(1)$  and gives rise to the free theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  with 9 hypermultiplets in infrared. The corresponding web diagram is depicted in figure 21.

In the above diagram, we have deformed the shaded part following procedure in figure 20, which breaks SU(3) global symmetry of the three (1,0) 5-branes to U(1) at the left leg. Under this deformation, we set the Kähler parameters  $Q_1, Q_3$  in figure 14 such as<sup>30</sup>

$$Q_1 = Q_3 = q^{\frac{1}{2}} t^{-\frac{1}{2}}, (6.5)$$

or equivalently

$$m_1 = \lambda + i\gamma_1, \quad m_3 = \lambda - i\gamma_1.$$
 (6.6)

To obtain the partition function of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$ , we plug these parameters into the  $T_3$  partition function (4.76). Note that, as we are interested in the Higgs branch of  $T_3$  theory, we should

$$Q_1 = Q_3 = t^{\frac{1}{2}} q^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tag{6.4}$$

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$ In fact, the tuning

also gives the same partition function  $Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}$  of the infrared theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  appearing in the Higgsed  $T_3$  theory. This is due to the symmetry under the exchange between  $m_1$  and  $m_3$  in the partition function  $Z_{T_3}$  up to two perturbative factors. The different perturbative terms will turn out to be irrelevant extra factors after the tuning, and hence we will get the same partition function  $Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}$ .

use the partition function (4.76) which is different from the original partition function (4.31) by the U(1) factor. Inserting the parameters, we obtain

$$Z_{\tau_{IR}} = Z_0 \cdot Z_{\text{inst}},$$

$$Z_{0} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{(1-q^i t^{j-1})^{\frac{3}{2}} \prod_{a=2,4} (1-e^{-i\lambda+im_a} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-e^{-i\lambda-im_a} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1-q^{i-1}t^j)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right]$$

$$\times (1-u_1 e^{im_4} q^i t^{j-1})(1-u_1 e^{-im_4} q^{i-1} t^j)(1-u_2 e^{-i\lambda-\frac{i}{2}(m_2+m_4)} q^i t^{j-1})(1-u_2 e^{i\lambda-\frac{i}{2}(m_2+m_4)} q^{i-1} t^j)$$

$$\times (1-u_1 u_2 e^{-i\lambda-\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^i t^{j-1})(1-u_1 u_2 e^{i\lambda+\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-1} t^j) \right],$$

$$Z_{\text{inse}} = \sum_{\nu_2,\nu_5} u_2^{|\nu_2|} u_1^{|\nu_5|} \prod_{s\in\nu_2} \frac{(2i\sin\frac{E_{20}-m_2+i\gamma_1}{2})(2i\sin\frac{E_{25}-m_4+i\gamma_1}{2})}{(2i)^2\sin\frac{E_{22}}{2}\sin\frac{E_{22}+2i\gamma_1}{2}}$$

$$\times \prod_{s\in\nu_5} \frac{(2i\sin\frac{E_{50}-\lambda+m_4+i\gamma_1}{2})(2i\sin\frac{E_{55}+2i\gamma_1}{2})}{(2i)^2\sin\frac{E_{55}}{2}\sin\frac{E_{55}+2i\gamma_1}{2}}$$

$$= \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-u_1 e^{i\lambda} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-u_1 e^{-i\lambda} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-u_2 e^{\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-u_2 e^{i\lambda-\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1-u_1 e^{im_4} q^{i} t^{j-1})(1-u_1 e^{-im_4} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-u_2 e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1-u_1 e^{im_4} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-u_1 e^{-i\lambda} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-u_2 e^{\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1-u_1 u_2 e^{\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}$$

$$= \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-u_1 u_2 e^{\frac{i}{2}(m_2+m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-u_1 u_2 e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1-u_1 u_2 e^{-\frac{i}{2}(m_2-m_4)} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}}$$

$$(6.7)$$

In the instanton part  $Z_{\text{inst}}$ , the Young diagram summation over  $\nu_1$  becomes trivial because of the sine factors from fundamental hypermultiplets in the numerator, namely the sine factor  $\prod_{s \in \nu_1} \sin \frac{E_{1\emptyset}(s) - m_1 + i\gamma_1}{2}$  always has zero contribution unless  $|\nu_1| = 0$ . From the definition of  $E_{\alpha\beta}$  in (4.5), one can easily see that there is alway a position  $s \in \nu_{\alpha}$  where  $l_{\nu_{\alpha}}(s) = a_{\emptyset}(s) + 1 = 0$  and therefore  $E_{1\emptyset}(s) - m_1 + i\gamma_1 = 0$  at the s. The 2nd equality for  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  is verified up to fourth order in the flavor fugacities  $u_1, u_2$  with a computer.

Then the partition function for the infrared theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  becomes

$$\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} = \frac{q^{-\frac{1}{24}}\eta(q)}{t^{-\frac{1}{24}}\eta(t)} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{i}t^{j-1})^{\frac{1}{2}} (1-q^{i-1}t^{j})^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \prod_{f=1}^{10} (1-Q_{f}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}), \quad (6.8)$$

where the 10 Kähler parameters are defined as

ñ

$$Q_{f} \equiv \left(e^{-i(\mu_{1}+\tilde{\mu}_{a=1,2}+\mu)}, e^{i(\mu_{a=1,2}+\tilde{\mu}_{3}+\mu)}, e^{-i(\mu_{2}+\tilde{\mu}_{a=1,2}+\mu)}, e^{-i(\mu_{3}+\tilde{\mu}_{1}+\mu)}, e^{i(\mu_{3}+\tilde{\mu}_{a=2,3}+\mu)}, e^{-3i\mu}\right),$$
(6.9)

and  $\eta(q) \equiv q^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (1-q^i)$  is Dedekind eta function. We here used the new mass parameters  $\mu_{a=1,2,3}$ ,  $\tilde{\mu}_{a=1,2,3}$  and  $\mu$ .  $\mu_{a=1,2,3}$  are associated to the first SU(3) realized by the (0,1) 7-branes attached to the vertical external legs.  $\tilde{\mu}_{a=1,2,3}$  are associated to the second SU(3) realized by the (1,1) 7-branes attached to the diagonal external legs. Lastly,  $\mu$  is associated to the U(1) symmetry realized by the (1,0) 7-branes attached to the horizontal external legs. More explicitly, we defined

$$Q_2 = e^{i(\mu_1 + \tilde{\mu}_3 + \mu)}, Q_4 = e^{-i(\mu_2 + \tilde{\mu}_2 + \mu)}, Q_5 = e^{i(\mu_3 + \tilde{\mu}_2 + \mu)}, Q_b = e^{i(-\tilde{\mu}_2 + \tilde{\mu}_3)}, Q_f = e^{i(\mu_1 + \tilde{\mu}_3 - 2\mu)}.$$
(6.10)

Note that the charge assignment (6.10) after the Higgsing is systematically determined by the requirement that  $Q_1$  and  $Q_3$  do not have a charge under the remaining global symmetry  $SU(3) \times SU(3) \times U(1)$ . Eq. (6.8) is the partition function of 9 free hypermultiplets with masses  $\mu_{1,2,3} + \tilde{\mu}_{1,2,3} + \mu$ and the extra hypermultiplet contribution

$$Z_{\text{extra}} = \frac{q^{-\frac{1}{24}}\eta(q)}{t^{-\frac{1}{24}}\eta(t)} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{i}t^{j-1})^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 - q^{i-1}t^{j})^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 - e^{-3i\mu}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}).$$
(6.11)

Apart from this extra factor, the global symmetry  $SU(3)\times SU(3)\times U(1)$  is manifest. Therefore the partition function of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  theory defined as

$$Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} = \tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} / Z_{\text{extra}} \tag{6.12}$$

produces that of 9 fundamental free hypermultiplets charged under the SU(3)×SU(3)×U(1) global symmetry. Ignoring the eta function factors, the  $Z_{\text{extra}}$  corresponds to the extra free hypermultiplets of the IR theory. The first term is precisely the inverse of the Nekrasov partition function of a free vector multiplet, i.e.  $(Z_{\text{pert}}^{\text{vm}})^{-1}$  in (4.60), and the second term is the free hypermultiplet partition function with the U(1) flavor chemical potential  $3\mu$ . In the 4d residue computation [71, 72], the index of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  is expected to have exactly the same free hypermultiplet factors.<sup>31</sup>

The extra hypermultiplet contribution can be also understood from the web diagram. Let us consider the extra factors before any cancellation by the contribution of the Cartan part of the vector multiplet. Then, we originally have the following extra factors

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^i t^{j-1})^2 (1 - e^{-3i\mu} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}).$$
(6.13)

Let us first focus on the contribution of the last factor of (6.13). The fugacity  $e^{-3i\mu}$  is associated with the Kähler parameter  $Q_f Q_2^{-1}$ . This is originally the Kähler parameter of the two-cycle between the top internal horizontal line (to which we assign  $\nu_1$  in figure 14) and the bottommost external horizontal line going in the left direction of figure 14. However, after the Higgsing corresponding to the tuning (6.6), the top internal horizontal line becomes an external horizontal line. Therefore, the Kähler parameter  $Q_f Q_2^{-1}$  is now assigned to a line between the parallel external legs in the Higgsed  $T_3$  diagram of figure 21. Then the contribution coming from strings between the parallel external legs going in the left direction only depends on the charge of the U(1) symmetry. This may be also considered as what we call the U(1) factor in the Higgsed diagram. Namely, the extra factor comes from the contribution associated with the new parallel external legs in the Higgsed diagram. The other two contributions in (6.13) can be thought in the same way. Originally, they are associated with the contributions of M2-branes wrapping the two-cycles with the Kähler parameters  $Q_1, Q_3$ . Hence after the Higgsing, the contributions can be understood as the ones coming from the parallel external legs which are on top of each other.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>The free HL index for the case obtained in [71] is  $I^{free} = \frac{1}{(1-\tau^2)(1-\tau a)(1-\tau/a)}$  where *a* denotes the U(1) flavor fugacity. The first factor is the same as the inverse of the free vector multiplet index,  $\mathcal{I}_V^{-1}$ , and the latter two factors are the index of a free hypermultiplet with U(1) charge ±1. We thank Davide Gaiotto for bringing this reference to our attention.



Figure 22. Web diagram for a Higgs vacuum with a D7-brane at the right-center.

Let us briefly explain the 5d superconformal index of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  from the index of  $T_3$  theory. As explained above, the index of the infrared theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  can be computed by residue calculation of the UV index at poles of flavor fugacities. The superconformal index of  $T_3$ is given in (4.77). The limit (6.6) for  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  corresponds to the pole at

$$e^{i(m_1 - m_3)} = Q_1 Q_3 = q/t \tag{6.14}$$

of the  $T_3$  index. This pole arises when two simple poles at

$$e^{\pm i\lambda} = e^{im_1}(t/q)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad e^{\pm i\lambda} = e^{im_3}(q/t)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(6.15)

collide together in the contour integral of the Coulomb branch parameter  $\lambda$ . The residue computation gives

$$I_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} = \left| \tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} \right|^2 = \left| Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} \right|^2 \cdot \left| Z_{\text{extra}} \right|^2.$$
(6.16)

Note that the 5d superconformal index of the  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  theory includes the extra hypermultiplet index expected from the 4d  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  theory: a singlet hypermultiplet and a U(1) charged hypermultiplet.

We also note that the partition function  $\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}$  is almost identical to the 5d partition function of the U(1)×U(1) quiver gauge theory with a fundamental hypermultiplet for the first U(1) and for the second U(1) and a bi-fundmamental hypermultiplet of masses  $m_2, -\lambda + m_4, m_4$ , respectively. Two partition functions differ only by the terms in the 2nd and 3rd line of the perturbative part  $Z_0$ . In order to understand this non-trivial relation, we apply the generalized s-rule formulated in [32, 73] to the Higgs branch web diagram and deform figure 21 by dragging the D7-brane horizontally to the center like figure 22. The dotted line denotes a branch cut of the monodromy [32, 73]. As the D7-brane moves across the 5-branes from left to the center, the 5-branes ending on D7-brane disappear because of the brane creation/annihilation mechanism [42] and leaves no D5-brane on it at the final diagram. Then the final diagram, figure 22, implies that the corresponding gauge theory is the aforementioned U(1) × U(1) quiver gauge theory. The fundamental hypermultiplet for the second U(1) (for the right-most D5-brane) comes from the string modes connecting the D5-brane and the D7-brane.

#### 6.2 $E_7$ theory from $T_4$ theory

We now consider the Higgs branch of  $T_4$  theory. An interesting theory which lives at the end of a Higgs branch is the theory with an  $E_7$  global symmetry. The web diagram is drawn in figure 6. One can see that in order to get the web diagram we need to apply the Higgsing prescription explained previously twice for upper- and lower-left legs. In  $T_3$ theory, the IR limit for  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  is achieved by setting the Kähler parameters as (6.6). Similarly, for  $T_4$  theory, we set the parameters as<sup>32</sup>

$$m_1 = \lambda_1 + i\gamma_1, \quad m_2 = \lambda_1 - i\gamma_1, \quad m_3 = \lambda_3 + i\gamma_1, \quad m_4 = \lambda_3 - i\gamma_1$$
 (6.19)

to go to the Higgs branch. The infrared theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  has the global symmetry  $\mathrm{SU}(4)^2 \times \mathrm{SU}(2)$ visible in the web diagram and it is believed to enhance to  $E_7$  as explained in section 2.2. Its partition function should respect this symmetry enhancement. In particular, a 5d SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 6$  fundamental flavors has the same properties. The dimensions of Coulomb and Higgs branch of this theory,  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{Coulomb}}) = 1$  and  $\dim_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{Higgs}}) =$ 17, agrees with those of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  and its global symmetry SO(12) is also enhanced to  $E_7$  at the conformal fixed point [33]. We expect that two theories are identical and thus the partition function of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  reproduces that of the SU(2) theory with  $N_f = 6$  fundamental hypermultiplets.

Following the Higgsing prescription and by applying the parameters (6.19) to the  $T_4$  partition function,  $Z_{T_4} \equiv \tilde{Z}_{T_4}/Z_{\rm U(1)}$ , we find

 $^{32}\mathrm{We}$  can also use

$$m_1 = \lambda_1 - i\gamma_1, \quad m_2 = \lambda_1 + i\gamma_1, \tag{6.17}$$

instead of the first two tunings in (6.19). This is again due to the fact that the  $T_4$  partition function  $Z_{T_4}$  is symmetric under the exchange between  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  up to two perturbative factors which eventually become irrelevant extra factors. Similarly, the tunings

$$m_3 = \lambda_3 - i\gamma_1, \quad m_4 = \lambda_3 + i\gamma_1 \tag{6.18}$$

instead of the last two tunings in (6.19) also give the same partition function  $Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}$  of the infrared theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  arising in the Higgsed  $T_4$  theory.

$$Z_{\text{extra}} = \frac{t^{-\frac{1}{24}} \eta(t)}{q^{-\frac{1}{24}} \eta(q)} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{i-1} t^j)^2 (1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)} q^i t^{j-1}) (1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)} q^{i-1} t^j), \qquad (6.20)$$

with

$$\mu_1 = \lambda_1 - \tilde{m}_1, \quad \mu_2 = \lambda_3 - \tilde{m}_1, \quad \mu_3 = \lambda_2 - \tilde{m}_1, \quad \mu_4 = \tilde{m}_2, \quad e^{-i\mu_5} = u_1, \quad e^{-i\mu_6} = u_3, \quad u = u_2 e^{-\frac{i}{2}(\mu_5 + \mu_6)}, \quad (6.21)$$

and  $\lambda_2$  is absent in  $E_{\alpha\beta}$ 's. We here introduced new mass parameters  $\mu_{a=1,\dots,6}$  and rearranged the partition function into three part,  $Z_{\text{pert}}, Z_{\text{inst}}, Z_{\text{extra}}$  for the explicit comparison with the gauge theory partition function. The partition function of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  is defined without the extra factor  $Z_{\text{extra}}$  by

$$Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} = \tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} / Z_{\text{extra}} \,. \tag{6.22}$$

The extra factor  $Z_{\text{extra}}$  will be discussed below.

We now compare the partition function of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  with the results in [13, 14], which were obtained from the field theory using localization computation. This partition function agrees precisely with the partition function of SU(2) gauge theory with 6 fundamental flavors. One can easily see that the perturbative part  $Z_{pert}$  is equivalent to the perturbative part of the field theory result. The denominator comes from the SU(2) vector multiplet and the numerator comes from the 6 fundamental hypermultiplets with masses  $\mu_{a=1,\dots,6}$ .

The  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  corresponds to the instanton partition function of the gauge theory. We identify the instanton fugacity  $u_2$  of  $\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}$  with the instanton fugacity u of the SU(2) theory as  $u = u_2 e^{\frac{i}{2}(\mu_5 + \mu_6)}$ . The infinite product terms in the first 4 lines give rise to the correct normalization so that  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  counts the only instanton sectors, namely  $Z_{\text{inst}} = 1$ at order  $\mathcal{O}(u^0)$ . However the explicit comparison of two partition functions is somewhat sophisticated. Firstly, we note that the  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  is given by the sum over 4 Young diagrams with 3 fugacities  $u_1, u_2, u_3$ , while the instanton partition function of the field theory is given by a sum over 2 Young diagrams with an instantons fugacity u of the SU(2) gauge group. This subtlety is similar to what we have encountered for the  $T_3$  theory case in section (4.3.2). Moreover the explicit computations for higher instanton numbers k > 1 in the field theory are not completely done due to technical reasons.

We first compare the 1-instanton partition functions, which corresponds to contributions at order  $\mathcal{O}(u^1)$ . We expand both partition functions by the flavor fugacities  $u_1 = e^{-i\mu_5}, u_3 = e^{-i\mu_6}$ . It is again obvious that the expansion of the field theory instanton partition function terminates at finite order of  $e^{-i\mu_5}$  and  $e^{-i\mu_6}$ , while that of  $Z_{\text{inst}}$ in general goes to infinite order. However, similarly to the  $T_3$  case, we again see that the Young diagram summation terminates at order  $u_1u_3$  and higher order contributions become zero, which is checked up to fourth order in fugacity  $u_1, u_3$ . Assuming this observation holds for all order in  $u_1, u_3$ , we find that the  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  agrees with the field theory partition function at 1-instanton level.

For higher instantons at instanton fugacity  $u^{k\geq 2}$ , we use the superconformal index and check whether the BPS states captured by the index form representations of the  $E_7$  global symmetry. The superconformal index is given by

$$I_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} = 1 + \chi_{\mathbf{133}}^{E_7} x^2 + \chi_2(y) \left[ 1 + \chi_{\mathbf{133}}^{E_7} \right] x^3 + \left[ 1 + \chi_{\mathbf{7371}}^{E_7} + \chi_3(y) (1 + \chi_{\mathbf{133}}^{E_7}) \right] x^4 + \cdots, \quad (6.23)$$

with the branching rules

$$E_7 \supset SO(12) \times U(1)$$

$$133 = 66_0 + 32_1 + 32_{-1} + 1_2 + 1_0 + 1_{-2}$$

$$7371 = 1728_1 + 1728_{-1} + 1638_0 + 495_0 + 462_2 + 462_0 + 462_{-2} + 66_2 + 66_0 + 66_{-2}$$

$$+ 32_3 + 2 \times 32_1 + 2 \times 32_{-1} + 32_{-3} + 1_4 + 1_2 + 2 \times 1_0 + 1_{-2} + 1_{-4}.$$
(6.24)

This is checked up to three instantons with a computer. The flavor fugacities take the form of the characters of  $E_7$  representations. This provides the strong evidence that the theory  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  has the enhanced  $E_7$  global symmetry and also the partition function we obtained is correct.

The extra factor  $Z_{\text{extra}}$  in (6.20) is interpreted as the partition function of the free hypermultiplets in IR theory. It follows from the 4d superconformal index computation in [71, 72] that we have free hypermultiplets in the IR: two singlets and two charged hypermultiplets under the unbroken SU(2) global symmetry.<sup>33</sup> The extra factor captures the contribution of the IR free hypermultiplets. The factor independent of the Kähler parameters corresponds to the two singlet free hypermultiplets and the other two factors correspond to the two charged hypermultiplets with masses  $\mu_1 - \mu_2 \pm i\gamma_1$ .

As in the case of the extra hypermultiplet factors which arise in the infrared theory appearing in the Higgs branch of the  $T_3$  theory, the extra factors  $Z_{\text{extra}}$  in (6.20) also have an interpretation from the web diagram in figure 6. Namely, they are related to the contributions of strings between the new parallel external legs going in the left direction in figure 6. There are two types of such new parallel external legs in the Higgsed  $T_4$  diagram in figure 6. One type is the parallel external legs in figure 6 which originally come from one internal horizontal line and one external horizontal line in the  $T_4$  diagram. From the web diagram in figure 6, we infer the extra factors from the first kind of the parallel external legs as

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^i t^{j-1})^4 (1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)} q^i t^{j-1})^2 (1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)} q^{i-1} t^j)^2.$$
(6.25)

The other type is the parallel external legs in figure 6 which originally come from the two internal horizontal lines in the  $T_4$  diagram. The extra factors from the second kind of the parallel external legs can be inferred as

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)}q^i t^{j-1})(1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)}q^{i-1} t^j)}.$$
(6.26)

Putting the contributions of (6.25) and (6.26) together gives

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^i t^{j-1})^4 (1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)} q^i t^{j-1}) (1 - e^{-i(\mu_1 - \mu_2)} q^{i-1} t^j).$$
(6.27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>The 4d index calculation following [71] yields the free HL index  $\mathcal{I}^{free} = \frac{1}{(1-\tau^2)^2} \prod_{i\neq j}^2 \frac{1}{(1-a_i/a_j)(1-\tau^2a_i/a_j)}$  where  $a_i$ 's are the SU(2) flavor fugacities. The first factor,  $\mathcal{I}_V^{-2}$ , is from 2 free hypermultiplets and the other factors are from 2 hypermultiplets charged under the U(1)  $\subset$  SU(2) with fugacities  $\tau a_1/a_2$  and  $\tau^{-1}a_1/a_2$ .



Figure 23. Web diagram of a Higgs vacuum of  $T_4$  with 2 D7-branes at the center.

One factor of the first four factors in (6.27) is canceled by the contribution from a part of the Cartan parts of the vector multiplets in the partition function  $Z_{T_4}$  of the  $T_4$  theory. By adding the remaining Cartan contribution except for the contribution from the Cartan part of the SU(2) vector multiplet, the extra factors precisely agree with  $Z_{\text{extra}}$  in (6.20).

The partition function  $Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}$  can also be identified with the partition function of the quiver gauge theory. We deform the web diagram in figure 6 by moving the D7-branes toward the center and finally get the web diagram in Figre 23. This diagram implies that the corresponding gauge theory is the quiver gauge theory of  $U(1) \times U(2) \times U(1)$  gauge groups with a bi-fundamental hypermultiplet for each quiver and two fundamental hypermultiplets of the U(2) gauge group. We can actually identify the partition function  $Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}$  to the partition function of the quiver theory by a simple relation

$$Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} = Z^{\mathrm{U}(2) \times \mathrm{U}(1)^2} / (Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel} Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{/\prime}), \qquad (6.28)$$

where  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\parallel}$  and  $Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{\prime\prime}$  are the U(1) factors of  $T_4$  theory at the limit (6.19) of the Higgs branch.

#### 6.3 Direct computation from web diagrams

Let us try to compute the partition functions of  $\mathcal{T}_{IR}$  theories using more direct approach. We will try to use the web diagrams of the Higgs vacua and extract their partition functions using the refined topological vertex method. However, it is known that the topological vertex formalism can be used to compute the topological string partition function only for toric Calabi-Yau threefolds. The web diagrams for Higgs vacua are non-toric as depicted in figure 6 and figure 21. Thus if we apply the topological vertex method directly to the non-toric diagrams, we will in general get wrong results. In this subsection, we show a prescription to apply the topological vertex formalism to the non-toric diagrams for the Higgs vacua of  $T_3$  and  $T_4$  theories.

Let us start with the web diagram of a Higgs vacuum of  $T_3$  theory drawn in figure 24.

Here we associate an independent Kähler parameter to each internal edge. It makes sense for other internal edges corresponding to independent 2-cycles, but not for the edge with  $Q^*$ . Since two upper D5-branes are attached to the same D7-brane, the Kähler parameter  $Q^*$  for the left-vertical edge should be related to the Kähler parameter  $Q_f Q_3^{-1}$ .



Figure 24. A Higgs vacuum of  $T_3$  theory.

We find that the following relation gives rise to the expected result.

$$Q^* = Q_f Q_3^{-1} \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} . (6.29)$$

The topological string partition function with this relation is given by

$$\begin{split} Z = &\sum_{\vec{\alpha},\vec{\beta}} (-Q_1)^{|\alpha_1|} (-Q_2)^{|\alpha_2|} (-Q_3)^{|\alpha_3|} (-Q_b)^{|\beta_1|} (-Q^*)^{|\beta_3|} (-Q_f Q_2^{-1})^{|\beta_2|} f_{\beta_1^t}(t,q) \tilde{f}_{\beta_3^t}(q,t) \tag{6.30} \\ &\times C_{\emptyset\beta_2\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\alpha_2\beta_2^t\alpha_1^t}(t,q) C_{\emptyset\emptyset\alpha_1}(q,t) C_{\alpha_2^t\emptyset\alpha_3}(q,t) C_{\emptyset\beta_3^t\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\beta_3\alpha_3^t\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\emptyset\alpha_3\beta_1^t}(t,q) \\ &= \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-e^{-i\lambda-im_2}t^{i-\frac{1}{2}}q^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-e^{-i\lambda-im_4}t^{i-\frac{1}{2}}q^{j-\frac{1}{2}})(1-e^{-i\lambda+im_4}t^{i-\frac{1}{2}}q^{j-\frac{1}{2}})}{(1-e^{-i(\lambda-m_2)}q^{i+\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{3}{2}})} \\ &\times \sum_{\alpha_1,\beta_1} u_1^{|\alpha_1|} u_2^{|\beta_1|} \prod_{s\in\alpha_1} \frac{\sin\frac{E_{\alpha_1\emptyset}-\lambda+m_4+i\gamma_1}{\sin\frac{E_{\alpha_1\alpha_1}}{2}}\sin\frac{E_{\alpha_1\alpha_1}+m_4+i\gamma_1}{2}}{\sin\frac{E_{\alpha_1\alpha_1}+2i\gamma_1}{2}} \prod_{s\in\beta_1} \frac{\sin\frac{E_{\beta_1\beta_1}-m_4+i\gamma_1}{\sin\frac{E_{\beta_1\beta_1}}{2}}\sin\frac{E_{\beta_1\beta_1}+2i\gamma_1}{2}}{\sin\frac{E_{\beta_1\beta_1}+2i\gamma_1}{2}} \,, \end{split}$$

where we identified the Kähler parameters as

$$Q_1 = -u_1 e^{i\lambda}, \quad Q_2 = e^{-i\lambda - im_4}, \quad Q_3 = e^{-i\lambda - im_2}, \quad Q_f = e^{-2i\lambda}, \quad Q_b Q_2^{\frac{1}{2}} Q_3^{\frac{1}{2}} = u_2$$
(6.31)

to compare with (6.7). Here we set  $\chi(X) = 0$  since the web diagram has no compact 4-cycle, i.e. no Coulomb branch. One can see that the last line in (6.30) agrees with the instanton part  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  in (6.7). The ratio of two partition functions is then given by

$$\frac{Z_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}}}{Z} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left[ (1 - e^{-i\lambda + im_2} q^{i-\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) (1 - e^{-i\lambda + im_2} q^{i+\frac{1}{2}} t^{j-\frac{3}{2}}) (1 - u_1 e^{im_4} q^i t^{j-1}) (1 - u_1 e^{-im_4} q^{i-1} t^j) \right. \\ \left. \times (1 - u_2 e^{-i\lambda - \frac{i}{2}(m_2 + m_4)} q^i t^{j-1}) (1 - u_2 e^{i\lambda - \frac{i}{2}(m_2 + m_4)} q^{i-1} t^j) \right. \\ \left. \times (1 - u_1 u_2 e^{-i\lambda - \frac{i}{2}(m_2 - m_4)} q^i t^{j-1}) (1 - u_1 u_2 e^{i\lambda + \frac{i}{2}(m_2 - m_4)} q^{i-1} t^j) \right].$$
(6.32)

This ratio is exactly the U(1) factor of  $T_3$  theory in (4.71) at the Higgs vacuum with the parameter setting (6.6), up to the factor for  $e^{im_1-im_3} = q/t$  which is independent of the Kähler parameters.

Following a similar logic, we now consider the partition function of  $E_7$  theory. The web diagram with Kähler parameters is shown in figure 25. The Kähler parameters  $Q_1^*$  and  $Q_2^*$  are not independent parameters and thus determined by other Kähler parameters. We identify them as follows:

$$Q_1^* = Q_1 Q_3 \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad Q_2^* = Q_f Q_1^{-1} Q_2^{-1} \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(6.33)



Figure 25. Web diagram of  $E_7$  theory.

 $\begin{aligned} \text{Using the topological vertex formalism, we obtain the partition function} \\ \mathcal{Z}\!\!=\!\!(M(t,q)M(q,t))^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \sum_{\vec{\alpha},\vec{\beta}} (-Q_1)^{|\alpha_1|} (-Q_2)^{|\alpha_2|} (-Q_3)^{|\alpha_3|} (-Q_4)^{|\alpha_4|} (-Q_5)^{|\alpha_5|} (-Q_6)^{|\alpha_6|} (-Q_b)^{|\beta_1|} (-Q_bQ_1Q_2^{-1}Q_4^{-1})^{|\beta_2|} \\ \times (-Q_fQ_1^{-1}Q_2^{-1})^{|\beta_3|} (-Q_fQ_4^{-1})^{|\beta_4|} (-Q_1^*)^{|\beta_5|} (-Q_2^*)^{|\beta_6|} f_{\beta_2^t}(t,q) \tilde{f}_{\beta_3^t}(q,t) C_{\emptyset\beta_4\beta_1^t}(q,t) C_{\alpha_4\beta_4^t\alpha_5^t}(t,q) \\ \times C_{\emptyset\emptyset\alpha_5}(q,t) C_{\alpha_4^t\emptyset\beta_2}(q,t) C_{\alpha_1^t\alpha_3^t\beta_1}(t,q) C_{\emptyset\alpha_3\emptyset}(q,t) C_{\alpha_1\beta_3^t\alpha_6^t}(q,t) C_{\beta_3\alpha_2^t}(q,t) C_{\emptyset\alpha_2\beta_2^t}(t,q) \\ = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \prod_{a=2,3,4} (1-e^{-i\lambda+i\mu_a}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) (1-e^{-i\lambda-i\mu_a}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) \right\} (1-e^{-i\lambda-i\mu_1}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) (1-e^{-i\lambda-i\mu_1}q^{i-\frac{1}{2}}t^{j-\frac{1}{2}}) \\ \times \sum_{\nu_2, \tilde{\nu}_1, \tilde{\nu}_2, \nu_8} u_1^{|\nu_2|} u_2^{|\nu_1'|+|\nu_2'|} u_3^{|\nu_8|} \prod_{s\in\nu_2} \prod_{a\in\nu_2} \frac{12^{2}\sin \frac{E_{\nu_2\nu_2}+\mu_3+i\gamma_1}{2}}{12^{2}\sin \frac{E_{\nu_2\nu_2}+\mu_3+i\gamma_1}{2}} \prod_{s\in\nu_8} \frac{12^{2}\cos \frac{E_{\nu_8\nu_8}+2i\gamma_1}{2}}{(2i)^2\sin \frac{E_{\nu_8\nu_8}+2i\gamma_1}{2}} \\ \times \prod_{\alpha'=1}^{2} \prod_{s\in\nu_{\alpha'}} \frac{\left(\prod_{a=1}^2 2i\sin \frac{E_{\alpha'\theta}-\mu_a+i\gamma_1}{2}\right) \left(2i\sin \frac{E_{\alpha'\mu'}-\mu_3+i\gamma_1}{2}\right) \left(2i\sin \frac{E_{\alpha'\mu'}-\mu_4+i\gamma_1}{2}\right)}{\prod_{\beta'=1}^2 (2i)^2\sin \frac{E_{\alpha'\beta'}}{2}\sin \frac{E_{\alpha'\beta'}+2i\gamma_1}{2}}, \qquad (6.34) \end{aligned}$ 

where

$$Q_{f} = e^{-2i\lambda}, \quad Q_{1} = e^{-i\lambda + i\mu_{3}}, \quad Q_{2} = e^{-i\lambda - i\mu_{2}}, \quad Q_{3} = e^{i\lambda - i\mu_{1}}, \quad Q_{4} = e^{-i\lambda - i\mu_{4}}$$
$$Q_{b}Q_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}Q_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q_{3}^{\frac{1}{2}}Q_{4}^{-\frac{1}{2}} = u_{2}, \quad Q_{5} = -u_{3}e^{i\lambda}, \quad Q_{6} = -u_{1}e^{i\lambda}, \quad (6.35)$$

and  $\lambda'_1 = -\lambda'_2 = \lambda$ ,  $\lambda_2 = \lambda_8 = 0$ .

One can compare this partition function with  $E_7$  partition function in (6.20). The ratio of two partition functions is given by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\underline{Z}}_{\mathcal{T}_{IR}} &= \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{i-1}t^{j})^{2} (1-e^{-i(\mu_{1}-\mu_{2})}q^{i}t^{j-1})^{2} (1-e^{-i(\mu_{1}-\mu_{2})}q^{i-1}t^{j}) (1-e^{-i(\mu_{1}-\mu_{2})}q^{i+1}t^{j-2}) \\ &\times (1-e^{-i(\mu_{3}+\mu_{5})}q^{i-1}t^{j}) (1-e^{i(\mu_{3}-\mu_{5})}q^{i}t^{j-1}) (1-e^{-i(\mu_{4}+\mu_{6})}q^{i-1}t^{j}) (1-e^{i(\mu_{4}-\mu_{6})}q^{i}t^{j-1}) \\ &\times (1-ue^{\frac{i(-\mu_{1}-\mu_{2}+\mu_{3}+\mu_{4}-\mu_{5}-\mu_{6})}{2}}q^{i}t^{j-1}) (1-ue^{\frac{i(-\mu_{1}-\mu_{2}-\mu_{3}+\mu_{4}+\mu_{5}-\mu_{6})}{2}}q^{i}t^{j-1}) (1-ue^{\frac{i(-\mu_{1}-\mu_{2}+\mu_{3}-\mu_{4}+\mu_{5}+\mu_{6})}{2}}q^{i-1}t^{j}) (1-ue^{\frac{i(\mu_{1}+\mu_{2}-\mu_{3}-\mu_{4}+\mu_{5}-\mu_{6})}{2}}q^{i-1}t^{j}) \\ &\times (1-ue^{\frac{i(\mu_{1}+\mu_{2}-\mu_{3}+\mu_{4}-\mu_{5}+\mu_{6})}{2}}q^{i-1}t^{j}) (1-ue^{\frac{i(\mu_{1}+\mu_{2}+\mu_{3}+\mu_{4}+\mu_{5}+\mu_{6})}{2}}q^{i-1}t^{j}) , \end{split}$$

after omitting the divergent factors like (4.62). The ratio is the same as the U(1) factor of the  $T_4$  theory at the Higgs vacuum of (6.19).

#### 7 Conclusion

In this paper, we have shown how to compute the Nekrasov partition functions of fivedimensional  $T_N$  theories using the refined topological vertex formalism on the toric Calabi-Yau threefolds of the resolved  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N)$  proposed in [32]. For that, we have identified the contribution from decoupled M2-branes to the topological string amplitude, which also enables us to evaluate the Nekrasov partition function of an SU(N) gauge group rather than U(N). We have also shown that the partition functions of the low energy theories at a Higgs vacuum of  $T_N$  theories can be obtained by taking certain limits of the  $T_N$  partition functions.

In principle, our method can be used to compute the exact partition functions of the theories from any web diagrams and also the theories realized as the low energy descriptions of their Higgs branches. Furthermore, our expressions of the partition functions are technically tractable since they do not involve any contour integrals such as the Sp(1) Nekrasov partition function obtained from the field theory technique in [12–14]. It would be also interesting to perform further checks of our proposal from a field theory analysis, for example for theories which have Lagrangian descriptions such as SU(N) gauge theories.

The Higgs branch results we obtained in this paper could be a prototype for the refined topological vertex on non-toric web diagrams, which may be also related to non-toric Calabi-Yau threefolds. The results provided non-trivial checks that the IR theory at a particular Higgs vacuum of  $T_4$  theory is dual to the Sp(1) gauge theory with 6 flavors and has the  $E_7$  global symmetry. It is possible to extend the Higgsing technique to other  $T_N$  theories in order to get the partition functions of the  $E_8$  theory or higher rank  $E_{6,7,8}$  theories which are constructed by non-toric web diagrams. Relatedly, an attractive future direction would be to develop a systematic way to apply the topological vertex formalism directly to non-toric diagrams. A primitive version of this work was done in section 6.3.

When compactified on  $S^1$ , the class of 5d theories we are considering reduces to the 6d (2,0) theory compactified on a sphere with three regular punctures. For example, the  $T_N$  theory is associated with a sphere with three maximal punctures [7]. The example of subsection 6.1 is associated with a shpere with one minimal and two maximal punctures. All such theories are classified in [74]. It would be interesting to evaluate the 5d Nekrasov partition function of such theories, by using our Higgsing method.

We also have found that the Nekrasov partition function for  $T_N$  theory is exactly the same as that of a quiver gauge theory, up to decoupled free factors. This result may imply that two theories are somehow related in five dimensions. It would be interesting to work out this relation clearly from the field theory view point. The decoupled U(1) factor may play an important role.

The four dimensional reduction of the partition functions we computed can be considered along two different directions, i.e. "time"  $S^1$  direction or large *n* limit of orbifold  $\mathbb{R}^4/\mathbb{Z}_n$ (or  $S^4/\mathbb{Z}_n$  for superconformal index), but it turns out that both are subtle. Note that, in 5d, the instanton charge plays as an extra flavor charge and its fugacity should not be identified with the gauge coupling of 4d theory because  $T_N$  theories have no marginal coupling. Under the reduction along the  $S^1$  circle,<sup>34</sup> the instanton expansion by the fugacity u diverges since  $u \to 1$ . On the other hand, the reduction by large orbifold limit introduced in [75] appears to cause a partial flavor symmetry breaking in 4d.<sup>35</sup> To resolve the second subtlety, we may need to carefully take into account the effect of the orbifold singularity.

Finally, our studies may provide new insights into the 5d extension of AGT conjecture [15, 76–83]. The 5d  $T_N$  partition function allows us to study the three-point correlator of q-deformed  $W_N$  algebra though its 4d counterpart is not known yet. For the generic correlators, we can consider gluing the external legs in the web diagram and compute the corresponding partition functions.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Jaume Gomis, Amer Iqbal, Katsushi Ito, Christoph Keller, Seok Kim, Jaewon Song and Yuji Tachikawa for useful and enlightening discussions, and especially Davide Gaiotto for insightful discussions and comments on the manuscript. The work of HH is supported by the REA grant agreement PCIG10-GA-2011-304023 from the People Programme of FP7 (Marie Curie Action), the grant FPA2012-32828 from the MINECO, the ERC Advanced Grant SPLE under contract ERC-2012-ADG-20120216-320421 and the grant SEV-2012-0249 of the "Centro de Excelencia Severo Ochoa" Programme. The work of HK was supported by the Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics. Research at Perimeter Institute is supported by the Government of Canada through Industry Canada and by the Province of Ontario through the Ministry of Research and Innovation. The work of TN is supported by the U.S. Department of Energy under grant DE-FG02-96ER40959.

# A Instanton partition function

In this appendix, we briefly summarize the formulae for the vector and various hypermultiplet contributions to the instanton partition function of  $U(N_l) \times U(N_n)$  quiver gauge theory. The Nekrasov instanton partition function [8, 9, 84] takes the form of

$$Z_{\text{inst}} = \sum_{\vec{Y}_l, \vec{Y}_n} u_l^{|\vec{Y}_l|} u_n^{|\vec{Y}_n|} Z(\vec{Y}_l, \vec{Y}_n) \,, \tag{A.1}$$

where  $u_l, u_n$  denote the instanton fugacities for the gauge groups. The summation runs over all possible Young diagram configurations for the colored Young diagrams  $\vec{Y_l}$  and  $\vec{Y_n}$ .  $|\vec{Y_l}|$ denotes the total number of boxes in  $\vec{Y_l}$ . The function  $Z(\vec{Y_l}, \vec{Y_n})$  is given by the product of all the matter contributions. The contributions of the hypermultiplets in the fundamental and the anti-fundamental representation of  $U(N_l)$  gauge group are given by

$$z_{\text{fund}}(l;m) = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{N_l} \prod_{s \in Y_{l,\alpha}} \left[ 2i \sin \frac{E(l,\emptyset,\alpha,\emptyset) - m + i\gamma_1}{2} \right]$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>To take this limit, we first restore the  $S^1$  radius  $\beta$  in the partition function such as  $u = e^{i\beta m}$  where u is the flavor fugacity and take  $\beta \to 0$  limit.

 $<sup>^{35}</sup>$ In [75], the instanton contribution to the partition function is suppressed and thus instanton states are dropped out in 4d partition function.



Figure 26. The component diagram which gives the factor  $A_n(\vec{Y}_n, \vec{Y}_{n-1})$ .

$$z_{\text{anti-fund}}(l;m) = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{N_l} \prod_{s \in Y_{l,\alpha}} \left[ 2i \sin \frac{-E(l,\emptyset,\alpha,\emptyset) - m - i\gamma_1}{2} \right], \quad (A.2)$$

where m is the mass parameter (or U(1) flavor chemical potential) for hypermultiplet and s denotes the (i, j) position of the corresponding Young diagram. The bi-fundamental hypermultiplet of  $U(N_l) \times U(N_n)$  gauge group contributes to the partition function by

$$z_{\text{bifund}}(l,n;m) = \prod_{\alpha_l=1}^{N_l} \prod_{\beta_n=1}^{N_n} \prod_{s \in Y_{l,\alpha_l}} \left[ 2i\sin\frac{E(l,n,\alpha_l,\beta_n,s) - m + i\gamma_1}{2} \right]_{\tilde{s} \in Y_{n,\beta_n}} \left[ 2i\sin\frac{E(n,l,\beta_n,\alpha_l,\tilde{s}) + m + i\gamma_1}{2} \right].$$
(A.3)

The function E is defined by

$$E(l, n, \alpha_l, \beta_n, s) = \lambda_{l, \alpha_l} - \lambda_{n, \beta_n} + i(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2)\ell_{Y_{l, \alpha_l}}(s) - i(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2)(a_{Y_{n, \beta_n}}(s) + 1), \quad (A.4)$$

where  $\lambda_{l,\alpha}$  is the Coulomb branch parameter for  $U(N_l)$  gauge group.

The vector multiplet contribution is simply given by

$$z_{\rm vec}(l) = rac{1}{z_{
m bifund}(l,l;+i\gamma_1)}$$
.

# B The topological string partition function on $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N)$

We here give a explicit proof of the expression (5.2) for the refined topological string partition function on the resolved  $\mathbb{C}^3/(\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N)$ . The relevant toric web-diagram is shown in figure 17. From the toric data, it follows that  $P_k^{(n)}Q_k^{(n)} = Q_k^{(n+1)}P_{k+1}^{(n+1)}$  and

 $R_a^{(n)} = R_1^{(n)} (P_{a-1}^{(n-1)} P_{a-2}^{(n-1)} \cdots P_1^{(n-1)}) (P_a^{(n)} P_{a-1}^{(n)} \cdots P_2^{(n)})^{-1}$ , Note that all the framing factors are trivial here.

The refined topological string partition function is given by

$$Z_{\text{ref}} = \left(M(t,q)M(q,t)\right)^{\frac{\chi(X)}{4}} \times Z, \qquad (B.1)$$

where  $\chi(X)$  is the Euler characteristics of the Calabi-Yau threefold, and Z is evaluated via the refined topological vertex. An essential technique to compute Z is the refinement of [85].<sup>36</sup> The toric web-diagram in figure 17 implies that

$$Z = \sum_{\vec{Y}_1, \cdots, \vec{Y}_{N-1}} A_N(\emptyset, \vec{Y}_{N-1}) \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \left( B_{n+1,n}(\vec{Y}_n) A_n(\vec{Y}_n, \vec{Y}_{n-1}) \right),$$
(B.2)

where

$$B_{n+1,n}(\vec{Y}_n) = \prod_{a=1}^n (-R_i^{(n)})^{|Y_{n,a}|}.$$
 (B.3)

and  $\vec{Y}_n = (Y_{n;1}, \dots, Y_{n;n})$  is the set of *n* Young diagrams. The factor  $A_n(\vec{Y}_n, \vec{Y}_{n-1})$  is the contribution from the diagram in figure 26, and evaluated as

$$A_{n}(\vec{Y}_{n},\vec{Y}_{n-1}) = \sum_{\vec{\mu},\vec{\rho}} C_{\mu_{1}\emptyset Y_{n;1}}(q,t) \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \left[ C_{\mu_{i}^{t}\rho_{i}Y_{n-1;i}^{t}}(t,q) C_{\mu_{i+1}\rho_{i}^{t}Y_{n;i+1}}(q,t) \left( -P_{i}^{(n-1)} \right)^{|\mu_{i}|} \left( -Q_{i}^{(n-1)} \right)^{|\rho_{i}|} \right].$$
(B.4)

Here  $\vec{\mu} = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_{n-1})$  and  $\vec{\rho} = (\rho_1, \dots, \rho_{n-1})$  are two sets of Young diagrams. Note that we implicitly set  $\vec{Y}_0 = \emptyset$ . To be more explicit, we have

$$A_{n}(\vec{Y}_{n},\vec{Y}_{n-1}) = t^{\frac{||Y_{n;1}||^{2}}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{Y_{n;1}}(q,t) \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} t^{\frac{||Y_{n;i+1}||^{2}}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{Y_{n;i+1}}(q,t) q^{\frac{||Y_{n-1;i}^{t}||^{2}}{2}} \tilde{Z}_{Y_{n-1;i}^{t}}(t,q)$$

$$\times \sum_{\eta_{i},\xi_{i};\xi_{0}=\xi_{n-1}=\emptyset;} \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{\frac{|\eta_{i}|-|\xi_{i}|}{2}} \sum_{\mu_{i}} \left(-P_{i}^{(n-1)}\right)^{|\mu_{i}|} s_{\mu_{i}/\eta_{i}}(t^{-\rho}q^{-Y_{n-1;i}^{t}}) s_{\mu_{i}^{t}/\xi_{i-1}}(q^{-\rho}t^{-Y_{n;i}})$$

$$\times \sum_{\rho_{i}} \left(-Q_{i}^{(n-1)}\right)^{|\rho_{i}|} s_{\rho_{i}/\eta_{i}}(t^{-Y_{n-1;i}}q^{-\rho}) s_{\rho_{i}^{t}/\xi_{i}}(q^{-Y_{n;i+1}^{t}}t^{-\rho}). \quad (B.5)$$

We can evaluate this by generalizing the method of [85] to the refined topological vertex. We first use the identities

$$\sum_{\mu} s_{\mu^{t}/\eta}(\mathbf{x}) s_{\mu/\xi}(\mathbf{y}) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 + x_{i}y_{j}) \sum_{\mu} s_{\xi^{t}/\mu}(\mathbf{x}) s_{\eta^{t}/\mu^{t}}(\mathbf{y}),$$
(B.6)

$$\sum_{\mu} s_{\mu/\eta}(\mathbf{x}) s_{\mu/\xi}(\mathbf{y}) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - x_i y_j)^{-1} \sum_{\mu} s_{\xi/\mu}(\mathbf{x}) s_{\eta/\mu}(\mathbf{y}),$$
(B.7)

several times to obtain

$$A_n(\vec{Y}_n, \vec{Y}_{n-1}) = \left(\prod_{a=1}^n t^{\frac{||Y_{n;a}||^2}{2}} \widetilde{Z}_{Y_{n;a}}(q, t)\right) \left(\prod_{a=1}^{n-1} q^{\frac{||Y_{n-1;a}^t||^2}{2}} \widetilde{Z}_{Y_{n-1;a}^t}(t, q)\right)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>For a similar computation for U(N) linear quivers, see [86].

$$\times \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-1} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - P_a^{(n-1)} Q_a^{(n-1)} \cdots P_b^{(n-1)} q^{i-1/2 - Y_{n-1;b,j}} t^{j-1/2 - Y_{n;a,i}} \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-1} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - Q_a^{(n-1)} P_{a+1}^{(n-1)} \cdots Q_b^{(n-1)} q^{i-1/2 - Y_{n;b+1,j}} t^{j-1/2 - Y_{n-1;a,i}} \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-1} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - P_a^{(n-1)} Q_a^{(n-1)} \cdots Q_b^{(n-1)} q^{i-Y_{n;b+1,j}^t} t^{j-1-Y_{n;a,i}} \right)^{-1}$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-2} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - Q_a^{(n-1)} P_{a+1}^{(n-1)} \cdots P_{b+1}^{(n-1)} q^{i-1-Y_{n-1;b+1,j}^t} t^{j-Y_{n-1;a,i}} \right)^{-1}.$$
(B.8)

By using the identity

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - Qq^{i-1-Y_{1,j}}t^{j-Y_{2,i}}) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} (1 - Qq^{i-1}t^j) \prod_{s \in Y_2} (1 - Qq^{-a_{Y_1^t(s)}-1}t^{-\ell_{Y_2}(s)}) \\ \times \prod_{s \in Y_1^t} (1 - Qq^{a_{Y_2}(s)}t^{\ell_{Y_1^t}(s)+1}),$$
(B.9)

we can further rewrite this as

$$A_n(\vec{Y}_n, \vec{Y}_{n-1}) = (g_n h_n) \cdot A_n^{(\text{pert})} \cdot A_n^{(\text{matter})}(\vec{Y}_n, \vec{Y}_{n-1}) \cdot A_n^{(\text{gauge})}(\vec{Y}_n, Y_{n-1}), \qquad (B.10)$$

where

$$g_{n} = \prod_{a=1}^{n} q^{-\frac{||Y_{n;a}^{t}||^{2}}{4}} t^{\frac{||Y_{n;a}||^{2}}{4}} \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} q^{\frac{||Y_{n-1;a}^{t}||^{2}}{4}} t^{-\frac{||Y_{n-1;a}||^{2}}{4}}$$

$$(B.11)$$

$$\times \prod_{a=1}^{n} \left[ q^{-\frac{|Y_{n;b}|}{4}} - \frac{|Y_{n;a-1}|}{4} t^{\frac{|Y_{n;a-1}|}{4}} + \frac{|Y_{n;b}|}{4} \right] \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \left[ q^{\frac{|Y_{n-1;a}||^{2}}{4}} t^{-\frac{|Y_{n-1;a-1}|}{4}} - \frac{|Y_{n-1;a-1}|}{4} t^{-\frac{|Y_{n-1;a-1}|}{4}} t^{-\frac{|Y_{n-1;a-1}|}{4}} \right]$$

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le a \le b \le n}} \left[ \begin{array}{ccccc} q & q & q & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le b \le n - 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le n - 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le a \le n - 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le n - 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le n \le n - 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le n - 1 & 1 \\ 1 \le n \le n - 1$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} A_{n}^{(\text{pert})} &= \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left[ \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-1} (1 - P_{a}^{(n-1)} Q_{a}^{(n-1)} \cdots P_{b}^{(n-1)} q^{i-1/2} t^{j-1/2}) \right. \\ &\times \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-1} (1 - Q_{a}^{(n-1)} P_{a+1}^{(n-1)} \cdots Q_{b}^{(n-1)} q^{i-1/2} t^{j-1/2}) \\ &\times \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-1} (1 - P_{a}^{(n-1)} Q_{a}^{(n-1)} \cdots Q_{b}^{(n-1)} q^{i} t^{j-1})^{-1} \\ &\times \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le n-2} (1 - Q_{a}^{(n-1)} P_{a+1}^{(n-1)} \cdots P_{b+1}^{(n-1)} q^{i-1} t^{j})^{-1} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(B.13)

$$A_{n}^{(\text{matter})} = \prod_{a=1}^{n} \prod_{b=1}^{n-1} \left\{ \prod_{s \in Y_{n;a}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n, n-1, a, b, s) + m_n - \frac{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2}{2}}{2}\right) \right] \times \prod_{s \in Y_{n-1;b}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n-1, n, b, a, s) - m_n - \frac{\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2}{2}}{2}\right) \right],$$
(B.14)

$$A_n^{(\text{gauge})} = \prod_{a=1}^n \prod_{s \in Y_{n;a}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n, n, a, a, s)}{2}\right) \right]^{-1}$$

$$\times \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \prod_{s \in Y_{n-1;a}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n-1,n-1,a,a,s) - (\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2)}{2}\right) \right]^{-1} \\ \times \prod_{1 \le a < b \le n} \left\{ \prod_{s \in Y_{n;a}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n,n,a,b,s) - (\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2)}{2}\right) \right]^{-1} \\ \times \prod_{s \in Y_{n;b}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n,n,b,a,s)}{2}\right) \right]^{-1} \right\} \\ \times \prod_{1 \le a < b \le n-1} \left\{ \prod_{s \in Y_{n-1;a}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n-1,n-1,a,b,s)}{2}\right) \right]^{-1} \\ \times \prod_{s \in Y_{n-1;b}} \left[ 2i \sin\left(\frac{E(n-1,n-1,b,a,s) - (\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2)}{2}\right) \right]^{-1} \right\}.$$
(B.15)

In the last two factors, we defined  $\lambda_{n;k}$  and  $m_n$  so that  $\sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_{n;k} = 0$  and

$$P_k^{(n-1)}Q_k^{(n-1)} = \exp(-i\lambda_{n;k+1} + i\lambda_{n;k}), \qquad P_k^{(n-1)} = \exp(i\lambda_{n;k} - i\lambda_{n-1;k} + im_n).$$
(B.16)

and used

$$E(n, m, a, b, s) = \lambda_{n;a} - \lambda_{m;b} - \epsilon_1 \ell_{Y_{n;a}}(s) + \epsilon_2 (a_{Y_{m;b}}(s) + 1).$$
(B.17)

Recall that  $q = e^{-i\epsilon_2}$  and  $t = e^{i\epsilon_1}$ . Here *n* and *k* of  $\lambda_{n;k}$  and  $m_n$  run over  $n = 2, \dots, N$  and  $k = 1, \dots, n$ . Note that this parameterization properly satisfies  $P_k^{(n-1)}Q_k^{(n-1)} = Q_k^{(n)}P_{k+1}^{(n)}$ . We now have

$$P_a^{(n-1)}Q_a^{(n-1)}\cdots P_b^{(n-1)} = \exp(i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n-1;b} + im_n),$$
(B.18)

$$Q_a^{(n-1)} P_{a+1}^{(n-1)} \cdots Q_b^{(n-1)} = \exp(i\lambda_{n-1;a} - i\lambda_{n;b+1} - im_n),$$
(B.19)

$$P_a^{(n-1)}Q_a^{(n-1)}\cdots Q_b^{(n-1)} = \exp(i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n;b+1}),$$
(B.20)

$$Q_a^{(n-1)} P_{a+1}^{(n-1)} \cdots P_{b+1}^{(n-1)} = \exp(i\lambda_{n-1;a} - i\lambda_{n-1;b+1}).$$
(B.21)

By putting all together and use the fact that  $\prod_{n=1}^{N} g_n = 1$ , we find

$$A_{N}(\emptyset, \vec{Y}_{N-1}) \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \left( B_{n+1,n}(\vec{Y}_{n}) A_{n}(\vec{Y}_{n}, \vec{Y}_{n-1}) \right)$$
  
= 
$$\prod_{m=1}^{N} (A_{m}^{\text{pert}} h_{m}) \times \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \left( B_{n+1,n}(\vec{Y}_{n}) z_{\text{vec}}(n) \right)$$
  
$$\times \prod_{a=1}^{N} z_{\text{fund}}(N-1; \lambda_{N;a} + m_{N}) \times \prod_{n=2}^{N-1} z_{\text{bifund}}(n-1, n; m_{n}), \qquad (B.22)$$

where  $z_{\text{vec}}$ ,  $z_{\text{fund}}$  and  $z_{\text{bifund}}$  are defined in (A.3). Now recall that, from the toric data, we have the relation

$$R_a^{(n)} = R_1^{(n)} (P_{a-1}^{(n-1)} P_{a-2}^{(n-1)} \cdots P_1^{(n-1)}) (P_a^{(n)} P_{a-1}^{(n)} \cdots P_2^{(n)})^{-1},$$
(B.23)

which implies

$$\prod_{m=1}^{N} h_m \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} B_{n+1,n}(\vec{Y}_n) = \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} (u_n)^{\sum_{a=1}^{n} |Y_{n,a}|}$$
(B.24)

with

$$u_n \equiv R_1^{(n)} Q_n^{(n)\frac{1}{2}} P_1^{(n)\frac{1}{2}} (P_2^{(n)} \cdots P_n^{(n)})^{-\frac{1}{2}} (P_1^{(n-1)} \cdots P_{n-1}^{(n-1)})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (B.25)

Therefore we finally obtain

$$Z = \left(\prod_{n=1}^{N} A_n^{(\text{pert})}\right) \sum_{\vec{Y}_1, \cdots, \vec{Y}_{N-1}} \left\{ \left[\prod_{n=1}^{N-1} (u_n)^{|\vec{Y}_n|} z_{\text{vec}}(n)\right] \left[\prod_{a=1}^{N} z_{\text{fund}}(N-1; \tilde{m}_a)\right] \times \left[\prod_{n=2}^{N-1} z_{\text{bifund}}(n-1, n; m_n)\right] \right\}.$$
 (B.26)

where  $|\vec{Y}_n| \equiv \sum_{a=1}^{n} |Y_{n,a}|$  and  $\tilde{m}_a = \lambda_{N,a} + m_N$ . Here the sum over Young diagrams in (B.26) correctly gives the instanton partition function of the corresponding gauge theory. On the other hand, the first product  $\prod_{n=1}^{N} A_n^{(\text{pert})}$  is written as

$$\prod_{n=1}^{N} A_n^{(\text{pert})} = Z_0 Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=}, \qquad (B.27)$$

with

$$Z_{0} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{\left[ \prod_{a \leq b} (1 - e^{-i\lambda_{N-1;b} + i\tilde{m}_{a}} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) \prod_{b < a} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{N-1;b} - i\tilde{m}_{a}} q^{i - \frac{1}{2}} t^{j - \frac{1}{2}}) \right]}{\prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \prod_{a < b} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n;b}} q^{i} t^{j-1})(1 - e^{i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n;b}} q^{i-1} t^{j})} \\ \times \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \prod_{a \leq b} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{n;a} - i\lambda_{n-1;b} + im_{n}} q^{i-1/2} t^{j-1/2}) \prod_{b < a} (1 - e^{i\lambda_{n-1;b} - i\lambda_{n;a} - im_{n}} q^{i-1/2} t^{j-1/2}) \right\},$$

$$Z_{U(1)}^{=} = \prod_{1 \leq a < b \leq N} \prod_{k,\ell=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{i\tilde{m}_{a} - i\tilde{m}_{b}} q^{k} t^{\ell-1})^{-1}.$$
(B.28)

Note that  $(M(t,q)M(q,t))^{\frac{\chi(X)}{4}}Z_0$  gives the perturbative part of the Nekrasov partition function, while the extra factor

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} = \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N} \prod_{k,\ell=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{i\tilde{m}_a - i\tilde{m}_b} q^k t^{\ell-1})^{-1}.$$
 (B.29)

is a contribution from decoupled M2-branes associated with pairs of horizontal external lines in figure 17. Thus we have proved the result (5.2).

# C SU(N) gauge theory with $N_f = 2N$ flavors

Our proposal of the U(1) factor  $Z_{U(1)}$  in section 4.2 can be straightforwardly generalized to a higher rank SU(N) gauge group. As an example, let us compute the partition function of an SU(N) gauge theory with  $N_f = 2N$  hypermultiplets in the fundamental representation.

The web diagram which geometrically engineers an SU(N) gauge theory with  $N_f = 2N$  flavors is depicted in figure 27. The partition function of the web diagram figure 27 can be again computed by the refined topological vertex

$$\tilde{Z}_{SU(N)} = (M(t,q)M(q,t))^{\frac{N-1}{2}} Z(t,q,R,P_a,Q_a,\tilde{P}_a,\tilde{Q}_a),$$
(C.1)



**Figure 27.** A web diagram for an SU(N) gauge theory with  $N_f = 2N$  hypermultiplets in the fundamental representation. Not all the Kähler parameters  $P_a, \tilde{P}_a, a = 1, \dots, N$  and  $Q_a, \tilde{Q}_a, a = 1, \dots, N-1$  are independent but subject to  $Q_a P_{a+1} = \tilde{Q}_a \tilde{P}_{a+1}$ .

where

$$Z(t,q,R,P_{a},Q_{a},\tilde{P}_{a},\tilde{Q}_{a}) = \sum_{\vec{\mu},\vec{\rho},\vec{Y}} \prod_{a=1}^{N} \left[ C_{\mu_{a}\rho_{a-1}^{t}\emptyset}(q,t)(-P_{a})^{|\mu_{a}|}C_{\mu_{a}^{t}\rho_{a}Y_{a}^{t}}(t,q)(-Q_{a})^{|\rho_{a}|}f_{Y_{a}}(q,t) \right.$$

$$\left. (C.2) \left. (-RP_{a}^{-1}\tilde{P}_{a}^{-1}\cdots P_{N}^{-1}\tilde{P}_{N}^{-1})^{|Y_{a}|}C_{\tilde{\rho}_{a-1}\tilde{\mu}_{a}\emptyset}(t,q)(-\tilde{P}_{a})^{|\mu_{a}|}C_{\tilde{\rho}_{a}\tilde{\mu}_{a}^{t}Y_{a}}(q,t)(-Q_{a})^{|\tilde{\rho}_{a}|} \right].$$

Here we define  $\rho_0 = \rho_N = \emptyset$  and  $\vec{\mu} = (\mu_1, \cdots, \mu_N), \vec{\rho} = (\rho_1, \cdots, \rho_{N-1}), \vec{Y} = (Y_1, \cdots, Y_N).$ 

The explicit computation of the amplitude of (C.3) can be carried out in the same manner as in appendix B. The result has been obtained in [31], and in terms of our convention, eq. (C.3) becomes

$$\tilde{Z}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} \cdot Z_0 \cdot Z_{\mathrm{inst}} , \qquad (C.3)$$

where the U(1) factor for the horizontal parallel external lines is

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} = \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le N-1} \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - e^{im_a - im_{b+1}} t^{i-1} q^j\right)^{-1} \left(1 - e^{i\tilde{m}_a - i\tilde{m}_{b+1}} t^i q^{j-1}\right)^{-1} .$$
(C.4)

The perturbative part  $Z_0$  is

$$Z_{0} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{\prod_{1 \le a \le b \le N} \left( 1 - e^{-i\lambda_{b} + im_{a}} t^{i - \frac{1}{2}} q^{j - \frac{1}{2}} \right) \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le N-1} \left( 1 - e^{i\lambda_{a} - im_{b+1}} t^{i - \frac{1}{2}} q^{j - \frac{1}{2}} \right)}{(1 - t^{i}q^{j-1})^{\frac{N-1}{2}} (1 - t^{i-1}q^{j})^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le N-1} \left( 1 - e^{i\lambda_{a} - i\lambda_{b+1}} t^{i}q^{j-1} \right)} \\ \times \frac{\prod_{1 \le a \le b \le N} \left( 1 - e^{-i\lambda_{b} + i\tilde{m}_{a}} t^{i - \frac{1}{2}} q^{j - \frac{1}{2}} \right) \prod_{1 \le a \le b \le N-1} \left( 1 - e^{i\lambda_{a} - i\tilde{m}_{b+1}} t^{i - \frac{1}{2}} q^{j - \frac{1}{2}} \right)}{\prod_{1 \le a \le b \le N-1} \left( 1 - e^{i\lambda_{a} - i\lambda_{b+1}} t^{i-1}q^{j} \right)} \right]}. (C.5)$$

Finally, the instanton part  $Z_{\text{inst}}$  becomes

$$Z_{\text{inst}} = \sum_{\vec{Y}} u^{|Y_1| + \dots + |Y_N|} \prod_{a=1}^N \prod_{Y_a} \frac{\prod_{b=1}^N (2i)^2 \sin\left(\frac{E_{a\emptyset} - m_b + i\gamma_1}{2}\right) \sin\left(\frac{E_{a\emptyset} - \tilde{m}_b + i\gamma_1}{2}\right)}{\prod_{b=1}^N (2i)^2 \sin\left(\frac{E_{ab}}{2}\right) \sin\left(\frac{E_{ab} + 2i\gamma_1}{2}\right)}.$$
 (C.6)

Note that we have chosen the gauge theory parameters as

$$P_{a} = e^{-\lambda_{a} + im_{a}}, Q_{a} = e^{i\lambda_{a} - im_{a+1}}, u = RP_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}P_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\cdots P_{N}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{P}_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{P}_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\cdots \tilde{P}_{N}^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad (C.7)$$

$$\tilde{P}_a = e^{-\lambda_a + i\tilde{m}_a}, \tilde{Q}_a = e^{i\lambda_a - i\tilde{m}_{a+1}}, \tag{C.8}$$

where  $\sum_{a=1}^{N} \lambda_a = 0$ . We can see that

$$\tilde{Z}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)}/Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{=} = Z_0 \cdot Z_{\mathrm{inst}}$$
(C.9)

gives the U(N) partition function with Nf = 2N flavors up to the perturbative U(1) part.

As argued in section 4.2, The U(1) factor of (C.4) is not the only U(1) factor. We also have the other two U(1) factors from the parallel vertical lines at the top and the bottom of figure C.3. The structure of the web diagram regarding the vertical lines is essentially the same as that of the SU(2) gauge theory with  $N_f = 4$  flavors in section 4.1.1. Hence, the other U(1) factors can be obtained in the same manner as in section 4.1.1, and the result is

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(1)}^{||} = \prod_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 - u e^{\frac{i}{2} (\sum_{a} m_{a} + \sum_{a} \tilde{m}_{a})} q^{i-1} t^{j} \right)^{-1} \left( 1 - u e^{-\frac{i}{2} (\sum_{a} m_{a} + \sum_{a} \tilde{m}_{a})} q^{i} t^{j-1} \right)^{-1}.$$
(C.10)

The total U(1) factor then becomes

$$Z_{\rm U(1)} = Z_{\rm U(1)}^{=} Z_{\rm U(1)}^{\parallel}.$$
 (C.11)

Therefore, we propose that the partition function of the SU(N) gauge theory with Nf = 2N flavors is

$$Z_{SU(N)} = \tilde{Z}_{SU(N)} / Z_{U(1)}.$$
 (C.12)

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Electric-magnetic duality, monopole condensation and confinement in N = 2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 426 (1994) 19 [Erratum ibid. B 430 (1994) 485] [hep-th/9407087] [INSPIRE].
- [2] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Monopoles, duality and chiral symmetry breaking in N = 2 supersymmetric QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 431 (1994) 484 [hep-th/9408099] [INSPIRE].
- [3] A. Klemm, W. Lerche, S. Yankielowicz and S. Theisen, Simple singularities and N = 2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Lett. B 344 (1995) 169 [hep-th/9411048]
   [INSPIRE].

- [4] P.C. Argyres and A.E. Faraggi, The vacuum structure and spectrum of N = 2 supersymmetric SU(N) gauge theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (1995) 3931 [hep-th/9411057]
   [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Hanany and Y. Oz, On the quantum moduli space of vacua of N = 2 supersymmetric  $SU(N_c)$  gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 452 (1995) 283 [hep-th/9505075] [INSPIRE].
- [6] P.C. Argyres, M.R. Plesser and A.D. Shapere, The Coulomb phase of N = 2 supersymmetric QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 1699 [hep-th/9505100] [INSPIRE].
- [7] D. Gaiotto, N = 2 dualities, JHEP 08 (2012) 034 [arXiv:0904.2715] [INSPIRE].
- [8] N.A. Nekrasov, Seiberg-Witten prepotential from instanton counting, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2004) 831 [hep-th/0206161] [INSPIRE].
- [9] N. Nekrasov and A. Okounkov, Seiberg-Witten theory and random partitions, hep-th/0306238 [INSPIRE].
- [10] H. Nakajima, Lectures on Hilbert schemes of points on surfaces, University Lecture Series 18, American Mathematical Society, Providence U.S.A. (1999).
- [11] N. Nekrasov and A.S. Schwarz, Instantons on noncommutative R<sup>4</sup> and (2,0) superconformal six-dimensional theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 198 (1998) 689 [hep-th/9802068] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Mariño and N. Wyllard, A note on instanton counting for N = 2 gauge theories with classical gauge groups, JHEP 05 (2004) 021 [hep-th/0404125] [INSPIRE].
- [13] N. Nekrasov and S. Shadchin, ABCD of instantons, Commun. Math. Phys. 252 (2004) 359 [hep-th/0404225] [INSPIRE].
- [14] H.-C. Kim, S.-S. Kim and K. Lee, 5-dim superconformal index with enhanced  $E_n$  global symmetry, JHEP 10 (2012) 142 [arXiv:1206.6781] [INSPIRE].
- [15] L.F. Alday, D. Gaiotto and Y. Tachikawa, Liouville correlation functions from four-dimensional gauge theories, Lett. Math. Phys. 91 (2010) 167 [arXiv:0906.3219]
   [INSPIRE].
- [16] D. Bashkirov, A comment on the enhancement of global symmetries in superconformal SU(2) gauge theories in 5D, arXiv:1211.4886 [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Iqbal, All genus topological string amplitudes and five-brane webs as Feynman diagrams, hep-th/0207114 [INSPIRE].
- [18] M. Aganagic, A. Klemm, M. Mariño and C. Vafa, The topological vertex, Commun. Math. Phys. 254 (2005) 425 [hep-th/0305132] [INSPIRE].
- [19] H. Awata and H. Kanno, Instanton counting, Macdonald functions and the moduli space of D-branes, JHEP 05 (2005) 039 [hep-th/0502061] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A. Iqbal, C. Kozcaz and C. Vafa, The refined topological vertex, JHEP 10 (2009) 069 [hep-th/0701156] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Klemm, W. Lerche, P. Mayr, C. Vafa and N.P. Warner, Selfdual strings and N = 2 supersymmetric field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 477 (1996) 746 [hep-th/9604034] [INSPIRE].
- [22] D.R. Morrison and N. Seiberg, Extremal transitions and five-dimensional supersymmetric field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 483 (1997) 229 [hep-th/9609070] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M.R. Douglas, S.H. Katz and C. Vafa, Small instantons, Del Pezzo surfaces and type-I-prime theory, Nucl. Phys. B 497 (1997) 155 [hep-th/9609071] [INSPIRE].

- [24] S.H. Katz, A. Klemm and C. Vafa, Geometric engineering of quantum field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 497 (1997) 173 [hep-th/9609239] [INSPIRE].
- [25] K.A. Intriligator, D.R. Morrison and N. Seiberg, Five-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories and degenerations of Calabi-Yau spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 497 (1997) 56
   [hep-th/9702198] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Katz, P. Mayr and C. Vafa, Mirror symmetry and exact solution of 4D N = 2 gauge theories: 1, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 1 (1998) 53 [hep-th/9706110] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Iqbal and A.-K. Kashani-Poor, Instanton counting and Chern-Simons theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2004) 457 [hep-th/0212279] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Iqbal and A.-K. Kashani-Poor, SU(N) geometries and topological string amplitudes, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 10 (2006) 1 [hep-th/0306032] [INSPIRE].
- [29] T. Eguchi and H. Kanno, Topological strings and Nekrasov's formulas, JHEP 12 (2003) 006 [hep-th/0310235] [INSPIRE].
- [30] T.J. Hollowood, A. Iqbal and C. Vafa, Matrix models, geometric engineering and elliptic genera, JHEP 03 (2008) 069 [hep-th/0310272] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M. Taki, *Refined topological vertex and instanton counting*, *JHEP* **03** (2008) 048 [arXiv:0710.1776] [INSPIRE].
- [32] F. Benini, S. Benvenuti and Y. Tachikawa, Webs of five-branes and N = 2 superconformal field theories, JHEP 09 (2009) 052 [arXiv:0906.0359] [INSPIRE].
- [33] N. Seiberg, Five-dimensional SUSY field theories, nontrivial fixed points and string dynamics, Phys. Lett. B 388 (1996) 753 [hep-th/9608111] [INSPIRE].
- [34] D.-E. Diaconescu, B. Florea and N. Saulina, A vertex formalism for local ruled surfaces, Commun. Math. Phys. 265 (2006) 201 [hep-th/0505192] [INSPIRE].
- [35] D.-E. Diaconescu and B. Florea, The ruled vertex and nontoric del Pezzo surfaces, JHEP 12 (2006) 028 [hep-th/0507240] [INSPIRE].
- [36] L. Bao, V. Mitev, E. Pomoni, M. Taki and F. Yagi, Non-Lagrangian theories from brane junctions, JHEP 01 (2014) 175 [arXiv:1310.3841] [INSPIRE].
- [37] M. Bershadsky et al., Geometric singularities and enhanced gauge symmetries, Nucl. Phys. B 481 (1996) 215 [hep-th/9605200] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S.H. Katz and C. Vafa, Matter from geometry, Nucl. Phys. B 497 (1997) 146 [hep-th/9606086] [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Kachru, A. Klemm, W. Lerche, P. Mayr and C. Vafa, Nonperturbative results on the point particle limit of N = 2 heterotic string compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 459 (1996) 537 [hep-th/9508155] [INSPIRE].
- [40] O. Aharony, A. Hanany and B. Kol, Webs of (p,q) five-branes, five-dimensional field theories and grid diagrams, JHEP 01 (1998) 002 [hep-th/9710116] [INSPIRE].
- [41] N.C. Leung and C. Vafa, Branes and toric geometry, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 91 [hep-th/9711013] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A. Hanany and E. Witten, Type IIB superstrings, BPS monopoles and three-dimensional gauge dynamics, Nucl. Phys. B 492 (1997) 152 [hep-th/9611230] [INSPIRE].

- [43] I. Antoniadis, E. Gava, K.S. Narain and T.R. Taylor, Topological amplitudes in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 413 (1994) 162 [hep-th/9307158] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M. Bershadsky, S. Cecotti, H. Ooguri and C. Vafa, Kodaira-Spencer theory of gravity and exact results for quantum string amplitudes, Commun. Math. Phys. 165 (1994) 311
   [hep-th/9309140] [INSPIRE].
- [45] R. Gopakumar and C. Vafa, M theory and topological strings. 1, hep-th/9809187 [INSPIRE].
- [46] R. Gopakumar and C. Vafa, *M theory and topological strings*. 2, hep-th/9812127 [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Aganagic, M. Mariño and C. Vafa, All loop topological string amplitudes from Chern-Simons theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 247 (2004) 467 [hep-th/0206164] [INSPIRE].
- [48] L. Hollands, C.A. Keller and J. Song, From SO/Sp instantons to W-algebra blocks, JHEP 03 (2011) 053 [arXiv:1012.4468] [INSPIRE].
- [49] I. Antoniadis, S. Hohenegger, K.S. Narain and T.R. Taylor, Deformed topological partition function and Nekrasov backgrounds, Nucl. Phys. B 838 (2010) 253 [arXiv:1003.2832] [INSPIRE].
- [50] Y. Nakayama and H. Ooguri, Comments on worldsheet description of the Omega background, Nucl. Phys. B 856 (2012) 342 [arXiv:1106.5503] [INSPIRE].
- [51] I. Antoniadis, I. Florakis, S. Hohenegger, K.S. Narain and A. Zein Assi, Worldsheet realization of the refined topological string, Nucl. Phys. B 875 (2013) 101 [arXiv:1302.6993]
   [INSPIRE].
- [52] I. Antoniadis, I. Florakis, S. Hohenegger, K.S. Narain and A. Zein Assi, Non-perturbative Nekrasov partition function from string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 880 (2014) 87
   [arXiv:1309.6688] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. Aganagic and S. Shakirov, Refined Chern-Simons theory and topological string, arXiv:1210.2733 [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Iqbal and C. Kozcaz, Refined topological strings and toric Calabi-Yau threefolds, arXiv:1210.3016 [INSPIRE].
- [55] O. Bergman, D. Rodríguez-Gómez and G. Zafrir, Discrete θ and the 5d superconformal index, JHEP 01 (2014) 079 [arXiv:1310.2150] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Iqbal and C. Vafa, *BPS degeneracies and superconformal index in diverse dimensions*, arXiv:1210.3605 [INSPIRE].
- [57] Y. Tachikawa, Five-dimensional Chern-Simons terms and Nekrasov's instanton counting, JHEP 02 (2004) 050 [hep-th/0401184] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Iqbal, C. Kozcaz and K. Shabbir, Refined topological vertex, cylindric partitions and the U(1) adjoint theory, Nucl. Phys. B 838 (2010) 422 [arXiv:0803.2260] [INSPIRE].
- [59] D. Karp, C.-C.M. Liu and M. Mariño, *The local Gromov-Witten invariants of configurations* of rational curves, math.AG/0506488 [INSPIRE].
- [60] P. Sulkowski, Crystal model for the closed topological vertex geometry, JHEP 12 (2006) 030
   [hep-th/0606055] [INSPIRE].
- [61] C. Kozcaz, S. Pasquetti and N. Wyllard, A & B model approaches to surface operators and Toda theories, JHEP 08 (2010) 042 [arXiv:1004.2025] [INSPIRE].

- [62] S.H. Katz, A. Klemm and C. Vafa, M theory, topological strings and spinning black holes, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999) 1445 [hep-th/9910181] [INSPIRE].
- [63] C. Vafa, Supersymmetric partition functions and a string theory in 4 dimensions, arXiv:1209.2425 [INSPIRE].
- [64] H. Awata and H. Kanno, Refined BPS state counting from Nekrasov's formula and Macdonald functions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 24 (2009) 2253 [arXiv:0805.0191] [INSPIRE].
- [65] H. Awata and H. Kanno, Changing the preferred direction of the refined topological vertex, J. Geom. Phys. 64 (2013) 91 [arXiv:0903.5383] [INSPIRE].
- [66] T. Dimofte, S. Gukov and L. Hollands, Vortex counting and Lagrangian 3-manifolds, Lett. Math. Phys. 98 (2011) 225 [arXiv:1006.0977] [INSPIRE].
- [67] M. Taki, Surface operator, bubbling Calabi-Yau and AGT relation, JHEP 07 (2011) 047 [arXiv:1007.2524] [INSPIRE].
- [68] M. Aganagic and S. Shakirov, *Knot homology from refined Chern-Simons theory*, arXiv:1105.5117 [INSPIRE].
- [69] G. Bonelli, A. Tanzini and J. Zhao, Vertices, vortices and interacting surface operators, JHEP 06 (2012) 178 [arXiv:1102.0184] [INSPIRE].
- [70] G. Bonelli, A. Tanzini and J. Zhao, The Liouville side of the vortex, JHEP 09 (2011) 096 [arXiv:1107.2787] [INSPIRE].
- [71] D. Gaiotto and S.S. Razamat, Exceptional indices, JHEP 05 (2012) 145 [arXiv:1203.5517]
   [INSPIRE].
- [72] D. Gaiotto, L. Rastelli and S.S. Razamat, *Bootstrapping the superconformal index with surface defects*, arXiv:1207.3577 [INSPIRE].
- [73] O. Bergman and A. Fayyazuddin, String junction transitions in the moduli space of N = 2 SYM, Nucl. Phys. B 535 (1998) 139 [hep-th/9806011] [INSPIRE].
- [74] O. Chacaltana and J. Distler, *Tinkertoys for Gaiotto duality*, *JHEP* 11 (2010) 099 [arXiv:1008.5203] [INSPIRE].
- [75] N. Mekareeya and D. Rodriguez-Gomez, 5d gauge theories on orbifolds and 4d 't Hooft line indices, JHEP 11 (2013) 157 [arXiv:1309.1213] [INSPIRE].
- [76] N. Wyllard,  $A_{N-1}$  conformal Toda field theory correlation functions from conformal N = 2SU(N) quiver gauge theories, JHEP 11 (2009) 002 [arXiv:0907.2189] [INSPIRE].
- [77] H. Awata and Y. Yamada, Five-dimensional AGT conjecture and the deformed Virasoro algebra, JHEP 01 (2010) 125 [arXiv:0910.4431] [INSPIRE].
- [78] H. Awata and Y. Yamada, Five-dimensional AGT relation and the deformed β-ensemble, Prog. Theor. Phys. 124 (2010) 227 [arXiv:1004.5122] [INSPIRE].
- [79] R. Schiappa and N. Wyllard, An  $A_r$  threesome: matrix models, 2d CFTs and 4d N = 2 gauge theories, J. Math. Phys. 51 (2010) 082304 [arXiv:0911.5337] [INSPIRE].
- [80] A. Mironov, A. Morozov, S. Shakirov and A. Smirnov, Proving AGT conjecture as HS duality: extension to five dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 855 (2012) 128 [arXiv:1105.0948] [INSPIRE].
- [81] F. Nieri, S. Pasquetti and F. Passerini, 3d & 5d gauge theory partition functions as q-deformed CFT correlators, arXiv:1303.2626 [INSPIRE].

- [82] M.-C. Tan, M-theoretic derivations of 4d-2d dualities: from a geometric Langlands duality for surfaces, to the AGT correspondence, to integrable systems, JHEP 07 (2013) 171 [arXiv:1301.1977] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M.-C. Tan, An M-theoretic derivation of a 5d and 6d AGT correspondence and relativistic and elliptized integrable systems, JHEP 12 (2013) 031 [arXiv:1309.4775] [INSPIRE].
- [84] U. Bruzzo, F. Fucito, J.F. Morales and A. Tanzini, Multiinstanton calculus and equivariant cohomology, JHEP 05 (2003) 054 [hep-th/0211108] [INSPIRE].
- [85] A. Iqbal and A.-K. Kashani-Poor, The vertex on a strip, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 10 (2006) 317 [hep-th/0410174] [INSPIRE].
- [86] L. Bao, E. Pomoni, M. Taki and F. Yagi, M5-branes, toric diagrams and gauge theory duality, JHEP 04 (2012) 105 [arXiv:1112.5228] [INSPIRE].